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2003 2006

Revenue $ 145 $ 55 $ 2,933 $ 5,505
Net income (loss) (2,831) (2,865) (728) 1,344
GAAP basic net income (loss) per share (0.92) (0.72) (0.13) 0.10
GAAP diluted net income (loss) per share (0.92) (0.72) (0.13) 0.09
Basic weighted average shares

outstanding 3,076,943 3,965,626 5,474,499 13,033,263
Diluted weighted average shares

outstanding 3,076,943 3,965,626 5,474,499 15,257,734
Working capital 762 2,525 3,688 21,036
Cash, cash equivalents and

short-term investments 766 3,201 4,159 22,688
Total assets 969 4,137 10,782 32,083
Shareholders’ equity 785 3,056 6,232 27,392
GAAP net income (loss) $ (2,831) $ (2,865) $ (728) $ 1,344
Stock compensation expense 2,187 1,325 1,264 1,056
Non-GAAP net income (loss) (644) (1,540) 536 2,400
GAAP diluted net income (loss)

per share (0.92) (0.72) (0.13) 0.09
Diluted stock compensation

expense per share 0.71 0.33 0.23 0.07
Non-GAAP diluted net income .

(loss) per share (0.21) (0.39) 0.10 0.16

Financial Highlights




Letter to Stockholders

Dear Stockholders:

At Hoku Scientific, we pride ourselves on our ability to execute on time, on budget and

as expected. With that always in mind, fiscal year 2006 was a year of execution for our
fuel cell business as we successfully achieved our financial, business development and
technology development milestones for the year. Looking ahead to fiscal year 2007, we
expect to continue with our focus on execution by moving forward with our plans for our
Hoku Fuel Cells™ business unit and with the addition of the Hoku Solar™ and Hoku

Materials™ businesses to our family of clean energy offerings.

Finance

In August 2005 we became the first Hawaii-based
company to complete an initial public offering in
more than six years, and we had the honor of

ringing the opening bell for the NASDAQ Global’

Market in October. Our IPO was a significant
strategic initiative for our company, providing
funding for the completion of our new fuel cell
production facility and adding to our credibility
with our global OEM customers such as Nissan
and Sanyo.

Our revenue for fiscal year 2006 was $5.5 million,
compared to $2.9 million for fiscal year 2005.
This increase in revenue is mostly attributable to
our strategic agreements with Nissan Motor
Company, a key partner in the development and
potential commercialization of our Hoku MEA
products for fuel cell cars and trucks.

In fiscal year 2006, we achieved net income of
$1.3 million, compared to a net loss of $728,000
for fiscal year 2005. This was based entirely on
our fuel cell operations and reflects our culture of
managed growth and strict spending controls.

Business Development

We take a strategic approach to business
development, building relationships with strong
partners in the most attractive markets. In 2008,
we signed a new contract with Nissan Motor Co.,
Ltd., to further develop our Hoku Membrane and
Hoku MEA products for Nissan's fuel cell cars
and trucks. We also signed a new contract with
Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd., to engage in further
testing of our products for integration into
Sanyo's residential fuel cell systems. In addition,
we successfully completed the development of a
prototype fuel cell power plant for the U.S. Navy
in December, and in June 2006, we began the
12-month demonstration of the first 2 of 10 power
plants at Pearl Harbor.

We continue to establish new relationships with
fuel cell system OEMs, and recently announced
that we have expanded our product testing
relationships with customers beyond North
America and Japan into Korea and Germany. We
are currently performing test, evaluation and/or
development work with a total of 12 OEMs,
including Nissan, Sanyo and the U.S. Navy.
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Letter to Stockholders

Technology
Development

The primary mission of our technology
development team in fiscal 2006 was to achieve
certain performance and durability milestones for
our Hoku Membrane and Hoku MEA products
towards ultimately meeting the requirements for
automotive and stationary fuel cell applications.
In fiscal year 2006 we achieved key milestones in
our contracts with Nissan, which demonstrate the
progress we are making towards meeting
automotive fuel cell requirements. In addition, we
successfully integrated our Hoku MEA into
stationary fuel cell systems manufactured by
IdaTech, and in June we began our U.S. Navy
field test. In addition to these public successes,
the performance and durability of our products
are also being validated to meet the needs of
other OEMs.

Although the focus of our technology
development team is to bring products to market,
it is also very active in fundamental research and
development of our core membrane and MEA
materials and processes. As of March 31, 2006,
we had two issued patents and had filed with the
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office nine other
patent applications. We have also filed
applications under the Patent Cooperation
Treaty, or PCT, for protection of our invention
dates, designating a number of other countries.
As of March 31, 2006, we have pending six PCT
applications and filed 7 international patent
applications.

Production

In fiscal year 2006 we completed the construction
of our new facility in Kapolei, Hawaii, relocated all
of our operations to this facility, and installed our
new fuel cell membrane and MEA production line.

Although we are not yet manufacturing high
volumes, we believe this production line enables
us to cost-effectively manufacture our Hoku
Membranes at higher volumes.

Entry Into
Solar Market

In May 2006, we announced our plans to enter
the solar module and polysilicon businesses
through the formation of Hoku Solar and Hoku
Materials, respectively. Our plans include
manufacturing 30 megawatts of photovoltaic, or
PV, modules per year at Hoku Solar beginning in
the second half of calendar year 2007, and
producing 1,500 metric tons of polysiticon per
year at Hoku Materials beginning in the second
half of calendar year 2008. Polysilicon is the key
raw material used to manufacture silicon
photovoltaic cells. We believe that owning a
captive supply of polysilicon will provide us with a
fundamental advantage as we seek to enter the
solar market and expand this business over time.
Our plans include selling our excess polysilicon
capacity to other solar companies and to
integrated circuit manufacturers and we are
seeking to fund the estimated $250 million costs
to build and equip the Hoku Solar and Hoku
Materials in part through customer pre-payments
for polysilicon.

2006 was a very busy and successful year for
Hoku Scientific. We look ahead to 2007 to
complete the MEA testing and integration
process with some of our Hoku Fuel Cells
customers, and to executing on our business
plans for Hoku Solar and Hoku Materials.

Dustin Shindo
Chairman, President
and Chief Executive Officer
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Hoku Scientific Overview

“_”Nloku Scientific is a materials science company
\wfocused on clean energy technologies. We have

" historically focused our efforts on the design
and development of fuel cell technologies,
| including our Hoku MEAs and Hoku
Membranes. In May 2006, we announced our
plans to form a photovoltaic, or PV, module
 { business, and our plans to manufacture
polysilicon, a primary material used in the
. manufacture of PV modules, to complement
our fuel cell business. We currently intend to
1 reorganize our business into three business
units: Hoku Fuel Cells, Hoku Solar and Hoku Materials.

Our goal is to be a leading provider of materials and components for the
generation of electricity from clean energy technologies, including membranes
and MEAs for PEM fuel cells, PV modules for solar power systems, and
polysilicon, a primary raw material used to manufacture PV modules.
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Fuel Cells

We design, develop and manufacture membrane electrode assemblies, or MEAs, and membranes for proton
exchange membrane, or PEM, fuel cells. We develop custom monomers and polymers for our ‘ Hoku
Membranes—the core technologies of our Hoku MEAs. MEAs are an integral component of PEM- fuel cells.
Monomers are the molecular components of polymer-based membranes. Based on our internal tests, we believe
our products address the cost, durability, performance and environmental challenges facing users of
commercially available MEAs and membranes.

Our monomer materials and polymer synthesis process are designed to allow us to control the cost, durability
and performance characteristics of our Hoku Membranes. We believe our products will help enable PEM fuel
cell systems to compete with power sources that rely on existing technologies, such as combustion engines and
conventional batteries. Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes are designed for the residential primary power and
commercial back-up power markets, which we refer to collectively as the stationary market, and for the
automotive market. .
We currently have strategic relationships with Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd., or Sanyo, and Nissan Motor Co., Ltd., or
Nissan. In addition, we are the prime contractor in a U.S. Navy fuel cell demonstration project. To date, our
customers have not commercially deployed products incorporating Hoku MEAs or Hoku Membranes, and we
have not sold any products commercially. Our goal is to be a leading provider of MEA products for PEM fuel cell
applications.

Fuel Cell Overview

Fuel cells are electrochemical devices that convert chemical energy in hydrogen and oxygen into electricity and
heat without combustion. Fuel cell systems have a wide range of potential applications in the stationary,
automotive and portable markets and have several advantages over power sources that rely on existing
technologies. Fuel cell systems can be more fuel-efficient, rely on a broader range of fuels and generate fewer
harmful emissions than combustion engines and small scale back-up power generators. In addition, because of
their limited emissions and their ability to generate both electricity and heat, fuel cells can provide a single
source of heat and power for the residential market. Fuel cells can also produce more power than conventional
batteries of equivalent volume and weight. Fuel cells generally have a longer shelf life and can be disposed of
with less harm to the environment than conventional batteries.

Fuel cell technologies are not widely used today primarily due to their cost relative to existing technologies. In

addition, the commercialization of fuel cell technology for the automotive market will require the development of
a new hydrogen production, delivery and refueling infrastructure.

5 Hoku Fuel Cells




Hoku Fuel Cells

Fuel cell types include molten carbonate, solid oxide, phosphoric acid, alkaline and PEM. PEM fuel cells include
direct methanol fuel cells, which use unprocessed methanol as the source of hydrogen. The various types of fuel
cells are differentiated by the manner in which they use hydrogen to produce electricity.

Due to their performance characteristics, PEM fuel cells can be used in a wide range of applications. According
to a 2003 fuel cell supply chain research report and a 2003 stationary fuel cell markets research report by Allied
Business Intelligence, Inc., or ABIl, due to their low internal operating temperatures and high power output
relative to their unit size, PEM fuel cell systems are well-suited for transportation applications and for stationary
applications.

Fuel Cell Products & Technology

We believe the development of a high-performing and cost-effective MEA and membrane requires the successful
coordination and execution of a wide variety of technology disciplines, including materials science, organic
chemistry, polymer chemistry, electrochemistry and process development. Our research and development team
has expertise in each of these disciplines, which we use in the development of our products and technology. Our
products have all been developed internally by our research and development team leveraging both pre-existing
publicly available technology and our own proprietary developments.

Hoku MEAs

Our Hoku MEA products can be
manufactured in three, five or

side of the five-layer Hoku MEA. Hoku
MEAs have been initially designed for
applications in the stationary and

seven layers. In  these
products, the catalyst is applied
directly to our Hoku Membrane.
In the three-layer Hoku MEA,
the layers consist of our

automotive markets. The key technologies
 underlying our Hoku MEAs are:

Catalyst Application

and GDL Matching

We have developed processes for applying
catalysts and customizing GDLs that are
! designed to improve the MEA integration

"

- 'y/ MEA Assembly

"7 7 We have developed a custom process for
assembling our Hoku MEAs that is designed to
improve performance, decrease our production
times and reduce our costs.

custom membrane between
two layers of catalyst. In some
cases where it is necessary
to make a five-layer Hoku MEA,
the three-layer Hoku MEA is
placed between two gas
diffusion layers, or GDLs, which
distribute gas evenly across the

process and resulting performance.

catalyst layer. We can also
manufacture a seven-layer Hoku MEA, where an
integrated seal or gasket is included on each

6 Hoku Fuel Cells




Hoku Fuel Cells

Hoku Membranes

The key component of our Hoku MEA is our Hoku
Membrane, which is a proton exchange
membrane made  from one of our
hydrocarbon-based polymers. Our primary focus
is developing completely non-fluorinated
polymers for our Hoku Membranes; however, to
meet certain customer requirements, we have
also developed custom versions of Hoku
Membrane that incorporate small amounts of
fluorine into our hydrocarbon-based polymers.
Hoku Membranes have been designed for PEM
fuel cell applications in the stationary and
automotive markets. The key technologies
underlying our Hoku Membranes are:

Monomer Design

Monomers are the molecular components of
polymer-based membranes. A monomer is
created through the synthesis of chemical
compounds. We select specific materials based

on their chemical properties to design our
monomers for specific PEM fuel cell applications.
To achieve the desired performance and
durability characteristics, several chemical
formulations and reaction catalysts are used. A
catalyst is a substance that accelerates the rate
of a chemical reaction, but is not itself consumed
by the reaction.- The highly oxidative
environment inside the fuel cell may result in the
physical degradation of the membrane material.
We, therefore, have designed the chemical
structure of our monomer molecules to resist
deterioration in corrosive solutions. Our
monomers are also designed to form a strong
bond with other monomers in the polymer chain
which also provides the polymer with added
resistance to oxidation. We believe our monomer
designs and our approach to monomer synthesis
increases the durability and performance
potential of Hoku Membranes in specific PEM
fuel cell applications.

Hoku Fuel Cells




Hoku Fuel Cells

Polymer Synthesis

Individual monomers are chemically linked polymers to form our Hoku Membranes, which
together to form a polymer chain through a enhances the performance and durability of
process called polymer synthesis. The polymers Hoku Membranes in some PEM fuel cell

are then processed into -~ applications. One of the primary

membranes for specific PEM advantages of fluorinated
fuel cell "applications. The
performance and  durability
characteristics of the polymer ; )
are determined in part by the ; 4 i - : tq{, . have developed aiternative
properties of each monomer and 1 materials that also improve
the interaction of the various "l the membrane's resistance
to oxidation. In addition,
we have developed a
method to bond our

membrane material to the

R polymer membranes is to

| improve the membrane’s
1

' resistance to oxidation. We

monomers when chemically !
linked through polymer }
synthesis. ‘

electrodes in our Hoku

Membrane Fabrication :
MEA, which is also designed to enhance its

Our membrane manufacturing processes allow

us to incorporate additive materials with our performance.

Fuel Cell Strategy

Focus on Near-Term Revenue Opportunities
that Position Us for Long-Term Growth

We are focusing our product development efforts on MEAs for the stationary and automotive markets. We
believe this tactic will help us generate revenue and achieve operating profitability prior to widespread availability
of products based on PEM fuel cells due to the significant number of dollars being spent on fuel cell research and
development efforts. In June 2006, we signed our first test agreement with a developer of small fuel cells for
consumer electronics and portable military applications as we believe this will be a strong market in the future.

Develop and Expand Strategic Relationships

with Industry Leaders and Suppliers

We plan to pursue expanded relationships with our current strategic partners and to initiate strategic
relationships with additional industry leaders and their suppliers in each of our target markets. To the extent we

are successful, we expect that establishing further relationships would enhance our competitive position, add to
our credibility in these markets and lead to long-term revenue growth.

Leverage Our Technology to Supply MEA Solutions

We intend to continue to develop MEAs using our monomer design, polymer synthesis, membrane fabrication,
catalyst application and GDL matching and MEA assembly processes. We believe this will allow us to offer MEAs
that are competitively priced for a wide range of PEM fuel cell applications.

Utilize scalable Manufacturing Processes

Our manufacturing processes, adapted from established industrial methods, are designed to be extendable to
large volumes and are capable of a high degree of automation. We believe our processes should increase our
throughput and yields, reduce our costs and enable us to maintain high quality standards.
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Solar & Hoku Materials

We intend to operate our PV module business as a separate business under the name Hoku Solar. Hoku Solar
expects to enter the market through the manufacture and sale of polysilicon-based photovoltaic modules, with
initial planned manufacturing capacity of 30 megawatts per year beginning in the second half of calendar year
2007. OQur plan is to integrate Hoku Solar by also manufacturing PV cells, which are then assembled into PV

modules.

We believe that demand for polysilicon, which is also the raw material for semiconductors, currently exceeds the
available supply, which we further believe is a factor constricting the growth of the solar market. We intend to
build a polysilicon processing plant that will be designed to initially produce up to 1,500 metric tons of polysilicon
per year, beginning in the second half of calendar year 2008. We intend to operate the polysilicon plant as a
separate business under the name Hoku Materials. Initially, we believe approximately 300 metric tons of
polysilicon produced by Hoku Materials will be consumed by Hoku Solar, while the remaining 1,200 metric tons

will be available for sale to the solar and integrated circuit markets.
We estimate the cost to construct and equip our Hoku Solar and Hoku Materials facilities will be approximately

$250 million. We intend to finance the construction of these facilities through a combination of debt financing and

pre-payments from customers for polysilicon.

Solar Industry Overview

Solar Power Systems

Solar power systems convert sunlight directly into applications include garden lights, other outdoor
electricity. These systems are used for “on-grid” lighting and handheld devices such as
and “off-grid” residential, commercial and calculators.

industrial applications , and for a variety of
consumer applications. “On-grid” markets refer A solar power system consists of one or more PV

to applications where solar power is used to modules electrically connected in series, and

supplement a customer’s electricity purchased
from the utility network, whereas “off-grid”
markets include those applications where access
to utility networks is not economical or physically
feasible, including road signs, highway call boxes
and communications support along remote
pipelines and telecommunications equipment, as
well as rural residential applications. Consumer

typically includes a power inverter to convert the
direct current, or DC, electricity produced by the
modules into alternative current, or AC, electricity
that is required for most applications. For
“on-grid” applications, an interconnect to the
utility grid will be required, and in “off-grid”
applications, a battery may be required to
provide power at night, and at other times

Q Hoku Solar & Hoku Materials




Hoku Solar & Hoku Materials

when the sun is not providing enough solar
radiation for the solar power system to generate
sufficient electricity to power the electrical load.
The key components of PV modules are PV cells,
which are in turn made from silicon wafers.
Silicon wafers are made from silicon ingots,
which are in turn made from raw polysilicon.
Following is a brief overview of these products
and technologies.

Polysilicon

Polysilicon is an essential raw material in the
production of PV cells. Polysilicon is created by
refining quartz or sand to produce
electronic-grade or solar-grade polysilicon. The
key difference between electronic-grade and
solar grade polysilicon is the purity requirement.
The purity requirement for solar-grade polysilicon
is typically 99.9999%-99.999999% pure, while
electronic grade polysilicon tends to be at least
99.9999999% pure. The process of producing
polysilicon begins with quartz or sand, which is
refined into metallurgical grade silicon, or MGS.
MGS is then purified by various chemical
processes. These can be divided into
silane-based and trichlorosilane (SiHCi3)-based
processes depending on the gas that is used in
the process.

There are two technologies for producing
polysilicon from silicon gases: the Siemens
reactor method and the fluidized bed reactor, or
FBR, method. In the Siemens reactor process,
the silane or trichlorosilane gas is introduced into
a thermal decomposition furnace (reactor) with
high temperature polysilicon rods inside a cooled
beil jar. The silicon contained in the gas will
deposit on the heated rods, which gradually grow

until the desired diameter has been reached. In
the FBR process, silane or trichlorosilane gas is
introduced into a tube-like reactor in which small
polysilicon granules are suspended in the gas
stream, referred to as the fluidized bed. The
silicon contained in the gas deposits on the
surface of the hot granules in the bed until the
desired diameter has been reached. The end
product is in the form of rods or chunks of
polysilicon. The technology in the Siemens
reactor was developed in the late 1950’s, is
widely implemented, accounting for a majority of
the polysilicon production today, and currently
produces a higher purity of materiaf.

Silicon Ingots
and Wafers

Before polysilicon rods or chunks can be used in
PV cells, they must first be converted into ingots,
which are cut into wafers. There are two
processes for making ingots from polysilicon: the
monocrystalline and the multicrystalline process.
To make monocrystalline ingots, a single crystal
of polysilicon is grown, whereas, multicrystalline
ingots are made by melting chunks of polysilicon
together in a crucible to form a large block of
multicrystalline polysilicon, which is then cut into
smaller bricks. The monocrystalline ingot or the
multicrystalline brick is then cut into thin wafers,
typically using a cable saw. The end product is
either a monocrystalline or a multicrystalline
silicon wafer.

PV Cells

PV cells are made from silicon wafers. The wafer
undergoes a process to combine positive and
negative layers on the wafer, attach electrodes,
and coat with anti-reflective materials. The

10 Hoku Solar & Hoku Materials




" Hoku Solar & Hoku Materials

performance of a PV cell is measured
by its solar radiation conversion
efficiency. The solar radiation
conversion efficiency is a
measure of the net
percentage of energy from
solar radiation that the PV
cell converts into electricity.
PV cells made from
multicrystalline wafers may
have efficiencies in the range
of 13-18%, whereas PV cells
made from monocrystalliine

i PV Modules

A PV module is made by
electrically wiring together
PV cells in series to
increase the total voltage
output. The connected
cells are laminated in a
glass or plastic covering and
then framed. The wires
connecting the PV cells
terminate in a junction box
to allow multiple PV modules to

f h ; Photo.: Example of multi-crystaline silicon based PV be electrically connected in series to
wafers typically have higher module (similar to Hoku Solar’s planned product)

efficiencies in the range of
20%, but are more expensive to produce.

further increase the voltage and
power output.

Solar & Materials Planned Products

PV Products (Planned)

In May 2006, we announced our plans to begin
manufacturing and selling PV modules through a
new business unit — Hoku Solar. Our plan is to
manufacture modules from silicon PV cells with
expected solar radiation conversion efficiencies
greater than 13%. Based on our discussions with
PV cell manufacturing equipment suppliers, we
believe that we can obtain this level of efficiency
from our PV cells by using turnkey manufacturing
equipment.

We intend to integrate Hoku Solar by also
manufacturing PV cells and modules. We believe
that we can produce our PV modules, including
the PV cells, using turnkey manufacturing
equipment. We further believe that we can obtain
any necessary licenses from the turnkey
equipment suppliers that may be required to
manufacture, market and sell PV cells and PV
modules made with their equipment. Our initial
planned module capacity is 30 megawatts per

year. We anticipate our first module product
release in the second half of calendar year 2007.
Our plan is to sell our PV modules to distributors
and contractors who will complete the installation
of the PV power systems for the end user. We do
not currently plan to sell PV cells, however, we
may consider this opportunity in the future.

Polysilicon
Products (Planned)

In May 2006, we announced our plans to begin
manufacturing and selling polysilicon, a key
material in the production of PV cells, through a
new business unit — Hoku Materials. Our plan is
to manufacture polysilicon using trichlorosilane in
a Siemens reactor. Qur initial planned polysilicon
capacity is 1,500 metric tons. We intend to
allocate approximately 300 metric tons of our
output to Hoku Solar, with the remaining 1,200
metric tons being sold to the broader PV and
integrated circuit markets.

11 Hoku Solar & Hoku Materials




Hoku Solar & Hoku Materials

Solar Strategy

Produce Polysilicon

We are planning to manufacture polysilicon, a key material used in the manufacture of PV cells. We believe the growth
of the PV market, and the ability for new entrants to succeed in this market, is tied directly to the availability of polysilicon.
In addition, we believe that recent increases in the price of polysilicon have prevented PV cell and module manufacturers
from reducing their costs to become more competitive. Our approach is to manufacture our own supply of polysilicon,
thereby ensuring consistent supply at a predictable cost. We believe this tactic will provide us with a competitive
advantage that includes the ability to increase our PV module capacity based on customer demand, rather than the
availability of key materials, while also allowing us better contro! over the cost of our products.

License Technologies to Gain Market Entry

QOur approach is to manufacture, market and sell PV modules utilizing turnkey production equipment and technology
licenses to produce PV cells and PV modules based on pre-existing technologies. We believe that the PV module market
is growing at a rate that supports our entry as a new competitor using existing and available technologies, without the
need to invest heavily in research and development. We believe that this approach mitigates technical risk and will speed
our time to market.

Materials Strategy

Utilize Proven Processes

We are planning to initially manufacture polysilicon-using trichlorosilane in a Siemens reactor process. The Siemens
reactor process was invented in the late 1950’s by Siemens AG. -According to Marketbuzz 2006, this process remains
the dominant techinology for polysilicon made in 2005. 'Because it is the most commonly used process to manufacture

polysilicon, we believe it is also the most proven process with the least technical risk:

Sell Unused Capacity to Solar and IC Markets

We initially plan to allocate 300 metric tons of our anticipated capacity of 1,500 metric tons of polysilicon for the
manufacture of our PV modules. We plan:to market-the balance of our capacity to customers in the solar and integrated
circuit markets. Our-approach will be to pre-sell this capacity through long-term contracts that offer guaranteed supply at
predetermined prices.

12 Hoku Solar & Hoku Materials
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PART1

Item 1. Business
Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 274 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that are based on our management s beliefs and assumptions and on informa-
tion currently available to our management. Forward-looking statements include all statements other than statements of historical fact contained in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including, but not limited to, statements about:

* our expectations regarding the potential size and growth of the fuel cell, membrane and membrane electrode assembly, photovoltaic
module and polysilicon markets in general and our revenues in particular;

* our intention to form an integrated photovoltaic module business to complement our fuel cell business;

* our plans to install a production plant for photovoltaic modules and polysilicon;

« our ability to manufacture photovoltaic modules and polysilicon;

* our expectations regarding the performance and durability of our photovoltaic modules and the quality and quantity of polysilicon that
we plan to manufacture;

* our estimated costs to manufacture photovoltaic modules and polysilicon and our ability to offer pricing that is competitive with com-
peting products;

*  our expectations regarding the market acceptance of our products;

* our expectations with respect to our intellectual property position including our ability to license any necessary intellectual property
rights to enter the photovoltaic module and polysilicon businesses;

* our expectations with respect to our manufacturing capabilities;

* our ability to obtain funding for and to commence construction of a planned manufacturing facility for our photovoltaic module and
polysilicon businesses;

* our estimates regarding our capital requirements and our need for additional financing;

o future events;

* our future performance with respect to our contracts and/or relationships with the U.S. Navy, Nissan Motor Co., Ltd., and Sanyo Elec-
tric Company, Ltd.; and the other companies currently evaluating our products; '

* our future financial performance;

* our business strategy and plans; and

* objectives of management for future operations.

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “anticipate,” “‘believe,” “can,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “would” and similar expressions intended to identify
Jorward-looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results,
performance, time frames or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance, time frames or achievements expressed
or implied by the forward-looking statements. We discuss many of these risks, uncertainties and other factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
in greater detail in Part I, Item IA. "Risk Factors.” Given these risks, uncertainties and other factors, you should not place undue reliance on these
Jorward-looking statements. Also, these forward-looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the date hereof. We hereby
qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary statements. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these
Jorward-looking statements publicly, or to update the reasons actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking
statements, even if new information becomes available in the future.
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The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related notes contained elsewhere in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

Our fiscal year ends on March 31. We designate our fiscal year by the year in which that fiscal year ends; e.g., fiscal 2006 refers to our fiscal year
ended March 31, 2006.

Overview

Hoku Scientific is a materials science company focused on clean energy technologies. We have historically focused our efforts on the design and
development of fuel cell technologies, including our Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes. In May 2006, we announced our plans to form an inte-
grated photovoltaic, or PV, module business, and our plans to manufacture polysilicon, a primary material used in the manufacture of PV modules, to
complement our fuel cell business. We currently intend to reorganize our business into three business units: Hoku Fuel Cells, Hoku Solar and Hoku
Materials.

Hoku Fuel Cells. We intend to operate our fuel cell business under the name Hoku Fuel Cells, which will continue to develop and manufacture mem-
brane electrode assemblies, or Hoku MEA, and membranes for proton exchange membrane, or PEM fuel cells powered by hydrogen. Hoku MEAs
are designed for the residential primary power, commercial back-up, and automotive hydrogen fuel cell markets. To date, our customers have not
commercially deployed products incorporating Hoku MEAs or Hoku Membranes, and we have not sold any products commercially.



7 Holélé Solar VOur new PV business, Hoku Solar, initially plans to have annual production capacity of 30 megawatts, or MW, of PV modules. Our
plan is to include PV cell manufacturing with a PV module assembly line to form an integrated PV module business. We anticipate the availability of
PV modules beginning in the second half of calendar year 2007.

Hoku Materials. To ensure an adequate supply of polysilicon for Hoku Solar’s cells and modules, we intend to form Hoku Materials to manufacture
this key material for consumption by Hoku Solar and for sale to the larger solar and integrated circuit markets. We are initially planning for produc-
tion capacity of 1,500 metric tons of polysilicon per year. We anticipate the availability of polysilicon beginning in the second half of calendar year
2008.

We were incorporated in Hawaii in March 2001, were reincorporated in Delaware in December 2004 and have a limited operating history. Our head-
quarters are in Kapolei, Hawaii. We had net income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006; however, we previously incurred net losses in each
other fiscal year since our inception.

Our Business

Our goal is to be a leading provider of materials and components for the generation of electricity from clean energy technologies, including mem-
branes and MEAs for PEM fuel cells, PV modules for solar power systems, and polysilicon, a primary raw material used to manufacture PV modules.

Hoku Fuel Cells

We design, develop and manufacture membrane electrode assemblies, or MEAs, and membranes for proton exchange membrane, or PEM, fuel cells.
We develop custom monomers and polymers for our Hoku Membranes—the core technologies of our Hoku MEAs. MEAs are an integral component
of PEM fuel cells. Monomers are the molecular components of polymer-based membranes. Based on our internal tests, we believe our products
address the cost, durability, performance and environmental challenges facing users of commercially available MEAs and membranes. Our monomer
materials and polymer synthesis process are designed to allow us to control the cost, durability and performance characteristics of our Hoku Mem-
branes. We believe our products will help enable PEM fuel cell systems to compete with power sources that rely on existing technologies, such as
combustion engines and conventional batteries. Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes are designed for the residential primary power and commercial
back-up power markets, which we refer to collectively as the stationary market, and for the automotive market. We currently have strategic relation-
ships with Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd., or Sanyo, and Nissan Motor Co., Ltd., or Nissan. In addition, we are the prime contractor in a U.S. Navy fuel
cell demonstration project. To date, our customers have not commercially deployed products incorporating Hoku MEAs or Hoku Membranes, and
we have not sold any products commercially. Our goal is to be a leading provider of MEA products for PEM fuel cell applications.

Hoku Solar and Hoku Materials

We intend to operate our integrated PV module business as a separate business under the name Hoku Solar. Hoku Solar expects to enter the market
through the manufacture and sale of polysilicon-based photovoltaic modules, with initial planned manufacturing capacity of 30 megawatts per year
beginning in the second half of calendar year 2007. Our plan is to integrate Hoku Solar by also manufacturing PV cells, which are then assembled
into PV modules.

We believe that demand for polysilicon, which is also the raw material for semiconductors, currently exceeds the available supply, which we further
believe is a factor constricting the growth of the solar market. We intend to build a polysilicon processing plant that will be designed to initially pro-
duce up to 1,500 metric tons of polysilicon per year, beginning in the second half of calendar year 2008. We intend to operate the polysilicon plant as
a separate business under the name Hoku Materials. Initially, we believe approximately 300 metric tons of polysilicon produced by Hoku Materials
will be consumed by Hoku Solar, while the remaining 1,200 metric tons will be available for sale to the solar and integrated circuit markets.

We estimate the cost to construct and equip our Hoku Solar and Hoku Materials facilities will be approximately $250 million. We intend to finance
the construction of these facilities through a combination of debt financing and pre-payments from customers for polysilicon.

Our Fuel Cell Business
Fuel Cell Industry Overview

Industrialized and developing societies are demanding ever increasing amounts of power to fuel the rapidly growing number of automobiles, comput-
ers and other electronic devices. Societies are starting to look to and rely upon alternative power sources to address the limited fossil fuel resources
and to combat the increasing cost, unreliability and environmental problems associated with conventional energy and power sources. A number of
governments and private institutions worldwide have identified fuel cells as a promising alternative power source to address these problems and have
begun to make significant investments directed toward the development and use of fuel cells.

Fuel Cell Background

Fuel cells are electrochemical devices that convert chemical energy in hydrogen and oxygen into electricity and heat without combustion. Fuel cell
systems have a wide range of potential applications in the stationary, automotive and portable markets and have several advantages over power
sources that rely on existing technologies. Fuel cell systems can be more fuel-efficient, rely on a broader range of fuels and generate fewer harm-
ful emissions than combustion engines and small scale back-up power generators. In addition, because of their limited emissions and their ability to
generate both electricity and heat, fuel cells can provide a single source of heat and power for the residential market. Fuel cells can also produce more
power than conventional batteries of equivalent volume and weight. Fuel cells generally have a longer shelf life and can be disposed of with less
harm to the environment than conventional batteries.
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Fuel cell technologies are not widely used today primarily due to their cost relative to existing technologies. In addition, the commercialization of
fuel cell technology for the automotive market will require the development of a new hydrogen production, delivery and refueling infrastructure.

PEM Fuel Cells

Fuel cell types include molten carbonate, solid oxide, phosphoric acid, alkaline and PEM. PEM fuel cells include direct methanol fuel cells, which
use unprocessed methanol as the source of hydrogen. The various types of fuel cells are differentiated by the manner in which they use hydrogen to
produce electricity.

Due to their performance characteristics, PEM fuel cells can be used in a wide range of applications. According to a 2003 fuel cell supply chain re-
search report and a 2003 stationary fuel cell markets research report by Allied Business Intelligence, Inc., or ABI, due to their low internal operating
temperatures and high power output relative to their unit size, PEM fuel cell systems are well-suited for transportation applications and for stationary
applications.

Challenges Facing Current MEA and Membrane Technologies in PEM Fuel Cell Systems

PEM fuel cell system operating characteristics are principally determined by their MEAs, of which the membrane is a critical component. Most
commercially available membranes are made from polymers that only contain fluorinated monomers. We believe that MEAs and membranes must
be developed to overcome existing cost, durability, performance and environmental challenges in order for PEM fuel cell systems to compete against
power sources that rely on existing technologies.

» Cost. Developers of products based on PEM fuel cells require MEAs that allow their products to be manufactured and sold at
prices that are competitive with existing power technologies. Factors that influence cost include membrane and other material and
component costs and costs associated with MEA integration, which is the process of incorporating the membrane into an MEA by bond-
ing the electrodes to the membrane. If a membrane does not bond well with electrodes and does not form a good interface, conductivity
will be impaired, resulting in diminished performance. Additional MEAs may be added to the fuel cell system to offset this reduced
performance, which would increase the material and manufacturing costs.

* Durability. Durability is determined by the chemical stability and mechanical strength of the membrane. Chemical stability is the
capacity of a membrane to withstand decomposition during fuel cell system operation. Mechanical strength is the membrane’s abil-
ity to withstand tears, punctures and degradation during the manufacturing process and system operation. The chemical stability and
mechanical strength of a membrane are primarily determined by the chemical properties of the monomers and the polymer synthesis
process. Non-fluorinated membranes are generally less chemically stable, which means that they will not typically operate as long as
fluorinated membranes under the same operating conditions. However, fully-fluorinated membranes have a tendency to tear, which can
lead to premature and permanent failure of the fuel cell system. This tendency to tear currently limits the ability to manufacture thinner
fluorinated membranes.

» Performance. Performance in a fuel cell is determined by the membrane’s conductance and fuel permeability, both of which are
primarily determined by the chemical properties of the monomers and the polymer synthesis process. Conductance is measured by the
time it takes a proton to move through the membrane. A thin membrane generally allows for better conductance than a thicker mem-
brane. However, making a membrane thinner generally increases fuel permeability, which is the rate at which gases or liquid fuel, such
as methanol, pass directly through a membrane without being catalyzed. Higher fuel permeability reduces a membrane’s power output
and fuel efficiency. Because of the permeability of fully- fluorinated membranes to hydrogen and methanol, fully-fluorinated mem-
branes must typically be thickened to reduce permeability, but at the cost of reducing conductance.

* Environment. Fluorinated membranes, like those used in most commercially available MEAs, are manufactured exclusively using
monomers containing fluorine, which results in a high fluorine content for these membranes. Due to its toxicity and highly corrosive
nature, the use, handling and disposal of fluorine often requires specialized equipment.

Our PEM Fuel Cell Solution

Based on our internal tests, we believe our Hoku Membranes and Hoku MEAs address the following challenges that have prevented PEM fuel cell
systems from being competitive with power sources that rely on existing technologies:

* Cost. The monomers and other materials we use in our Hoku Membranes are substantially less expensive than those used in most
commercially available fluorinated membranes. Our manufacturing processes are designed to utilize commercially available and scal-
able production equipment, which we believe will enable us to cost-effectively manufacture our products in high volumes. In addition,
our Hoku Membranes are designed to be easily integrated into Hoku MEAs, which we believe will lower our manufacturing costs.

* Durability. The chemical properties of our monomers and the polymer synthesis processes we use are designed to make our Hoku
Membranes chemically stable and mechanically strong. We believe these attributes contribute to extending the lifetime and improving
the system performance of the PEM fuel cell system.

» Performance. Our Hoku Membranes have low permeability to hydrogen and methanol. We believe our membranes’ low permeabil-
ity, combined with their mechanical strength, will allow us to produce MEAs with improved conductance. We believe this will enable
us to produce membrane and MEA products that enable PEM fuel cell systems to be fuel-efficient, have high power output and have a
long runtime.

¢ Environment. Although we use solvents and other hazardous materials in our production process, because Hoku MEAs and certain
customized versions of Hoku Membranes only have a low amount of fluorine, and other versions of Hoku Membranes contain no fluo-
rine, the manufacture and disposal of these products is less regulated than fully-fluorinated membranes.
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Qur Fuel Cell Products and Technology

We believe the development of a high-performing and cost-effective MEA and membrane requires the successful coordination and execution of a
wide variety of technology disciplines, including materials science, organic chemistry, polymer chemistry, electrochemistry and process development.
Our research and development team has expertise in each of these disciplines, which we use in the development of our products and technology. Our
products have all been developed internally by our research and development team leveraging both preexisting publicly available technology and our
own proprietary developments.

Hoku MEAs

Our Hoku MEA products can be manufactured in three, five or seven layers. In these products, the catalyst is applied directly to our Hoku Mem-
brane. In the three-layer Hoku MEA, the layers consist of our custom membrane between two layers of catalyst. In some cases where it is necessary
to make a five-layer Hoku MEA, the three-layer Hoku MEA is placed between two gas diffusion layers, or GDLs, which distribute gas evenly across
the catalyst layer. We can also manufacture a seven-layer Hoku MEA, where an integrated seal or gasket is included on each side of the five-layer
Hoku MEA. Hoku MEAs have been initially designed for applications in the stationary and automotive markets. The key technologies underlying
our Hoku MEAsS are:

*  Catalyst Application and GDL Matching. We have developed processes for applying catalysts and customizing GDLs that are
designed to improve the MEA integration process and resulting performance.

¢ MEA Assembly. 'We have developed a custom process for assembling our Hoku MEAs that is designed to improve performance,
decrease our production times and reduce our costs.

Hoku Membranes

The key component of our Hoku MEA is our Hoku Membrane, which is a proton exchange membrane made from one of our hydrocarbon-based
polymers. Our primary focus is developing completely non-fluorinated polymers for our Hoku Membranes; however, to meet certain customer
requirements, we have also developed custom versions of Hoku Membrane that incorporate small amounts of fluorine into our hydrocarbon-based
polymers. Hoku Membranes have been designed for PEM fuel cell applications in the stationary and automotive markets. The key technologies
underlying our Hoku Membranes are:

*  Monomer Design. Monomers are the molecular components of polymer-based membranes. A monomer is created through the
synthesis of chemical compounds. We select specific materials based on their chemical properties to design our monomers for specific
PEM fuel cell applications. To achieve the desired performance and durability characteristics, several chemical formulations and reac-
tion catalysts are used. A catalyst is a substance that accelerates the rate of a chemical reaction, but is not itself consumed by the reac-
tion. The highly oxidative environment inside the fuel cell may result in the physical degradation of the membrane material. We,
therefore, have designed the chemical structure of our monomer molecules to resist deterioration in corrosive solutions. Our mono-
mers are also designed to form a strong bond with other monomers in the polymer chain which also provides the polymer with added
resistance to oxidation. We believe our monomer designs and our approach to monomer synthesis increases the durability and perfor-
mance potential of Hoku Membranes in specific PEM fuel cell applications.

*  Polymer Synthesis. Individual monomers are chemically linked together to form a polymer chain through a process called polymer
synthesis. The polymers are then processed into membranes for specific PEM fuel cell applications. The performance and durability
characteristics of the polymer are determined in part by the properties of each monomer and the interaction of the various monomers
when chemically linked through polymer synthesis.

s  Membrane Fabrication. Our membrane manufacturing processes allow us to incorporate additive materials with our polymers to
form our Hoku Membranes, which enhances the performance and durability of Hoku Membranes in some PEM fuel cell applications.
One of the primary advantages of fluorinated polymer membranes is to improve the membrane’s resistance to oxidation. We have de-
veloped alternative materials that also improve the membrane’s resistance to oxidation. In addition, we have developed a method to
bond our membrane material to the electrodes in our Hoku MEA, which is also designed to enhance its performance.

We intend to continue developing new chemical formulations, reaction catalysts and methods for making monomers to further improve the perfor-
mance and durability of our Hoku Membranes, while also maintaining their cost-competitiveness. We have applied for patents covering our mono-
mer design and polymer synthesis.

Our Solar and Materials Businesses
Solar Industry Overview
Solar Power Systems

Solar power systems convert sunlight directly into electricity. According to Marketbuzz 2006, the total market for solar power systems was 1,460
MW in 2008, and is expected to reach 3,250 MW in 2010. These systems are used for “on-grid” and “off-grid” residential, commercial and indus-
trial applications, and for a variety of consumer applications. “On-grid” markets refer to applications where solar power is used to supplement a
customer’s electricity purchased from the utility network, whereas “off-grid” markets include those applications where access to utility networks is
not economical or physically feasible, including road signs, highway call boxes and communications support along remote pipelines and telecom-
munications equipment, as well as rural residential applications. According to Marketbuzz 2006, sales of solar power systems for “on-grid” applica-
tions represented 1,262 MW out of a total of 1,460 MW in 2005. Consumer applications include garden lights, other outdoor lighting and handheld
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devices such as calculators.

A solar power system consists of one or more PV modules electrically connected in series, and typically includes a power inverter to convert the
direct current, or DC, electricity produced by the modules into alternative current, or AC, electricity that is required for most applications. For “on-
grid” applications, an interconnect to the utility grid is required, and in “off-grid” applications, a battery may be required to provide power at night,
and at other times when the sun is not providing enough solar radiation for the solar power system to generate sufficient electricity to power the
electrical load. The key components of PV modules are PV cells, which are in turn made from silicon wafers. Silicon wafers are made from silicon
ingots, which are in turn made from raw polysilicon. Following is a brief overview of these products and technologies.

Polysilicon

Polysilicon is an essential raw material in the production of PV cells. Polysilicon is created by refining quartz or sand to produce electronic-grade or
solar-grade polysilicon. The key difference between electronic-grade and solar grade polysilicon is the purity requirement. The purity requirement
for solar-grade polysilicon is typically 99.9999%-99.999999% pure, while electronic grade polysilicon tends to be at least 99.9999999% pure. The
process of producing polysilicon begins with quartz or sand, which is refined into metallurgical grade silicon, or MGS. MGS is then purified by
various chemical processes. These can be divided into silane-based and trichlorosilane (SiHCI3)-based processes depending on the gas that is used
in the process. There are two technologies for producing polysilicon from silicon gases: the Siemens reactor method and the fluidized bed reactor, or
FBR method. In the Siemens reactor process, the silane or trichlorosilane gas is introduced into a thermal decomposition furnace (reactor) with high
temperature polysilicon rods inside a cooled bell jar. The silicon contained in the gas will deposit on the heated rods, which gradually grow until the
desired diameter has been reached. In the FBR process, silane or trichlorosilane gas is introduced into a tube-like reactor in which small polysilicon
granules are suspended in the gas stream, referred to as the fluidized bed. The silicon contained in the gas deposits on the surface of the hot gran-
ules in the bed until the desired diameter has been reached. The end product is in the form of rods or chunks of polysilicon. The technology in the
Siemens reactor was developed in the late 1950, is widely implemented, accounting for a majority of the polysilicon production today, and currently
produces a higher purity of material.

Silicon Ingots and Wafers

" Before polysilicon rods or chunks can be used in PV cells, they must first be converted into ingots, which are cut into wafers. There are two pro-
cesses for making ingots from polysilicon: the monocrystalline and the multicrystalline process. To make monocrystalline ingots, a single crystal

of polysilicon is grown, whereas, multicrystalline ingots are made by melting chunks of polysilicon together in a crucible to form a large block of
multicrystalline polysilicon, which is then cut into smaller bricks. The monocrystalline ingot or the multicrystalline brick is then cut into thin wafers,
typically using a cable saw. The end product is either a monocrystalline or a multicrystalline silicon wafer.

PV Cells

PV cells are made from silicon wafers. The wafer undergoes a process to combine positive and negative layers on the wafer, attach electrodes,

and coat with anti-reflective materials. The performance of a PV cell is measured by its solar radiation conversion efficiency. The solar radiation
conversion efficiency is a measure of the net percentage of energy from solar radiation that the PV cell converts into electricity. PV cells made from
multicrystalline wafers may have efficiencies in the range of 13-18%, whereas PV cells made from monocrystalline wafers typically have higher ef-
ficiencies in the range of 20%, but are more-expensive to produce.

PV Modules

PV modules are commonly known as solar panels. A PV module is made by electrically wiring together PV cells in series to increase the total volt-
age output. The connected cells are laminated in a glass or plastic covering and then framed. The wires connecting the PV cells terminate in a junc-
tion box to allow multiple PV modules to be electrically connected in series to further increase the voltage and power output.

Challenges Facing Current Solar Market
We believe the solar market must overcome the following challenges to achieve widespread commercialization of solar products:

¢ Increase Supply of Polysilicon.  There is currently an industry-wide shortage of polysilicon, an essential raw material in the produc-
tion of PV cells. Given this shortage, we believe that the long term viability of any PV cell or module manufacturer is dependent on that
company’s access to a secure and affordable supply of polysilicon.

* Decrease Solar Per Kilowatt-hour Cost to Customer.  The current cost of solar electricity is generally greater than the cost of retail
electricity from the utility network. While government programs and consumer preference have accelerated the use of solar power for
on-grid applications, we believe product cost remains one of the largest impediments to growth. To provide an economically attractive
alternative to conventional electricity network power, the solar power industry must continually reduce manufacturing and installation
costs.

» Achieve Higher Solar Conversion Efficiencies.  The solar radiation conversion efficiency is a measure of the net percentage of en-
ergy from solar radiation that a PV cell converts into electricity. By increasing the conversion efficiency of PV cells, the material and
assembly costs required to build a PV module with a given generation capacity may be reduced. Increased conversion efficiency also
reduces the amount of rooftop space required for a solar power system, thus lowering the cost of installation per consumer.



Our Planned PV Products

In May 2006, we announced our plans to begin manufacturing and selling PV modules through a new business unit — Hoku Solar. We intend to oper-
ate Hoku Solar as an integrated manufacturer of PV cells and PV modules. We believe that we can produce our PV modules, including the PV cells,
using turnkey manufacturing equipment. We further believe that we can obtain any necessary licenses from the turnkey equipment suppliers that may
be required to manufacture, market and sell PV cells and PV modules made with their equipment. Our plan is to manufacture modules from silicon
PV cells with expected solar radiation conversion efficiencies greater than 13%.Based on our discussions with PV cell manufacturing equipment sup-
pliers, we believe that we can obtain this level of efficiency from our PV cells by using turnkey manufacturing equipment.

Our initial planned module capacity is 30 megawatts per year. We anticipate our first module product release in the second half of calendar year
2007. Our plan is to sell our PV modules to distributors and contractors who will integrate the PV modules into solar power systems for the end
user. We do not currently plan to sell PV cells, however, we may consider this opportunity in the future.

QOur Planned Polysilicon Products

In May 2006, we announced our plans to begin manufacturing and selling polysilicon, a key material in the production of PV cells, through a new
business unit — Hoku Materials. Our plan is to manufacture polysilicon using trichlorosilane in a Siemens reactor. Our initial planned polysilicon
capacity is 1,500 metric tons. We intend to allocate approximately 300 metric tons of our output to Hoku Solar, with the remaining 1,200 metric tons
being sold to the broader PV and integrated circuit markets.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to be a leading provider of MEA products for PEM fuel cell applications and PV modules and polysilicon for solar applications. To
achieve our goal, we are pursuing the following strategies:

Fuel Cell Strategy

* Focus on Near-Term Revenue Opportunities that Position Us for Long-Term Growth.  We are focusing our product development ef-
forts on MEASs for the stationary and automotive markets. We believe this tactic will help us generate revenue and achieve operating
profitability prior to widespread availability of products based on PEM fuel cells due to the significant number of dollars being spent on
fuel cell research and development efforts. We have not yet focused our development efforts on the portable market because we believe
that demand for MEAs in this market will not be significant in the near term. However, we believe our technologies and development
efforts are applicable to this market and intend to expand our efforts to this market in the future.

» Develop and Expand Strategic Relationships with Industry Leaders and Suppliers. We plan to pursue expanded relationships with
our current strategic partners and to initiate strategic relationships with additional industry leaders and their suppliers in each of our
target markets. To the extent we are successful, we expect that establishing further relationships would enhance our competitive posi-
tion, add to our credibility in these markets and lead to long-term revenue growth.

¢ Leverage Our Technology to Supply MEA Solutions.  'We intend to continue to develop MEAs using our monomer design, polymer
synthesis, membrane fabrication, catalyst application and GDL matching and MEA assembly processes. We believe this will allow us to
offer MEAs that are competitively priced for a wide range of PEM fuel cell applications.

o Utilize Scalable Manufacturing Processes.  Our manufacturing processes, adapted from established industrial methods, are designed
to be extendable to large volumes and are capable of a high degree of automation. We believe our processes should increase our
throughput and yields, reduce our costs and enable us to maintain high quality standards.

Solar Strategy

¢ Produce Polysilicon. ~We are planning to manufacture polysilicon, a key material used in the manufacture of PV cells. We believe the
growth of the PV market, and the ability for new entrants to succeed in this market, is tied directly to the availability of polysilicon. In
addition, we believe that recent increases in the price of polysilicon have prevented PV cell and module manufacturers from reducing
their costs to become more competitive. Our approach is to manufacture our own supply of polysilicon, thereby ensuring consistent
supply at a predictable cost. We believe this tactic will provide us with a competitive advantage that includes the ability to increase our
PV module capacity based on customer demand, rather than the availability of key materials, while also allowing us better control over
the cost of our products.

*» License Technologies to Gain Market Entry.  Our approach is to manufacture, market and sell PV modules utilizing turnkey produc
tion equipment and technology licenses to produce PV cells and PV modules based on pre-existing technologies. We believe that the PV
module market is growing at a rate that supports our entry as a new competitor using existing and available technologies, without the
need to invest heavily in research and development. We believe that this approach mitigates technical risk and will speed our time to
market.

Materials Strategy

» Utilize Proven Processes. 'We are planning to initially manufacture polysilicon using trichlorosilane in a Siemens reactor process. The
Siemens reactor process was invented in the late 1950°s by Siemens AG. According to Marketbuzz 2006, this process remains the
dominant technology for polysilicon made in 2005. Because it is the most commonly used process to manufacture polysilicon, we
believe it is also the most proven process with the least technical risk.
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« Sell Unused Capacity to Solar and IC Markets. We initially plan to allocate 300 metric tons of our anticipated capacity of 1,200 met-
ric tons of polysilicon for the manufacture of our PV modules. We plan to market the balance of our capacity to customers in the solar
and integrated circuit markets. Qur approach will be to pre-sell this capacity through long-term contracts that offer guaranteed supply at
predetermined prices.

Fuel Cell Customers and Strategic Relationships

To date, we have entered into strategic relationships with Sanyo and Nissan. In addition, we are the prime contractor in a U.S. Navy fuel cell demon-
stration project.

Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd. In March 2003, we entered into a contract with Sanyo to jointly develop a MEA assembly process using our Hoku Mem-
branes for integration into Sanyo’s stationary fuel cell systems. The contract also granted Sanyo a license to our MEA assembly process to produce
any non-Hoku MEA provided that Sanyo utilizes Hoku Membranes in its non-Hoku MEA. The term of the contract ends in September 2009, but will
automatically renew for an additional five years unless we and Sanyo agree not to renew it. We have satisfied all of the performance milestones un-
der the contract for which Sanyo has paid us a total of $2.5 million that was recognized as service and license revenue in fiscal 2005. In fiscal 2006,
we recognized $2,000 under the license agreement granted to Sanyo pursuant to the contract for product deliveries. In addition, in June 2003, Sanyo
purchased 333,333 shares of our Series B preferred stock at $3.00 per share which automatically converted to common stock upon the completion of
our initial public offering in August 2005.

In December 2005, we entered into a material transfer and collaborative testing agreement with Sanyo, or the Testing Agreement, to allow Sanyo to
conduct additional testing of newer versions of our Hoku Membrane and Hoku MEA products. We also agreed to collaborate with Sanyo on the test-
ing of these products. In February 2006, pursuant to the Testing Agreement, Sanyo paid us a service and license fee of $260,000 for our collaboration
work, which does not include the cost of our products to be ordered by Sanyo for testing which will be invoiced separately. Revenue is recognized
ratably over the duration of the contract as engineering services are rendered, and for product deliveries also ratably from the delivery date to the
expected completion of the engineering services pursuant to the contract, which is July 31, 2006. As of March 31, 2006, we had recognized $111,000
as revenue with the remaining $149,000 recorded as deferred revenue.

The Testing Agreement allows Sanyo to evaluate newer versions of our membrane and MEA products that have been developed since completion of
the collaboration portion of the previous contract, and provides us with additional funding for our collaboration with Sanyo on this testing. No rights
or licenses to our products are being granted to Sanyo as a result of this Testing Agreement, and this Testing Agreement does not alter or amend any
of the rights and licenses agreed to in our previous agreement with Sanyo.

We expect that our Testing Agreement with Sanyo, which ends in July 2006, will be our final engineering service contract with Sanyo for the foresee-
able future. As aresult, it is likely that we will not receive any meaningful revenue from Sanyo unless or until we begin selling to Sanyo commercial
quantities of our Hoku Membrane or Hoku MEA products. We cannot predict when such sales will occur, if at all.

Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. In March 2004, we entered into a testing and evaluation contract with Nissan under which we were paid $100,000. This
contract was amended in May 2004 to provide for additional testing and ended in September 2004 upon completion of the testing.

In September 2004, we entered into two contracts with Nissan, an engineering contract to customize our Hoku MEAs for integration into Nissan’s
automotive fuel cells and a membrane and MEA purchase contract. In connection with executing the contract, Nissan paid us $400,000. The en-
gineering contract ended in accordance with its terms in March 2005. Under the purchase contract, we also agreed to deliver our Hoku MEAs and
Hoku Membranes to Nissan in exchange for $1.3 million. This contract was scheduled to expire in March 2005. However, we verbally modified the
contract and delivered the remaining Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes on a purchase order basis with the last delivery made in December 200S.
We recognized revenue of $1.4 million and $327,000 during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, under these contracts.

In March 2005, we entered into a collaboration contract with Nissan to develop customized Hoku MEAs and a Hoku MEA assembly process for use
in Nissan’s automotive fuel cells. Under the collaboration contract, Nissan was obligated to pay us $2.8 million upon execution of the contract which
was recorded as deferred revenue as of March 31, 2005. We received payment from Nissan in May 2005. Revenue was recognized ratably over

the duration of the contract as the engineering services were rendered and for product deliveries also ratably from the delivery date to the expected
completion of the engineering services pursuant to the collaboration contract, which was December 31, 2005. Nissan was obligated to pay us an
additional $240,000 upon verification from Nissan that all engineering services had been received. In January 2006, Nissan verified all engineer-

ing services had been completed under the collaboration agreement and $240,000 was recognized as revenue. We received payment from Nissan in
March 2006.

Under the collaboration contract, we granted Nissan a license to the final MEA product and the final MEA product assembly process, so that Nissan
can manufacture the final MEA product developed under this contract using our processes and incorporating Hoku Membranes purchased from us.
We retain all intellectual property related to the Hoku Membranes, Hoku MEAs and the final MEA product assembly process developed under this
collaboration contract.

In January 2006, we entered into a Step 3 Collaboration contract with Nissan, or the Step 3 Contract, to further develop customized Hoku MEAs and
a Hoku MEA assembly process for use in Nissan’s automotive fuel cells. We will provide work pursuant to the Step 3 Contract between January 1,
2006 and September 30, 2006. Under the Step 3 Contract, Nissan was obligated to pay us $2.7 million upon execution of the contract and an addi-
tional $240,000 on July 31, 2006 for the work we perform. Nissan paid us $2.7 million in March 2006. The payments above do not include the cost
of our products to be ordered by Nissan for testing that will be invoiced separately. Revenue was recognized ratably over the duration of the contract
as engineering services were rendered, and for product deliveries also ratably from the delivery date to the expected completion of the engineering
services pursuant to the Step 3 Contract, which is September 30, 2006. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006, we recognized $983,000 as
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revenue and have recorded $1.7 million as deferred revenue as of March 31, 2006.

Under the Step 3 Contract, we granted Nissan a non-exclusive license to the final MEA product and the final MEA product assembly process devel-
oped by Hoku to enable Nissan to manufacture MEA products using our processes and incorporating Hoku Membranes. We retain title to our Hoku
Membranes, Hoku MEAs and the final MEA product assembly process developed under this agreement. We also agreed not to sell separately any of
our products incorporated into our Hoku MEAs to any automotive company for any commercial purpose, other than testing and evaluation of these
products, until September 30, 2006. There are no such restrictions on our ability to sell our Hoku MEAs to automotive companies other than the
Hoku MEA we are presently developing with Nissan. Nissan has no obligation under the Step 3 Contract to sell or promote our products.

Nissan may terminate our Step 3 Contract if we materially breach the contract without curing the breach within 30 days, or if we are insolvent or peti-
tion in bankruptcy. A failure to achieve technical milestones is not a material breach under the contract. Nissan could declare us in material breach

of the Step 3 Contract if we fail to manufacture and deliver our products to Nissan, if we violate the confidentiality provisions of the contract or if

we materially breach any other covenant deemed material to our obligations under the contract. If Nissan terminates the Step 3 Contract for any of
these reasons, we are required to grant Nissan a license to the final MEA product under the contract, which may only be used by Nissan to make this
product and to use our product assembly process to manufacture products incorporating Hoku Membranes.

We expect that our Step 3 Contract with Nissan, which ends in September 2006, will be our final engineering service contract with Nissan for the
foreseeable future. As a result, it is likely that we will not receive any meaningful revenue from Nissan unless or until we begin selling to Nissan
commercial quantities of our Hoku Membrane or Hoku MEA products. We cannot predict when such sales will occur, if at all.

U.S. Navy - Naval Air Warfare Center Weapons Division. In March 2005, we were awarded a contract with the U.S. Navy to develop and demon-
strate a PEM fuel cell power plant prototype that incorporates our Hoku MEAs within IdaTech, LLC, or IdaTech, fuel cell stacks and integrated fuel
cell systems. IdaTech is a subsidiary of IDACORP, Inc., a publicly-traded energy and technology holding company. Under the contract, the U.S.
Navy agreed to pay us up to an aggregate of $2.1 million if and when we complete specified testing and performance milestones, as described below.
As of March 31, 2006, we had completed all seven milestones including the construction and testing of a prototype.

The U.S. Navy agreed on September 30, 2005 that when we completed the seven milestones under the contract, the last three of which were complet-
ed in December 2005, it would proceed with both of its options. The first option is to manufacture 11 fuel cell power plants for which the U.S. Navy
has agreed to pay us a total of $1.1 million in installments as each fuel cell power plant is completed. The second option is to have us operate and
maintain 10 of the 11 fuel cell power plants manufactured under the first option for a period of 12 months at a U.S. Navy facility, for which the U.S.
Navy has agreed to pay us a total of $1.4 million in monthly installments beginning at the time each of the 10 fuel cell power plants are placed into
service. The initial contract and the two options that the U.S. Navy have exercised will be accounted for as a single unit of accounting, with revenue
recognition to occur in monthly instaliments at the time each of the 10 fuel cell power plants are placed into service aver the period of the second op-
tion. Since the fuel cell power plants have not been placed in service, the $2.1 million is classified as deferred revenue as of March 31, 2006.

In connection with the U.S. Navy’s exercise of its options, on September 30, 2005, we notified IdaTech of our intent to extend our subcontract with
them to build an additional 11 fuel cell power plants incorporating Hoku MEA, for which we have agreed to pay IdaTech $473,000, and to provide
services in connection with the operation and maintenance of 10 of these fuel cell power plants over a 12-month period, for which we have agreed to
pay IdaTech $125,000.

On March 2, 2006, we entered into an Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contract with the U.S. Navy pursuant to which the U.S. Navy has
extended the delivery date of its two options from March 2006 to September 2006 and March 2007 to September 2007 for options 1 and 2, respec-
tively. In addition, the total cost of the contract was decreased by $8,000. The change was primarily due to a delay in finalizing the demonstration
site selection, preparation and logistics for the second option with the U.S. Navy.

As of June 2006, the U.S. Navy has officially accepted the first 5 of the 10 fuel cell power plants incorporating our Hoku MEA that will be used as
part of the demonstration. Also, in June 2006, the demonstration site selection, preparation and logistics for the second option were finalized with the
U.S. Navy, and we began the demonstration of 2 power plants. We expect to complete the installation and commence the demonstration of all 8 of
the additional fuel cell power plants for the U.S. Navy by September 2006.

‘We retain all intellectual property related to our Hoku Membranes and Hoku MEAs. We retain the rights to any invention that is conceived while
performing the work under this contract; however, the U.S. Government has a non-exclusive, non-transferable, irrevocable, paid-up license to use the
invention throughout the world. This contract is ongoing, but the U.S. Navy may terminate the contract, in whole or in part, if it is determined that
the termination is in the U.S. Government’s interest.

IdaTech, LLC. In April 2005, we entered into a subcontract with IdaTech to specify the work that IdaTech will perform in connection with our prime
contract with the U.S. Navy. We selected IdaTech based upon its focus on stationary applications, integrated fuel processor technology and experi-
ence in developing and demonstrating fuel cell technologies for the U.S. Department of Defense. Under the subcontract, IdaTech agreed to provide
the necessary personnel, facilities, equipment, materials, data, supplies and services to integrate our Hoku MEAs within IdaTech’s fuel cell stacks
and integrated fuel cell systems. We have agreed to pay IdaTech $380,000 in installments upon completion of certain phases outlined in this contract.
The contract was extended when the U.S. Navy exercised the options described above. In accordance with the contract extension we agreed to pay
IdaTech $473,000 to purchase an additional 11 fuel cell power plants. We have also agreed to pay IdaTech $125,000, because the U.S. Navy exer-
cised its option to have us operate and maintain 10 fuel cell power plants. This contract will terminate if our contract with the U.S. Navy terminates,
in which case we are required to pay IdaTech for costs incurred up to the date of termination.

On March 7, 2006, we entered into Amendment No. 1 to Agreement with IdaTech pursuant to which the statement of work in our subcontract with
IdaTech was revised to allow us to complete the assembly of the IdaTech fuel cell stack, and the final integration of the stack into the IdaTech fuel
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cell system at our facility in Kapolei, Hawaii. In addition, the schedule of deliverables was amended to provide for the delay in commencement of
the U.S. Navy demonstration as described above, and the total cost of the subcontract was reduced by $10,000.

Additional Customers. We are performing test, evaluation and/or development work with a total of eleven customers including Sanyo, Nissan and the
U.S. Navy, which includes IdaTech. The eight additional customers have purchased our Hoku Membrane and/or Hoku MEAs for testing and evalu-
ation. We are actively continuing discussions with a twelfth original equipment manufacturer that previously tested earlier versions of Hoku Mem-
branes and Hoku MEAs regarding future testing of newer versions of these products. We have not disclosed the names of these customers; however,
these customers are focused on building stacks and systems for automotive and/or stationary fuel cell applications. We now have product testing
relationships with customers in the United States, Canada, Japan, Korea and Germany.

Sales and Marketing

We believe we can address the stationary and automotive markets by building a focused marketing and sales team. As part of our sales cycle, a
customer initially tests samples of our Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes to verify basic physical and chemical properties and performance. If this
testing is successful, the customer may procure additional samples to test in a simulated commercial stack or system. Following simulated tests, our
goal is to sell the customer our Hoku MEAs for large-scale product integration, validation, demonstration and ultimately commercialization. De-
pending on the customer’s system and end-user application, our sales cycle may take several weeks, months or years to complete. As next generation
products are introduced by our customers and by us, this sales cycle may need to be repeated with existing customers. To date, our customers have
not commercially deployed products incorporating Hoku MEAs or Hoku Membranes, and we have not sold any products commercially.

We are at an early planning stage of our expansion into the polysilicon, PV cells and PV module market and have not determined whether we will
build a direct or indirect sales force.

Research and Development
Fuel Cells
Our research and development efforts to date have been primarily focused on the following areas:

* Operational Lifetime. The U.S. Department of Energy, in connection with the Solid State Energy Conversion Alliance, a partner
ship with the National Laboratories and the fuel cell industry, has established 40,000 hours, which represents approximately
4 1/2 years of operation, and 5,000 hours as the commercial operating lifetime targets for fuel cell systems in residential
primary stationary and automotive applications, respectively, each of which have different operating conditions, including relative
humidity and temperature. For back-up stationary applications, original equipment manufacturers generally require 500 to 2,000
hours of continuous operation. To our knowledge, currently there are no commercially available MEAs that meet the U.S. Department
of Energy’s lifetime and performance targets for stationary or automotive applications.

We typically operate and test our stationary Hoku MEA at 70-80 degrees Celsius and 100% relative humidity and have developed our
Hoku MEA for stationary applications for these operating conditions. To measure the operating lifetime of our Hoku MEA, we built

a fuel cell incorporating our Hoku MEA and operated this fuel cell in a simulated generic fuel cell system in our laboratory. During the
course of operation, we maintained a constant flow of electric current at constant temperature and relative humidity while measuring
the rate of voltage decay. In these controlled laboratory tests, we demonstrated up to 2,000 hours of continuous operation without a
failure. While it is normal for the voltage to decay in small increments throughout operation, any rapid or unrecoverable decay in volt
age is a sign that the MEA is failing. After 2,000 hours of continuous operation, we measured less than 6 milli-volts of decay, or a rate
of 3 milli-volts of decay per 1,000 hours, which we believe is within the range of competitive and acceptable voltage decay. To date,
neither we nor our customers have tested our Hoku MEAs beyond 2,000 hours of continuous operation for stationary applications.

s Limited Operating Temperatures. As with substantially all commercially available membranes, our Hoku Membranes must contain
water in order to conduct protons. This potentially limits the ability of our Hoku Membranes to operate at temperatures below freez
ing and above boiling, which is desirable for some applications, such as those for the automotive market. For automotive fuel cells,
we are developing our Hoku MEAS to operate at 90 to 95 degrees Celsius at the high temperature range and with less  than 50%
relative humidity. We have not measured continuous run-time beyond a few hundred hours in this range of higher temperatures or lower
levels of relative humidity. We also need to demonstrate start-up of our Hoku MEA at subfreezing temperatures. We have measured
proton conductivity at subfreezing temperatures as low as -20 degrees Celsius in laboratory tests, but not in a fuel cell system. We ex
pect to demonstrate the temperature range and ultimate lifetime of our automotive Hoku MEA within the next 12 months.

The primary technical challenges we face in meeting the lifetime and temperature requirements of our Hoku MEAs are developing our membrane
materials to retain water at higher temperatures, to operate at lower relative humidity of oxygen and hydrogen and to resist oxidation over prolonged
operation. Oxidation is the degradation of membrane material. We are currently assisting Sanyo, Nissan and other companies in ongoing testing and
evaluation of our products, and we cannot reasonably estimate when this testing and evaluation will be completed. .
Our research and development efforts are also directed toward improving our existing products, and developing new monomers, polymers and other
membrane materials as well as developing electrodes and gas diffusion materials used in our Hoku MEAs. We are also developing new processes for
the manufacture of our products.

Solar and Materials

We are at an early planning stage of our expansion into the polysilicon, PV cell and PV module market and have not to date conducted any research
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and development in this area.
Expenses

Our research and development expenses were $1.3 million, $1.4 million and $1.1 million in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
and were 100% related to our fuel cell business. Our research and development team, which included 18 persons as of March 31, 2006, has expertise
in materials science, organic chemistry, polymer chemistry, electrochemistry and process development.

Intellectual Property
Fuel Cells

PEM-based MEAs were first developed in the 1960s and we believe that a significant portion of the technology associated with the basic technologies
used in MEAs is in the public domain. For example, platinum-based catalysts and ion exchange membranes have been a standard component used in
MEAs for over 35 years. Additionally, porous carbon materials have been used as part of the GDL for over 20 years. Nevertheless, we have sought
patent protection on the design of our Hoku MEAs and their components, as well as some of our manufacturing processes. Our strategy has been

to apply for composition of matter, process and fuel cell structure patents covering the key aspects of our technology, including monomer design,
polymer synthesis, membrane fabrication, catalyst application and GDL matching, and MEA assembly processes. Accordingly, a competitor would
be precluded from making, selling or using products which would infringe the patents, when granted. As of March 31, 2006, we had two issued
patents which expire in 2022 and had filed with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office nine other patent applications. We have also filed applications
under the Patent Cooperation Treaty, or PCT, for protection of our invention dates, designating a number of other countries. As of March 31, 2006,
we have pending six PCT applications and filed 7 international patent applications. Our issued patents cover certain inorganic component materials
incorporated into fuel cell membranes, and the process for doing so, as well as the use of such a membrane in an MEA and a fuel cell system and a
novel cross linking modification for polymers and the process of making it.

While we have developed our own proprietary technology to incorporate platinum-based catalysts, ion exchange membranes and porous carbon
materials, we currently purchase some of our MEA components from vendors that have their own patented and trade secret technology. However,
if these vendors were no longer willing or able to supply such components, we believe other vendors would be able to supply suitable alternative
components,

Solar and Materials

We are at an early planning stage of our expansion into the polysilicon, PV cell and PV module market and have not developed or licensed any pro-
prietary intellectual property addressed to this market. We will need to obtain licenses to manufacture and sell polysilicon, PV cells and PV modules
using the technology that we are planning to implement. However, based on our discussions with engineering firmms and equipment suppliers, we
believe that we can obtain the necessary licenses from these engineering firms and turnkey equipment suppliers that may be required to manufacture,
market and sell the products made with their equipment. If we fail to successfully acquire the licenses necessary to manufacture and sell polysilicon,
PV cells and PV modules, we will be unable to commence production of polysilicon, PV cells and PV modules and we may be forced to delay, alter
or abandon our planned expansion.

General

We intend to continue to file United States and foreign patent applications to protect our technology, inventions and improvements. Our patent
applications may not result in the grant of patents either in the United States or elsewhere, and our patents may not be held to be valid and enforce-
able, if challenged. In addition, our patents may not provide us with a competitive advantage or afford us protection against potential competitors
with similar technologies. In addition to patents, we rely on trade secret laws and third-party non-disclosure agreements to protect our proprietary
information. We will be able to protect our proprietary technologies from unauthorized use by third parties only to the extent that these proprietary
rights are covered by valid and enforceable patents or are effectively maintained as trade secrets and these third parties do not have valid defenses. In
some cases, litigation or other proceedings may be necessary to defend against claims of infringement, to protect our know-how or other intellectual
property rights or to determine the scope and validity of the proprietary rights of third parties. Any potential litigation could result in substantial cost
to us and diversion of our resources. An adverse outcome in any litigation or proceeding could subject us to significant liability.

Manufacturing
Fuel Cells

The key aspects of our manufacturing processes include monomer design, synthesis of our polymers, production of the membrane, deposition of the
catalyst on the membrane, enhancement of the gas diffusion material and assembly of the complete MEA. We outsource the manufacture of one cus-
toin monomer to a single supplier and manufacture our other custom monomers internally. We designed our manufacturing processes to be capable
of using a high degree of automation. We believe this methodology will enable us to increase our throughput and yields, reduce our costs and scale
our manufacturing processes if volume increases.

In August 2005, we completed the move of our operations to a new approximately 14,000 square foot facility in Kapolei, Hawaii that is designed to

allow us to scale our manufacturing operations. We have completed the testing and installation of customized pieces of manufacturing equipment

and other non-customized equipment for the new facility; however, we have not begun manufacturing significant volumes of products with the new

equipment. Depending on the version of membrane we are producing, we believe our installed equipment is capable of manufacturing up to 2,000

square meters of membrane per month, which far exceeds our current volume being produced. The capacity of our installed MEA production equip-
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ment, while lower than our membrane capacity, is sufficient to meet our current demand, and we believe will be sufficient to meet volume require-
ments over the next couple of years.

Solar and Materials

We intend to develop manufacturing capabilities in order to manufacture PV cells and PV modules with initial manufacturing capacity of 30 mega-
watts per year beginning in the second half of calendar year 2007. We believe that demand for polysilicon, which is also the raw material for semi-
conductors, currently exceeds the available supply, which we believe is a factor constricting the growth of the solar market. We also intend to build
a polysilicon processing plant designed to initially produce up to 1,500 metric tons of polysilicon per year, beginning in the second half of calendar
year 2008. Initially, we believe approximately 300 metric tons of polysilicon produced by Hoku Materials will be consumed by Hoku Solar, while
the remaining 1,200 metric tons will be available for sale to the solar and integrated circuit markets. Before we can even commence construction of
our planned manufacturing facilities, we must successfully and timely accomplish the following:

+ raise approximately $250 million in cash through the issuance of debt, convertible debt, and/or equity securities, or from customer pre-
payments for future purchases of polysilicon or PV module products,

+ license any intellectual property that may be required to manufacture polysilicon, PV cells and PV modules; and

+ identify a suitable location for our manufacturing operations that includes a low-cost source of electricity.

If we fail to successfully achieve any or all of the above objectives, we will be unable to commence construction of our planned manufacturing facili-
ties and we may be forced to delay, alter or abandon our planned expansion.

Competition
Fuel Cells

The number of PEM fuel cell membranes and MEA product developers is growing and competition is becoming increasingly intense. In addition to
our membrane and MEA competitors, some of our existing and potential customers that manufacture PEM fuel cell stacks and systems have internal
membrane and MEA development efforts. These development efforts may result in membrane or MEA products that compete with our products.
Most of our competitors and potential customers have substantially greater financial, research and development, manufacturing and sales and market-
ing resources than we do, and may complete research, development and commercialization of commercially viable fuel cell membrane and MEA
products more quickly and effectively than we can. None of our customer contracts are exclusive and Nissan and Sanyo continue to evaluate compet-
ing products.

Our competition includes chemical companies such as E.I. du Pont de Nemours and Company, or DuPont, Asahi Kasei Corporation and Solvay So-
lexis, Inc.; materials science companies like W.L. Gore & Associates, or Gore, 3M Company, or 3M, Hitachi, Ltd. and Asahi Glass Co. Ltd.; catalyst
suppliers such as Johnson Matthey and Umicore, that are developing commercial MEA products, specialized fuel cell membrane start-up, spin-out
and emerging growth companies, such as PEMEAS GmbH and PolyFuel, Inc.; and joint ventures such as SolviCore, a 50/50 joint venture of Umi-
core and Solvay Solexis, Inc. Many of these companies have released commercial MEA products while continuing to develop improvements to meet
the performance and durability goals of PEM fuel cell applications. Among these competitors, to our knowledge DuPont, Gore and 3M are the major
providers of the PEM fuel cell membranes and MEAs currently used by fuel cell system providers.

DuPont, 3M and Gore offer commercially available fluorinated MEAs that are developed for automotive and stationary applications. DuPont’s MEA
is based on a polymer developed by DuPont and marketed under the brand name Nafion. 3M publicly states that its MEAs will run continuously in
excess of 16,000 hours under typical stationary application operating conditions and Gore publicly states that their MEAs will run continuously up to
1,430 hours for automotive applications and in excess 25,000 hours for residential primary stationary applications. Unlike the commercially avail-
able membranes offered by DuPont, 3M and Gore, our Hoku Membranes are either completely non-fluorinated or may contain less than 10% fluorine
as needed to meet customer expectations.

PEMEAS, in contrast, develops high temperature MEAs and has stated that it believes its MEAs are more cost-effective and technically reliable than
conventional low-temperature fuel cells. PEMEAS uses polybenzimidazole, a non-fluorinated polymer for its membrane, which does not require
water to operate. PolyFuel claims to have developed a new family of hydrocarbon membranes for use in portable direct methanol fuel cells that has
achieved 5,000 hours of continuous operation, and a hydrocarbon membrane for automotive hydrogen fuel cells.

In addition, a number of PEM fuel cell system providers and automobile companies are developing membranes and MEAs for their own PEM fuel
cell applications, including Honda Motor Co., Ltd. and Toyota Motor Corporation. Finally, PEM membrane and MEA research and development
activities are taking place at national labs and universities in North America, Asia and Europe.

We believe our products will compete with the PEM fuel cell membrane and MEA products described above principally on the basis of cost, durabil-
ity, performance and environmental impact. However, we cannot assure you that we will be able to compete effectively against these companies or
their products on any or all of these criteria. As our customers have not commercially deployed products incorporating Hoku MEAs or Hoku Mem-
branes, and we have not sold any products commercially, we cannot be certain that we will be able to develop and market our products successfully.

Solar and Materials

The market for PV modules is competitive and continually evolving. As a new entrant to this market, we expect to face substantial competition from
companies such as SunPower Corporation, BP Solar International Inc., Evergreen Solar, Inc., Mitsubishi Electric Corporation, Q-Cells AG, Renew-
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able Energy Corporation ASA, Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd., Sharp Electronics Corp., SolarWorld AG, Suntech Power Holdings Co., Ltd., and other

new and emerging companies in Asia, North America and Europe. All of our known competitors are established players in the solar industry, and
have a stronger market position than ours and have larger resources and recognition than we have. In addition, universities, research institutions and
other companies are developing alternative technologies such as thin films and concentrators, which may compete with the products we are planning
to introduce. In addition, the PV module market in general competes with other sources of renewable energy and conventional power generation.
Initially, we believe that the high demand for PV modules will support further competition in the module market, enabling us to sell our products,
specifically in Hawaii where we are headquartered. In the future, we believe we can compete based on improved PV cell efficiencies and lower costs.

In the polysilicon market, we will also compete with companies such as Hemlock Semiconductor Corporation, Renewable Energy Corporation ASA,
Mitsubishi Polycrystalline Silicon America Corporation, Mitsubishi Materials Corporation, Tokuyama Corporation, MEMC Electronic Materials,
Inc., and Wacker Chemie AG. In addition, we believe new companies may be emerging in China and Eastern Europe, and new technologies, such

as fluidized bed reactors, are emerging, which may have significant cost and other advantages over the Siemens process we are planning to use to
manufacture polysilicon. These competitors may have longer operating histories, greater name recognition and greater financial, sales and market-
ing, technical and other resources than us. If we fail to compete successfully, we may be unable to successfully enter the market for polysilicon and
PV modules. Initially, we believe that the high demand for polysilicon will support further competition in the polysilicon market, enabling us to
negotiate long-term sales contracts. In the future, if we are successful in growing our PV module business, we believe that owning our own source of
polysilicon in an integrated PV module business, will provide us with cost advantages.

Government Regulation
Fuel Cells

Our and our customers’ fuel cell products are subject to federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations, including, for example, state and local
ordinamnces relating to building codes, public safety, electrical and gas pipeline connections, hydrogen siting and related matters. The level of regula-
tion may depend, in part, upon whether a PEM fuel cell system is placed outside or inside a home or business. For example in the stationary market,
the 2002 National Electrical Code, or the NEC, a model code adopted by the National Fire Protection Association, governs the electrical wiring of
most homes, businesses and other buildings. The NEC has been adopted by local jurisdictions throughout the United States and is enforced by lo-
cal officials, such as building and electrical inspectors. Article 692 of the NEC governs the installation of stationary fuel cell systems. In addition,
product safety standards have been established covering fuel cell systems by CSA America, Inc., a standards development organization (CSA FC-1
formerly ANSI Z21.83) and the power conversion electronics by Underwriters Laboratories Inc. (UL 1741). We are not currently aware of any other
material domestic government regulations in the stationary or automotive markets that may regulate our products. As products are introduced into
the market commercially, governments may impose new regulations. We do not know the extent to which any such regulations may impact our or
our customers’ products. Any regulation of our or our customers’ products, whether at the federal, state, local or foreign level, including any regula-
tions relating to installation and use of our customers’ products, may increase our costs or the price of PEM fuel cell applications and could reduce or
eliminate demand for some or all of our or our customers’ products.

In March 2006, we received a notification from the United States Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, of its intent to initiate an administrative
action against us for alleged violations of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act resulting from an inspection of our former facility in Hono-
lulu, Hawaii that was conducted by the EPA in November 2004. In April 2006, we began settlement discussions with the EPA. In June 2006, we
agreed in principle to settle this dispute for an aggregate cash payment of approximately $14,000. Final settlement is pending the official agreement
from EPA, and entry of an order by EPA administrative judge. However, there can be no assurance that we will settle this matter for this amount or at
all.

Solar and Materials

The market for electricity generation products is heavily influenced by foreign, federal, state and local government regulations and policies concern-
ing the electric utility industry, as well as policies promulgated by electric utilities. These regulations and policies often relate to electricity pricing
and technical interconnection of customer-owned electricity generation. In the United States and in a number of other countries, these regulations
and policies are being modified and may continue to be modified. Customer purchases of, or further investment in the research and development of,
alternative energy sources, including solar power technology, could be deterred by these regulations and policies, which could result in a significant
reduction in the potential demand for our solar products. For example, without a regulatory mandated exception for solar power systems, utility
customers are often charged interconnection or standby fees for putting distributed power generation on the electric utility grid. These fees could in-
crease the cost to consumers of solar power systems, which could decrease the market for our PV modules, thereby harming our business, prospects,
results of operations and financial condition.

We anticipate that our PV modules and their installation will be subject to oversight and regulation in accordance with national and local ordinances
relating to building codes, safety, environmental protection, utility interconnection and metering and related matters. It is difficult to track the require-
ments of individual states and design equipment to comply with the varying standards. Any new government regulations or utility policies pertaining
to our PV modules may result in significant additional expenses to us and our resellers and their customers and, as a result, could cause a significant
reduction in demand for our PV modules. In addition, the manufacture of PV cells, PV modules and polysilicon will involve the use of materials that
are hazardous to human health and the environment, the storage, handling and disposal of which will be subject to government regulation.

Financial Information by Business Segment and Geographic Data

In fiscal 2006, we operated in one business segment, membrane electrode assemblies and associated membranes; however, we plan to begin operat-

ing in three business segments: (i) fuel cells, which will include membrane electrode assemblies and membranes, (ii) solar, which will include PV

modules, and (iii) materials, which include polysilicon. In fiscal 2004, 100% of our revenue was from Electric Power Development Co., Ltd., which
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is located in Japan. In fiscal 2005 and 2006, 100% and 99% of our revenue, respectively, was from Sanyo and Nissan, both of which are located in
Japan. The information included in Note 1(d) of the Notes to Financial Statements is hereby incorporated by reference.

Employees

As of March 31, 2006, we had 27 employees, consisting of 18 in research and development, 2 in sales and marketing and 7 in general and administra-
tive. We believe our relationship with our employees is good.

Executive Officers

Our executive officers and their ages and positions as of March 31, 2006, are as follows:

Name ‘ Age Position

Dustin M. Shindo 32 Chairman of the Board of Directors, President and Chief Executive Officer
Karl M. Taft I1I 33 Chief Technology Officer and Director

Darryl S. Nakamoto 32 Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary

Scott B. Paul 32 Vice President, Business Development and General Counsel

Dustin M. Shindo, one of our founders, has served as our Chairman of the Board of Directors, President and Chief Executive Officer since March
2001. From November 1999 to February 2001, Mr. Shindo was a founder and Chief Executive Officer of Activitymax, Inc., a small privately-held
travel reservation software company, where Mr. Shindo was responsible for managing customer relationships, developing the company’s marketing
program and managing the operations of the company. From August 1999 to April 2000, Mr. Shindo was a business consultant at The Lucas Group,
a strategic consulting firm, where Mr. Shindo focused on business strategy projects as part of multi-person engagement teams. In 1995, Mr. Shindo
founded Mehana Brewing Company, a privately-held microbrewery, where he continues to serve as President and as a member of the board of direc-
tors. Mr. Shindo’s family manages the day-to-day operations of Mehana Brewing Company and Mr. Shindo’s time commitment is not significant.
Mr. Shindo devotes substantially all of his time to the management of Hoku Scientific. Mr. Shindo has a B.A. in Accounting from the University of
Washington and an M.B.A. from the Darden Graduate School of Business Administration at the University of Virginia.

Karl M. Taft II, one of our founders, has served as our Chief Technology Officer since March 2001 and a member of our board of directors since
August 2001. From October 1996 to March 2001, Mr. Taft held various positions at PCC Structurals, Inc., a manufacturer of titanium casting, includ-
ing Lead Manager for Research and Development, Industrial Engineer and Research Chemist. In 2000, Mr. Taft was an Adjunct Professor at Portland
State University. Mr. Taft has a B.A. in Chemistry from Pacific University, an M.S. in Environmental Science and Engineering from Oregon Graduate
Institute and an M.B.A. from Portland State University.

Darryl S. Nakamoto has served as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer since January 2005 and our Secretary since March 2005. From January
2003 to December 2004, Mr. Nakamoto was a finance analyst for Frito-Lay of Hawalii, a division of PepsiCo, Inc. From May 2002 to January 2003,
Mr. Nakamoto was not employed. From March 2001 to May 2002, Mr. Nakamoto was a sales and marketing executive for Syntera Solutions, the
software development and document management division of Profitability of Hawaii, Inc., a software company. From April 2000 to February 2001,
he served as the regional director of Activitymax, Inc., a travel reservation software company. From December 1996 to March 2000, Mr. Nakamoto
was an accountant at KPMG LLP, an accounting firm, where he most recently was as a senior accountant. Mr. Nakamoto has a B.A. in Accounting
and Finance from the University of Washington and is a certified public accountant.

Scott B. Paul has served as our Vice President, Business Development and General Counsel since July 2003. Mr. Paul was also our Secretary from
November 2004 to March 2005, From June 2002 to June 2003, Mr. Paul was Associate General Counsel and Director of Business Development at
Read-Rite Corporation, a component supplier for hard disk and tape drives. From April 2000 to June 2002, he was an attorney in the Business and
Technology Group at Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison LLP, a law firm. From October 1999 to April 2000, Mr. Paul was an attorney in the Business So-
lutions Group at Reed Smith Crosby Heafey, LLP, a law firm, and from October 1998 to October 1999, he was an attorney at Ropers, Majeski, Kohn
& Bentley, a law firm. Mr. Paul has a B.A. in Psychology from the University of California, Los Angeles and a J.D. from Santa Clara University
School of Law.

Available Information

Our principal executive offices are located at 1075 Opakapaka Street, Kapolei, Hawaii 96707, and our telephone number is (808) 682-7800. We
maintain a website with an Internet address of www.hokuscientific.com. The information contained on our website is not included as a part of, or in-
corporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We make available free of charge, through our website, our Annual Report on Form
10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we have
electronically filed such material with, or furnished such material to, the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Business
We have a limited operating history, and if we are unable to generate significant revenue, we may not maintain profitability.

We were incorporated in March 2001 and have a limited operating history. We incurred net losses since our inception through March 31, 2005. We
had net income of $1.3 million during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006. Fluctuations in quarterly and annual revenue are expected to continue
in future periods due to uncertainty regarding the level and the timing of revenue from customer contracts and achievernent of contract milestones

in our fuel cell business. In addition, we expect that we will need to increase our efforts in supporting our new fuel cell contracts, in developing our
next generation fuel cell products and in growing our fuel cell customer base. Furthermore, our planned entry into the PV module and polysilicon
markets will require us to spend additional amounts to support the construction of facilities to manufacture PV cells and modules, and polysilicon,
the purchase of capital equipment, fund new sales and marketing efforts, pay for additional operating costs, and significantly increase our headcount.
The result is that we expect our costs to increase significantly, which may result in further losses on a quarterly or annual basis.

To date, our customers have not commercially deployed products incorporating our Hoku MEAs or Hoku Membranes, and we have not sold any
products commercially. If we are unable to generate significant revenue or maintain profitability, we will not be able to sustain our operations.

Our operating results have fluctuated in the past, and we expect a number of factors to cause our operating resulits to fluctuate in the future,
making it difficult for us to accurately forecast our gquarterly and annual operating results. :

Our revenue, operating results and cash flows depend upon the size and timing of customer orders and payments and the dates of product deliveries
and achievement of contractual milestones. Fluctuations in quarterly and annual revenue are expected to continue in future periods due to uncertainty
regarding the level and the timing of revenue from fuel cell customer contracts and achievement of fuel cell contract milestones. In addition, we
expect that we will need to increase our efforts in supporting our new contracts, in developing our next generation products and in growing our cus-
tomer base. Furthermore, our planned entry into the PV module and polysilicon markets will require us to spend additional amounts to support the
construction of facilities, the purchase of capital equipment, fund new sales and marketing efforts, pay for additional operating costs, and significantly
increase our headcount. The result is that we expect our costs to increase significantly, which may result in further losses on a quarterly or annual
basis.

To date, we have derived substantially all our revenue through contracts related to fuel cell testing and engineering services with Sanyo Electric Co.,
Ltd., or Sanyo, and Nissan Motor Co. Ltd., or Nissan. In addition, we are the prime contractor in a U.S. Navy fuel cell demonstration project. We
recognize fuel cell service revenue and related costs upon contract completion and customer acceptance and fuel cell license revenue and related
costs when the products are delivered to a customer. These methods of revenue recognition often result in our receiving payment from a customer
and deferring the recognition of the revenue and related costs of uncompleted contracts for some period of time until the milestones are achieved and
accepted by the customer and/or the products or services are delivered. As a result, a new fuel cell contract may not result in revenue in the quarter
or year in which the contract is signed, and we may not be able to predict accurately when revenue and related costs from a fuel cell contract will be
recognized. Any failure or delay in our ability to meet fuel cell contractual milestones and/or deliver our products to our customers may harm our op-
erating results. Since our operating expenses are based on anticipated revenue and cash flows from contracts and because a high percentage of these
expenses are relatively fixed, a delay in revenue and cash flows from one or more contracts could cause significant variations in operating results
from quarter to quarter and cause unexpected results. Revenue from contracts that do not meet our revenue recognition policy requirements for which
we have been paid or have a valid account receivable are recorded as deferred revenue.

Our future operating results and cash flows will depend on many factors that impact our fuel cell business, and our planned PV module and polysili-
con businesses, including the following:

+ the size and timing of customer orders, milestone achievement, product delivery and customer acceptance, if required,
* our suceess in obtaining pre-payments from customers for future shipments of polysilicon;

* our success in maintaining and enhancing existing strategic relationships and developing new strategic relationships with potential
customers;

+ our ability to protect our intellectual property;

+ actions taken by our competitors, including new product introductions and pricing changes;
« the costs of maintaining and expanding our operations;

« customer budget cycles and changes in these budget cycles; and

.+ external economic and industry conditions.

As aresult of these factors, we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations are not necessarily meaningful and should not
be relied upon as indications of future performance.

If we are unable to obtain the necessary initial financing, supply contracts and licenses to intellectual property required to begin construction
of PV cell and module, and polysilicon manufacturing capabilities we will not be able to form an integrated photovoltaic module business.

In May 2006, we announced our intention to form an integrated photovoltaic, or PV, module business to complement our fuel cell business. This
planned expansion includes developing manufacturing capabilities and the eventual planned manufacture of polysilicon, PV cells and PV modules.
To date, our business has solely been focused on the stationary and automotive fuel cell markets and we have no experience in the PV cell, PV
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module and polysilicon businesses. In order to be successful we will need to devote substantial management time, resources and funds to this
planned expansion. We are at an early planning stage of this expansion and at any point in time we may conclude that such expansion is not finan-
cially or technologically feasible and abandon our efforts to establish an integrated PV module business. Such abandonment after substantial invest-
ment of time and resources could harm our business. Even if successful, the diversion of management’s efforts, our resources and funds could harm
our efforts to develop and commercialize our Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes,

Before we can even commence construction of our planned manufacturing facilities, we must successfully and timely accomplish the following:

* raise approximately $250 million in cash throngh the issuance of debt, convertible debt, and/or equity securities, or from customer pre-
payments for future purchases of PV modules and polysilicon;

 license any intellectual property that may be required to manufacture polysilicon, PV cells and PV modules;
« secure key supplier contracts for the materials required to manufacture polysilicon, PV cells and PV modules; and

* identify a suitable location for our manufacturing operations that includes a low-cost source of electricity.

If we fail to successfully achieve any or all of the above objectives, we will be unable to commence construction of our planned manufacturing
facilities and we may be forced to delay, alter or abandon our planned expansion. In addition, any delay in achieving these objectives may result in
additional expense and increased diversion of management’s efforts from our fuel cell business, each of which would harm our business.

Even if we achieve our initial PV module and polysilicon objectives on a timely basis and complete the construction of manufacturing facili-
ties for PV cells, PV modules and polysilicon as currently planned, we may still be unsuccessful in developing, manufacturing and/or selling
these products, which would harm our business.

If we are successful in our efforts to construct manufacturing facilities for the production of polysilicon, PV cells and PV modules, our ability to suc-
cessfully compete in the PV module and polysilicon markets will depend on a number of factors, including:

* our ability to manufacture PV cells, PV modules and polysiticon at a cost that allows us to achieve or maintain profitability in these
businesses;

* our ability to successfully manage a much larger and growing enterprise, with a broader international presence;
* our ability to attract and expand new customer relationships;
 the quality and consistency of our PV modules;

* our ability to develop new technologies to become competitive through cost reductions and improvements in solar radiation conversion
efficiencies;

« our ability to scale our business to be competitive;
 future product liability or warranty claims; and

» our ability to compete with in a highly competitive market against companies that have greater resources, longer operating histories and
larger market share than we do.

Industry-wide shortages or overcapacity in the production of polysilicon could harm our business.

Polysilicon is an essential raw material in the production of photovoltaic, or solar, cells. Polysilicon is created by refining quartz or sand, and is
typically supplied to PV cell and module manufacturers in the form of silicon ingots that are sliced into wafers, or as pre-sliced wafers. We plan

to commence manufacturing PV modules at least one year before we commence manufacturing our own supply of polysilicon. There is currently
an industry-wide shortage of polysilicon, which has resulted in significant price increases. We may be unable to obtain polysilicon to commence
manufacturing of our PV modules in 2007. We do not currently have any contracts to purchase polysilicon ingots or wafers. Our inability to obtain
sufficient polysilicon, ingots or wafers at commercially reasonable prices or at all would adversely affect our ability to commence manufacturing our
PV module products in 2007, and prevent us from meeting potential customer demand for our products, and may delay our entry into the PV module
business, thereby seriously harming our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In light of these shortages, certain polysilicon producers have announced plans to invest heavily in the expansion of their production capacities in
view of the current scarcity of solar-grade silicon, strong demand and the expected strong market growth. We currently expect significant additional
capacity to come on-line in 2008, at the same time our planned production of polysilicon will begin. This expansion of production capacities could
result in an excess supply of solar-grade silicon. In addition, if an excess supply of electronic-grade silicon were to develop, producers of electronic-
grade silicon could switch production to solar-grade silicon, eliminating the current scarcity of solar-grade silicon or causing it to decline more
rapidly than we currently anticipate. The electronic-grade silicon market has experienced significant cyclicality historically; for instance, that market
experienced significant excess supply from 1998 through 2003. Moreover, the current scarcity of silicon could also be overcome in the medium term
if the need for silicon is significantly reduced as a result of the introduction of new technologies that significantly reduce or eliminate the need for
silicon in producing effective PV systems. If any of these events occurred, they could lead to considerable pressure on the world market price for so-
lar-grade silicon, which, in turn, could place pressure on our margins in these businesses.. Accordingly, overcapacity in polysilicon production could
have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial conditions or results of operations.

If we fail to improve our accounting systems and controls and financial reporting processes, we may be unable to comply with our reporting
obligations as a public company and our stock price may decline.

Our reporting obligations as a public company will place a significant strain on our management, operational and financial resources and systems for
15




the foreseeable future. As an early stage private company, we had limited accounting personnel and other resources with which to address internal
controls and procedures. As a result, when our independent registered public accounting firm audited our financial statements for the fiscal years end-
ed March 31, 2005, and 2004, they identified in their report to our audit committee a “reportable condition,” which primarily related to the fact that
we did not have the appropriate financial management and reporting infrastructure in place to accurately and properly record and provide comprehen-
sive financial information in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. As a result, a number of material audit adjustments to
our financial statements were identified during the course of the audit. Had we at the time been a publicly-traded company, this “reportable condition”
would have been characterized as a “material weakness™ in internal controls as defined by Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e).

In order to address the reportable condition, we retained a controller on a part-time consulting basis in July 2005, who became a full-time employee
in August 2005, and we documented our accounting policies and financial reporting procedures. However, we continue to remediate the reportable
condition. When our independent registered public accounting firm audited our financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006, they
identified in their management letter to our Audit Committee “significant deficiencies” which primarily relate to issues that are similar to those that
were in the “reportable condition” in the prior year. If we fail to remedy our significant deficiencies or should we, or our independent registered pub-
lic accounting firm, determine in future fiscal periods that we have additional significant deficiencies or a material weakness, we may fail to meet our
reporting obligations as a public company, the reliability of our financial reports may be impacted, and our results of operations or financial condition
may be harmed and the price of our common stock may decline. Our reporting obligations as a public company will continue to place a significant
strain on our management, operational and financial resources and systems.

We expect to depend on Nissan and the U.S. Navy for substantially all our revenue for the foreseeable future, and if Nissan or the U.S. Navy
terminates its contract with us, our business will be harmed.

In January 2006, we entered into a Step 3 collaboration contract with Nissan, and in March 2005 we were awarded a contract with the U.S. Navy,
Our Step 3 collaboration contract with Nissan ends in September 2006 and our contract with the U.S. Navy is expected to be completed during the
quarter ended September 30, 2007. We anticipate that substantially all our revenue for the foreseeable future will be derived from our contracts with
Nissan and the U.S. Navy. If Nissan or the U.S. Navy terminates its contract with us for any reason, our revenue would be reduced and our business
would be harmed.

Our contract with Nissan provides that we will develop customized Hoku MEAs for use in Nissan’s automotive fuel cells and an MEA assembly
process. Nissan may terminate the contract if we materially breach the contract without curing the breach within 30 days or if we are insolvent or pe-
tition in bankruptcy. Our failure to achieve a technical milestone is not a material breach under the contract. We expect that our current contract with
Nissan, which ends in September 2006, will be our final engineering service contract with Nissan for the foreseeable future. As a result, it is likely
that we will not receive any meaningful revenue from Nissan unless or until we begin selling to Nissan commercial quantities of our Hoku Membrane
or Hoku MEA products. We cannot predict when such sales will occur, if at all.

In December 2005, we completed the development and demonstration of a PEM fuel cell power plant prototype that incorporates our Hoku MEA
within IdaTech, LLC’s fuel cell stacks and integrated fuel cell systems. The U.S. Navy will pay us to manufacture 11 demonstration-ready fuel cell
systems for an aggregate amount of $1.1 million to be paid in installments as each fuel cell power plant is completed. The second option provides that
we will operate and maintain 10 of the 11 fuel cell power plants manufactured under the first option for a period of 12 months at a U.S. Navy facil-
ity, for which the U.S. Navy has agreed to pay us a total of $1.4 million in monthly installments at the time each of the 10 fuel cell power plants are
placed into service. As of June 2006, we had manufactured S fuel cell power plants and commenced the demonstration of 2 power plants.

If we fail to successfully deliver the demonstration-ready fuel cell systems, then the U.S. Navy may terminate the contract. In addition, the U.S.
Navy may terminate the contract, in whole or in part, if it is determined that the termination is in the U.S. Government’s interest.

We experience long and variable sales cycles on our fuel cell products, which could negatively impact our results of operations for any given
quarter.

To date, the majority of our revenue has been derived from a few customers, and our customers have spent a significant amount of time consider-
ing a wide range of issues before committing to contracts for the testing and evaluation of our fuel cell products. Further, these customers have not
commercially deployed products incorporating Hoku MEAs or Hoku Membranes. We expect that our sales process with potential new customers
will continue to require significant technical review, assessment of competitive products and approval at a number of management levels within their
organizations. As a result, our sales cycle will likely range from six to nine months, and in some cases even longer, and it will be very difficult to
predict whether and when any particular transaction might be completed.

We may need to secure additional funding for our fuel cell business, and will need to raise appreximately $250 million for our PV module
and polysilicon businesses, and we may be unable to raise this additional capital on favorable terms or at all.

Our cash requirements for the fuel cell business will depend on numerous factors, including the level of our research and development activities, the
timing of market acceptance of our products and the introduction of new products. We expect to devote substantial capital resources to continuing
our fuel cell research and development programs, building our fuel cell manufacturing infrastructure, and expanding into new markets and technolo-
gies. We believe our current cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to meet the capital requirements of our fuel cell
membranes and MEA business for at least the next 12 months. We may need to raise additional funds; however, we may not be able to secure addi-
tional funding on acceptable terms or at all. If adequate funds are not available to satisfy either short-term or long-term capital requirements, we may
be required to limit operations in a manner inconsistent with our fuel cell research and development, manufacturing and commercialization plans,
which could harm our operating results.

We will need to raise approximately $250 million to fund the construction of our planned PV cell and module and polysilicon production facilities,
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and to purchase capital equipment for the manufacture of PV cells, PV modules and polysilicon, and we may need to raise additional funds in the fu-
ture to support the growth of these businesses. If we are unable to raise $250 million, then we will not be able to enter the PV module and polysilicon
markets in accordance with our current plans.

If we raise additional funds for the fuel cell, PV module and polysilicon businesses through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, the
percentage ownership of our then current stockholders may be reduced. If we raise additional funds for these businesses through the issuance of
convertible debt securities, these securities could have rights senior to those of our common stock and could contain covenants that would restrict our
operations.

If there are any adverse developments in our relationships with Sanyo or Nissan, our efforts to develop and market our fuel cell products
" could be delayed.

We have established strategic relationships with Sanyo and Nissan to develop our Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes for use in stationary fuel cell
systems and automotive fuel cells, respectively. In the stationary market, we are focused on demonstrating that our fuel cell products meet operat-
ing lifetime requirements. In the automotive market, we are focused on increasing power output and demonstrating the operating lifetime of our fuel
cell products within a broader range of operating temperatures, to operate at a lower relative humidity of oxygen and hydrogen and to resist oxida-
tion over prolonged operation. Oxidation is the degradation of membrane material. As with substantially all commercially available membranes, our
Hoku Membranes must contain water in order to conduct protons. This potentially limits the ability of our Hoku Membranes to operate at tempera-
tures below freezing and above boiling, which is desirable for some applications, such as those for the automotive market. Sanyo and Nissan may
require us to further develop and improve our fuel cell products before either integrates them into a commercially available PEM fuel cell system or
product.

Sanyo and Nissan may also pursue relationships with alternative suppliers even if we are able to meet their cost, durability and performance require-
ments. Our contracts with Sanyo and Nissan are not exclusive, and Sanyo and Nissan continue to evaluate competing products. We have no agree-
ments or understandings with either Sanyo or Nissan with respect to future promotion or sales of our fuel cell products.

‘We expect that our Testing Agreement with Sanyo, which ends in July 2006, and Nissan, which ends in September 2006, will be our final engineering
service contracts with the respective companies for the foreseeable future. As a result, it is likely that we will not receive any meaningful revenue
from Sanyo or Nissan unless or until we begin selling commercial quantities of our Hoku Membrane or Hoku MEA products. We cannot predict
when such sales will occur, if at all.

Even if Sanyo and Nissan select our products for integration into their fuel cell systems, we cannot reasonably estimate when they would purchase
significant quantities of our fuel cell products. Any adverse development in our relationship with Sanyo or Nissan counld delay our efforts to develop
and market our fuel cell products in the stationary and automotive markets, respectively.

If our fuel cell products, or PEM fuel cell products in general, do not achieve market acceptance, we may be unable to generate sufficient
revenue to continue our operations.

To date, our customers have not commercially deployed products incorporating Hoku MEAs or Hoku Membranes. We do not know the extent to
which these or other customers will purchase our fuel cell products, or whether end-users will buy our customers’ products. If a market for our fuel
cell products fails to develop, or develops more slowly than we anticipate, we may be unable to achieve significant revenue or maintain profitabil-
ity. The development of a market for our fuel cell products is dependent on the development of a market for PEM fuel cell systems, which may be
impacted by many factors, including:

+ the cost competitiveness of PEM fuel cell systems relative to other power sources;

+ the future cost and availability of hydrogen and the fuels, such as natural gas and methanol, from which it is extracted;
» consumer willingness to adopt products powered by PEM fuel cells;

* consumer perceptions of PEM fuel cell safety;

+ adverse regulatory developments, including elimination of governmental PEM fuel cell development and purchasing subsidies and tax
credits and the adoption of onerous regulations regarding PEM fuel cell use;

* Dbarriers to entry created by existing energy providers; and
» the emergence of new competitive technologies and products.

In addition, our Hoku Membranes are designed to be incorporated into our Hoku MEAS using only our production methods and processes. Manufac-
turers may find it too difficult to manufacture their own MEAs using our Hoku Membranes, which may limit the market for our Hoku Membranes.

If our competitors are able to develop and market products that customers prefer to our products, we may not be able to generate sufficient
revenue to continue operations.

The number of PEM fuel cell membrane and MEA product developers is growing and competition is becoming increasingly intense. There are a
number of public and private companies, national laboratories and universities worldwide that are developing fuel cell membranes and MEAs that
compete with our fuel cell products. To our knowledge, DuPont, W.L. Gore and 3M sell the majority of PEM fuel cell membranes and MEAs used

in PEM fuel cell systems today. In addition, some of our existing and potential customers have internal membrane and MEA development efforts.
These development efforts may result in membrane or MEA products that compete with our fuel cell products. Most of our competitors and potential
customers have substantially greater financial, research and development, manufacturing and sales and marketing resources than we do and may
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complete the research, development and commercialization of their PEM fuel cell membrane and MEA products more quickly and cost-effectively
than we can. In addition, most of our competitors have well-established customer and supplier relationships that may provide them with a competi-
tive advantage with respect to sales opportunities and discounts on materials.

The market for PV modules is competitive and continually evolving. As a new entrant to this market, we expect to face substantial competition from
companies such as SunPower Corporation, BP Solar International Inc., Evergreen Solar, Inc., Mitsubishi Electric Corporation, Q-Cells AG, Renew-
able Energy Corporation ASA, Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd., Sharp Electronics Corp., SolarWorld AG, Suntech Power Holdings Co., Ltd., and other new
and emerging companies in Asia, North America and Europe. All of our known competitors are established players in the solar industry, and have a
stronger market position than ours and have larger resources and recognition than we have. In addition, universities, research institutions and other
companies are developing alternative technologies such as thin films and concentrators, which may compete with the products we are planning to
introduce. In addition, the PV module market in general competes with other sources of renewable energy and conventional power generation.

In the polysilicon market, we will also compete with companies such as Hemlock Semiconductor Corporation, Renewable Energy Corporation ASA,
Mitsubishi Polycrystalline Silicon America Corporation, Mitsubishi Materials Corporation, Tokuyama Corporation, MEMC Electronic Materials,
Inc., and Wacker Chemie AG. In addition, we believe new companies may be emerging in China and Eastern Europe, and new technologies, such

as fluidized bed reactors, are emerging, which may have significant cost and other advantages over the Siemens process we are planning to use to
manufacture polysilicon. These competitors may have longer operating histories, greater name recognition and greater financial, sales and marketing,
technical and other resources than us. If we fail to compete successfully, we may be unable to successfully enter the market for polysilicon and PV
modules.

If we are unable to meet recommended government operating specifications, the market for our fuel cell products may be limited.

The U.S. Department of Energy, in connection with the Solid State Energy Conversion Alliance, a partnership with the National Laboratories and the
fuel cell industry, has established 40,000 hours, which represents approximately 4 1/2 years of operation, and 5,000 hours as the commercial operat-
ing lifetime targets for fuel cell systems in residential primary stationary and automotive applications, respectively. We have demonstrated 2,000
hours of MEA operating lifetime under simulated fuel cell operating conditions. As the market for fuel cell systems develops, we expect that govern-
ments and regulatory bodies will establish more operating specifications, such as operating lifetime targets, power output targets and similar operat-
ing metrics. If we fail to meet existing or any future recommended operating specifications, the market for our fuel cell products may be limited.

Our business and industry are subject to government regulation, which may harm our ability to market our products.

Our and our customers’ fuel cell products are subject to federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations, including, for example, state and local
ordinances relating to building codes, public safety, electrical and gas pipeline connections, hydrogen siting and related matters. The level of regula-
tion may depend, in part, upon whether a PEM fuel cell system is placed outside or inside a home or business. As products are introduced into the
market commercially, governments may impose new regulations. We do not know the extent to which any such regulations may impact our or our
customers’ products. Any regulation of our or our customers’ products, whether at the federal, state, local or foreign level, including any regulations
relating to installation and use of our customers’ products, may increase our costs or the price of PEM fuel cell applications and could reduce or
eliminate demand for some or all of our or our customers’ products.

The market for electricity generation products is heavily influenced by foreign, federal, state and local government regulations and policies concern-
ing the electric utility industry, as well as policies promulgated by electric utilities. These regulations and policies often relate to electricity pricing
and technical interconnection of customer-owned electricity generation. In the United States and in a number of other countries, these regulations
and policies are being modified and may continue to be modified. Customer purchases of, or further investment in the research and development

of, alternative energy sources, including solar power technology, could be deterred by these regulations and policies, which could result in a signifi-
cant reduction in the potential demand for our PV modules. For example, without a regulatory mandated exception for solar power systems, utility
customers are often charged interconnection or standby fees for putting distributed power generation on the electric utility grid. These fees could
increase the cost to our customers of using our PV modules and make them less desirable, thereby harming our business, prospects, results of opera-
tions and financial condition.

We anticipate that our PV modules and their installation will be subject to oversight and regulation in accordance with national and local ordinances
relating to building codes, safety, environmental protection, utility interconnection and metering and related matters. It is difficult to track the require-
ments of individual states and design equipment to comply with the varying standards. Any new government regulations or utility policies pertaining
to our PV modules may result in significant additional expenses to us and our resellers and their customers and, as a result, could cause a significant
reduction in demand for our PV modules.

If the United States does not develop a new hydrogen production, delivery and refueling infrastructure, the market for fuel cell systems for
the automotive market may not develop.

As reported by the U.S. Department of Energy in a February 2003 report to Congress, a new hydrogen production, delivery and refueling infrastruc-
ture is necessary for automotive fuel cell technology to achieve its potential cost and environmental benefits. If this infrastructure is not developed,
the market for fuel cell technology for the automotive market, and our products, may not develop.

If favorable government policies encouraging the adoption of fuel cell technologies are eliminated or reduced, market acceptance of our fuel
cell products may be reduced or delayed.

The governments of the United States, Canada, Japan and certain European countries have provided funding to promote the development and use
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of fuel cells. Tax incentives have also been initiated in Japan and the United States to stimulate the growth of the fuel cell market by reducing the
cost of these fuel cell systems to consumers. If these countries reduce or eliminate their funding of fuel cell research and development, reduce their
purchases of fuel cell systems, adversely change their tax policies or fail to adopt favorable tax policies, the market for fuel cell systems would be
reduced. Any decrease in the market for fuel cell systems will decrease the demand for our Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes.

The reduction or elimination of government and economic incentives for PV modules and related products could reduce the market
opportunity for our planned PV module products.

We believe that the near-term growth of the market for on-grid applications, where solar power is used to supplement a customer’s electricity pur-
chased from the utility network, depends in large part on the availability and size of government incentives. Because we plan to sell to the on-grid
market, the reduction or elimination of government incentives may adversely affect the growth of this market or result in increased price competition,
both of which adversely affect our ability to compete in this market.

Today, the cost of solar power exceeds the cost of power furnished by the electric utility grid in many locations. As a result, federal, state and local
government bodies in many countries, most notably Germany, Japan and the United States, have provided incentives in the form of rebates, tax cred-
its and other incentives to end users, distributors, system integrators and manufacturers of solar power products to promote the use of solar energy

in on-grid applications and to reduce dependency on other forms of energy. These government economic incentives could be reduced or eliminated
altogether. For example, Germany has been a strong supporter of solar power products and systems and political changes in Germany could result in
significant reductions or eliminations of incentives, including the reduction of tariffs over time. Some solar program incentives expire, decline over
time, are limited in total funding or require renewal of authority. Net metering policies in Japan could limit the amount of solar power installed there.
Reductions in, or eliminations or expirations of, governmental incentives could result in decreased demand for PV products, and reduce the size of
the market for our planned PV module products. ’

Adverse events involving our fuel cell products or fuel cell systems could negatively affect consumer perceptions of us and the fuel cell
industry.

A well-publicized malfunction, design defect or perceived problem in our fuel cell products or fuel cell systems in general could harm the market’s
perception of fuel cell systems or our fuel cell products resulting in a decline in demand for fuel cell systems and for our products. We plan to con-
duct public demonstrations with our customers of PEM fuel cell systems that incorporate our Hoku MEA and Hoku Membrane products. If we or
our customers encounter problems or delays during these demonstrations, including technology or product failures, market acceptance of our fuel cell
products may be reduced or slowed.

Defects in our products could result in a loss of revenue, unexpected expenses and harm to our business reputation.

Our products are complex and must meet stringent quality requirements. Products as complex as ours may contain defects that are not detected until
after the products are shipped because we and our customers cannot test for all possible scenarios. These defects could cause us to incur significant
re-engineering costs and divert the attention of our engineering personnel from product development efforts. Defects could also trigger warranty
obligations and lead to product liability as a result of lawsuits against us or our customers.

Upon commercialization of our products, we may be required to indemnify our customers in some circumstances against liability from product de-
fects. A successful product liability claim against us could result in significant damage payments, which would negatively affect our financial results.

‘We may not be able to protect our intellectual property, and we could incur substantial costs defending ourselves against claims that our
products infringe on the proprietary rights of others.

Our ability to compete effectively will depend on our ability to protect our intellectual property rights with respect to our Hoku MEAs, Hoku Mem-
branes and manufacturing processes and any intellectual property we develop with respect to our PV module or polysilicon businesses. We rely in
part on patents, trade secrets and policies and procedures related to confidentiality to protect our intellectual property. However, much of our intel-
lectual property is not covered by any patent or patent application. Confidentiality agreements to which we are party may be breached, and we may
not have adequate remedies for any breach. Our trade secrets may also become known without breach of these agreements or may be independently
developed by our competitors. Our inability to maintain the proprietary nature of our technology and processes could allow our competitors to limit
or eliminate any of our potential competitive advantages. Moreover, our patent applications may not result in the grant of patents either in the United
States or elsewhere. Further, in the case of our issued patents or our patents that may issue, we do not know whether the claims allowed will be suf-
ficiently broad to protect our technology or processes. Even if some or all of our patent applications issue and are sufficiently broad, our patents may
be challenged or invalidated and we may not be able to enforce them. We could incur substantial costs in prosecuting or defending patent infringe-
ment suits or otherwise protecting our intellectual property rights. We do not know whether we have been or will be completely successful in safe-
guarding and maintaining our proprietary rights. Moreover, patent applications filed in foreign countries may be subject to laws, rules and procedures
that are substantially different from those of the United States, and any resulting foreign patents may be difficult and expensive to enforce. Further,
our competitors may independently develop or patent technologies or processes that are substantially equivalent or superior to ours. If we are found
to be infringing third-party patents, we could be required to pay substantial royalties and/or damages, and we do not know whether we will be able to
obtain licenses to use these patents on acceptable terms, if at all. Failure to obtain needed licenses could delay or prevent the development, manufac-
ture or sale of our products, and could necessitate the expenditure of significant resources to develop or acquire non-infringing intellectual property.

Asserting, defending and maintaining our intellectual property rights could be difficult and costly, and failure to do so might diminish our ability to

compete effectively and harm our operating results. We may need to pursue lawsuits or legal actions in the future to enforce our intellectual property

rights, to protect our trade secrets and domain names, and to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. If third parties pre-

pare and file applications for trademarks used or registered by us, we may oppose those applications and be required to participate in proceedings to
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determine priority of rights to the trademark.

We cannot be certain that others have not filed patent applications for technology covered by our issued patent or our pending patent applications or
that we were the first to invent technology because:

+ some patent applications in the United States may be maintained in secrecy until the patents are issued,
* patent applications in the United States and many foreign jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing; and
» publications in the scientific literature often lag behind actual discoveries and the filing of patents relating to those discoveries.

Competitors may have filed applications for patents, may have received patents and may obtain additional patents and proprietary rights relating

to products or technology that block or compete with our products and technology. Due to the various technologies involved in the development

of fuel cell systems, including membrane and MEA technologies, and PV products it is impracticable for us to affirmatively identify and review all
issued patents that may affect our products. Although we have no knowledge that our products and technology infringe any third party’s intellectual
property rights, we cannot be sure that we do not infringe any third party’s intellectual property rights. We may have to participate in interference
proceedings to determine the priority of invention and the right to a patent for the technology. Litigation and interference proceedings, even if they
are successful, are expensive to pursue and time-consuming, and we could use a substantial amount of our financial resources in either case.

The loss of any of our executive officers or the failure to attract or retain specialized technical and management personnel could impair our
ability to grow our business.

We are highly dependent on our executive officers, including Dustin M. Shindo, our Chairman of the Board of Directors, President and Chief Execu-
tive Officer, and Karl M. Taft I1I, our Chief Technology Officer. Due to the specialized knowledge that each of our executive officers possesses with
respect to our technology or operations, the loss of service of any of our executive officers would harm our business. We do not have employment
agreements with any of our executive officers, and each may terminate his employment without notice and without cause or good reason. In addition,
we do not carry key man life insurance on our executive officers.

All of our operations are currently located in Hawaii, which has a limited pool of qualified applicants for our specialized needs. Our future success
will depend, in part, on our ability to attract and retain qualified management and technical personnel, many of whom must be relocated from the
continental United States or other countries. In addition, we will need to hire and train specialized engineers to manage and operate our planned
polysilicon plant. We may not be successful in hiring or retaining qualified personnel. Our inability to hire qualified personnel on a timely basis, or
the departure of key employees, could harm our business.

We may have difficulty managing change in our operations, which could harm our business.

We continue to undergo rapid change in the scope and breadth of our operations as we seek to grow our business. Our planned entry into the PV
modules and polysilicon markets will involve a substantial change to our operations. Our potential growth will place a significant strain on our senior
management team and other resources. We will be required to make significant investments in our engineering, logistics, financial and management
information systems. In particular, we currently have limited resources dedicated to sales and marketing activities and will need to expand our sales
and marketing infrastructure to support our customers. Our planned entry into the PV modules and polysilicon markets will involve the construction
of a large scale chemical processing plant, increased international activities, and the increase in our headcount and operating costs by a significant
factor. Our business could be harmed if we encounter difficulties in effectively managing our planned growth. In addition, we may face difficulties
in our ability to predict customer demands accurately, which could strain our support staff and our ability to meet those demands.

If we are unable to manufacture our fuel cell products efficiently in significant volumes, we may continue to incur losses.

We have no experience manufacturing our fuel cell products in significant volumes. To date, we have focused primarily on research and development
and very low volume manufacturing. We have completed the move of our operations to a new approximately 14,000 square foot facility in Kapolei,
Hawaii and have completed the testing and installation of customized pieces of manufacturing equipment and other non-customized equipment for
the new facility; however, we have not yet begun manufacturing significant volumes of our fuel cell products with this new equipment. If the equip-
ment does not operate as designed, our ability to manufacture our fuel cell products in significant volumes will be delayed and our business would
suffer.

‘We may not be able to develop and implement efficient, low-cost manufacturing capabilities and processes that will enable us to manufacture our fuel
cell products in significant volumes while meeting the quality, price, durability, engineering, design and production standards required to market our
fuel cell products successfully. If we fail to develop and implement these manufacturing capabilities and processes, we may be unable to sell our fuel
cell products at a profit because the per unit cost of our fuel cell products is highly dependent upon production volumes and the level of automation in
our manufacturing processes.

Our production capacity expansion has increased our fixed costs. Even if we are successful in developing our manufacturing capabilities and pro-
cesses, we may be unable to increase our sales volumes to utilize the additional manufacturing capacity of our new facility, which would negatively
impact our gross margins and our ability to become profitable.

We rely on single suppliers and, if these suppliers fail to deliver materials that meet our quality requirements in a timely manner or at all, the
manufacture of our fuel cell and solar products would be limited.

We rely on single suppliers to provide certain materials, such as our platinum-based catalyst, porous carbon materials and a customized monomer,
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that we use to manufacture our Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes. We have not identified all of the potential suppliers for our planned PV module
and polysilicon products, and it is possible that we will rely on a limited number of suppliers, or a sole supplier, for key materials used in the produc-
tion of polysilicon, PV cells and PV modules. We are, or will be, dependent on these suppliers to provide us with materials in a timely manner that
meet our quality, quantity and cost requirements. If we lost one of these suppliers and were unable to obtain an alternate source on a timely basis or
on terms acceptable to us, our production schedules could be delayed and we could fail to meet our customers’ demands. In addition, to the extent
that our suppliers use technology or manufacturing processes that are proprietary, we may be unable to obtain comparable materials or components
from alternative sources. We procure some of our base materials for our fuel cell business from chemical and materials companies that are also our
competitors. It is highly likely that we will also procure materials for our planned PV module and polysilicon businesses from companies that are
also our competitors. These companies may choose in the future not to sell these materials to us at all, or may raise their prices to a level that would
prevent us from selling our products on a profitable basis.

We use materials that are considered hazardous in our manufacturing processes and, therefore, we could be liable for environmental dam-
ages resulting from our research, development or manufacturing operations.

We use solvents, volatile organic compounds and other materials in our membrane and MEA research and development and manufacturing processes
that are considered hazardous to the environment and a risk to public health and safety by federal and state regulatory authorities. We also use
hydrogen and oxygen, which are highly flammable gases, to test our fuel cell products. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may be
expensive, and current or future environmental regulations may increase our research and development or manufacturing costs and may require us to
halt or suspend our operations until we regain compliance. If we have an accident at our facility involving a spill or release of these substances, we
may be subject to civil and/or criminal penalties, including financial penalties and damages, and possibly injunctions preventing us from continuing
our operations. Any liability for penalties or damages, and any injunction resulting from damages to the environment or public health and safety,
could harm our business. We do not have any insurance for liabilities arising from the use and handling of hazardous materials.

In March 2006, we received a notification from the United States Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, of its intent to initiate an administra-
tive action against us for alleged violations of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act resulting from an inspection of our former facility in
Honolulu, Hawaii that was conducted by the EPA in November 2004. In April 2006, we began settlement discussions with the EPA, and, based on
these discussions, we recorded a liability of approximately $17,000. In June 2006, we agreed in principle to settle this dispute for an aggregate cash
payment of approximately $14,000. Final settlement is pending the official agreement from EPA, and entry of an order by EPA administrative judge.
However, there can be no assurance that we will settle this matter for this amount, if at all.

In addition, the manufacture of PV cells, PV modules and polysilicon will involve the use of materials that are hazardous to human health and the
environment, the storage, handling and disposal of which will be subject to government regulation.

Any significant and prolonged disruption of our operations in Hawaii could result in production delays that would reduce our revenue.

All of our operations are currently located in Hawaii, which is subject to the potential risk of earthquakes, hurricanes, tsunamis, floods and other
natural disasters. The occurrence of an earthquake, hurricane, tsunami, flood or other natural disaster at or near our facility in Hawaii could result in
damage, power outages and other disruptions that would interfere with our ability to conduct our business, including impairing our ability to develop
and manufacture our fuel cell products. Any significant and prolonged disruption resulting from these events would cause delays in the manufacture
and shipment of our fuel cell products.

Most of the materials we use must be delivered via air or sea, and some of the equipment used in our production process can only be delivered via
sea. Hawaii has a large union presence and has historically experienced labor disputes, including dockworker strikes that have prevented or delayed
" cargo shipments. Any future dispute that delays shipments via air or sea could prevent us from manufacturing or delivering our fuel cell products in
_time to meet our customers’ requirements, or might require us to seek alternative and more expensive freight forwarders or contract manufacturers,
which could increase our expenses.

We have significant international activities and customers that subject us to additional business risks, including increased logistical complex-
ity and regulatory requirements, which could result in a decline in our revenue.

Sales to companies in Japan accounted for substantially all of our revenue in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004. We anticipate that international sales will
continue to account for a significant percentage of our revenue. International sales can be subject to many inherent risks that are difficult or impos-
sible for us to predict or control, including:

+ political and economic instability;
+ unexpected changes in regulatory requirements and tariffs;
» difficulties and costs associated with staffing and managing foreign operations, including foreign distributor relationships;
+ longer accounts receivable collection cycles in certain foreign countries;
+ adverse economic or political changes;
« unexpected changes in regulatory requirements;
* more limited protection for intellectual property in some countries;
+ potential trade restrictions, exchange controls and import and export licensing requirements;
» U.S. and foreign government policy changes affecting the markets for our products;
+ problems in collecting accounts receivable; and
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+ potentially adverse tax consequences of overlapping tax structures.

All of our contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars. Therefore, increases in the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar to foreign currencies will cause our
products to become relatively more expensive to customers in those countries, which could lead to a reduction in sales or profitability in some cases.

Our stock price is volatile and purchasers of our common stock could incur substantial losses.

Our stock price is volatile and since our initial public offering on August 5, 2005 to June 19, 2006, our stock has traded in the range of $2.86 to
$13.43 per share. The stock market in general and the market for technology companies in particular have experienced extreme volatility that has
often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in
response to a number of factors, including:

+ variations in our financial results or those of our competitors and our customers;

+ announcements by us, our competitors and our customers of acquisitions, new products, significant contracts, commercial relationships
or capital commitments;

+ failure to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors with respect to our financial results;

+ our ability to develop and market new and enhanced products on a timely basis;

+ litigation;

« changes in our management;

+ changes in governmental regulations or in the status of our regulatory approvals;

+ future sales of our common stock by us and future sales of our common stock by our officers, directors and affiliates;
+ investors’ perceptions of us; and

+ general economic, industry and market conditions.

In addition, in the past, following periods of volatility and a decrease in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation
has often been instituted against the company. Class action litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our
management’s attention and resources.

Anti-takeover defenses that we have in place could prevent or frustrate attempts by stockholders to change our directors or management.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws may make it more difficuit for or prevent a third party from acquiring
contro] of us without the approval of our board of directors. These provisions:

+ establish a classified board of directors, so that not all members of our board of directors may be elected at one time;
 set limitations on the removal of directors;
+ limit who may call a special meeting of stockholders;

+ establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted
upon at stockholder meetings;

» prohibit stockholder action by written consent, thereby requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;
and

+ provide our board of directors the ability to designate the terms of and issue new series of preferred stock without stockholder approval.

These provisions may have the effect of entrenching our management team and may deprive investors of the opportunity to sell their shares to poten-
tial acquirers at a premium over prevailing prices. This potential inability to obtain a control premium could reduce the price of our common stock.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to Delaware anti-takeover provisions. Our board of directors could rely on Delaware law to prevent or
delay an acquisition.
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Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2.  Property

We own approximately 2.2 acres of land in Kapolei, Hawaii and constructed a building of approximately 14,000 square feet of combined office,
research and development, and manufacturing space on a portion of that land. In August 2005, we completed the move of our operations to our new
facility and in February 2006 completed a buyout of the operating lease in Honolulu, Hawaii where we were previously headquartered.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our operations. In March 2006, the United States Environmental
Protection Agency, or EPA, notified us of the EPA’s intent to bring an administrative action against for alleged violations of the Resource Conserva-
tion and Recovery Act, or RCRA, based on findings made by the EPA during an inspection of our Honolulu, Hawaii facility in November 2004, In
April 2006, we began settlement discussions with the EPA, and, based on these discussions, we recorded a liability of approximately $17,000. In
June 2006, we agreed in principle to settle this dispute for an aggregate cash payment of approximately $14,000. Final settlement is pending the of-
ficial agreement from EPA, and entry of an order by EPA administrative judge. However, there can be no assurance that we will settle this matter for
this amount, if at all. '

Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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PART II

Item S. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information

Our common stock has traded on The NASDAQ National Market, or NASDAQ, under the symbol “HOKU?” since August 5, 2005. The closing high
and low sales prices of our common stock, as reported by the NASDAQ), for the quarters indicated are as follows:

Sales prices

High Low
| Fiscal year ended March 31, 2006 : o |
Ist Quarter NA NA
| 2nd Quarter (from August 5, 2005) ‘ R T8 1280 S 536,
3rd Quarter $ 1265 $ 750
| 4th Quarter $ 1050 S 584

As of May 1, 2006, there were 40 stockholders of record of our common stock. Such number does not include beneficial owners holding shares
through nominee names.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the growth and
development of our business and, therefore, do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay
cash dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon our financial condition, operating results and capital require-
ments, any contractual restrictions and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
From April 1, 2005 through March 31, 2006, we sold and issued the following unregistered securities:

1. From April 1, 2005 through March 31, 2006, we granted options to purchase an aggregate of 26,667 shares of our common stock, at an
average exercise price of $6.00 per share, to our employees pursuant to our 2002 Stock Plan. During this period, options to purchase an
aggregate of 29,999 shares of our common stock related to our 2002 Stock Plan were cancelled without being exercised. Also during
this period, 3,333 options were exercised under our 2002 Stock Plan and 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.

2. From April 1, 2005 through March 31, 2006, warrants to purchase 183,332 shares of our common stock were exercised by three accred
ited investors for an aggregate purchase price of $21,250.

The sale and issuance of securities described in paragraph 1 above was deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, by virtue of Rule 701 promulgated thereunder in that they were offered and sold either pursuant to a written compensatory benefit plan or
pursuant to written contract relating to compensation, as provided by Rule 701.

The sale and issuance of securities in paragraph 2 above was deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, by
virtue of Section 4(2) and/or Regulation D promulgated thereunder.

Use of Proceeds from the Sale of Registered Securities

Our initial public offering of common stock was effected through a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-124423), that was declared
effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 5, 2005. We registered 4,830,000 shares of our common stock with a proposed
maximum aggregate offering price of $43.5 million, of which we sold 3,683,200 shares at $6.00 per share and an aggregate offering price of $22.1
million. The offering was completed after the sale of 3,683,200 shares. Piper Jaffray & Co. was the book-running managing underwriter of our initial
public offering and SG Cowen & Co., LLC and Thomas Weisel Partners LLC, acted as co-managers. Of this amount, $1.5 million was paid in un-
derwriting discounts and commissions, and an additional $2.0 million of expenses were incurred, of which $1.7 million and $317,000 were incurred
during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. None of the expenses were paid, directly or indirectly, to directors, officers or
persons owning 10% or more of our common stock, or to our affiliates. As of March 31, 2006, we had applied the aggregate net proceeds of $18.6
million from our initial public offering as follows:

» approximately $4.6 million was used for the construction and build-out of our combined office, research and development and manufac
turing facility and the purchase of production equipment;

+ approximately $4.4 million was used for working capital and
« the remainder of the net proceeds from the offering, approximately $9.6 million, remain invested in short-term investments accounts.
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The foregoing amounts represent our best estimate of our use of proceeds for the period indicated. No such payments were made to our directors or
officers or their associates, holders of 10% or more of any class of our equity securities or to our affiliates other than payments to officers for salaries
and bonuses in the ordinary course of business.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the notes thereto, and with Item 7, “Manage-
ment’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” The statement of operations data for the fiscal years ended March
31, 2006, March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2004 and the balance sheet data as of March 31, 2006 and March 31, 2005 have been derived from and
should be read in conjunction with our audited financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The statement of operations data for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 and inception to March 31, 2002 and the balance sheet data as of March
31, 2004, March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2002 is derived from audited financial statements and the notes thereto which are not included in this An-
nual Report on Form 10-K. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results.

March 23,
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2001
(Inception) to
March 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
i‘S‘tatement of Operations Data: I “ - ) h L . N:M
Revenue h F '
| Serviccandlioenserevene S 5505 S 2933 S 55 8 20 S -
- Government grant revenue - — h - 125 k —
3 Total revenue . 5505 2933 55 145 —
Cost of revenue »
Costof service and license revenwe y 954 48 3 = =
- Cost of government grant revenue S - - 84
_ Total cost ofrevenue N ; - 954 458 ~ 3 84 ' —
Gross margin - 4551 2475 52 61 -
Operanng expenses e e e - S e LT
~ Selling, generalén;i admmxstrétuupreunw)w I 2743 B 2132 o 2,009 o 2235 )
o Research and development ¢y ‘» o N ‘ 1,326 1,419 1,074 ;“M o313
~ Total operating expenses "‘ 4,069 3,551 3,083 2,968 82
Income (loss) fromoperations 4% (076 _ G0hH %D 6D
Interest and other income - o 594 . 98 15 - “7”6 -
Income (loss) before income tax benefit 1,076 (978) (3,016 291 5 (82)
Income tax benefir @ @) Qash (1) S (0.01)
- Netincome(loss) S 1344 §  (728) $ (2865 S8 S (0.0])
Basic net income (loss) per share $ 010 § 0.13) & 0.72) $(0.92) 6,172,777
 Diluted net income (loss) per share ' 3 009 § 0.13) § 0.72) $(0.92) 6,172,777
Shares used in computing basic net income (loss) per sha.re o 13,033,263 5,474,499 3,965,626 3,076,943
L§bg£e§ }15ed in computing diluted net income §19§§1 per §n§{ew 15,257,734 5,474,499 3,965,626 3,076,943
(1) Incln_&ee;tock based compensatlon as follows: ) o
Cost of service and license revenue $ 38 $ o 24§ - $ - $ -
" Selling, general and administrative o wm 979 L3 180  —
Research and development 146 261 212 B 327 -
 Toml , S 1056 § 1264 S 1325 2,187 S -
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As of March 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

(in thousands)

) Balance VSi;e'et bata: i

Cash, éash equivalents and short-term investments $ 22,688 $ 4,159 $ 3,201 $ 766 $ 61
Working capital N 21,036 3,688 2,525 762 26
“Total assets 32,083 10,782 4,137 969 90

3’ I:bhé-term obligations - 5 15 93 - J'

Total stockholders’ equity 27392 6,232 3,056 785 26

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview

Hoku Scientific is a materials science company focused on clean energy technologies. We have historically focused our efforts on the design and
development of fuel cell technologies, including our Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes. In May 2006, we announced our plans to form an inte-
grated photovoltaic, or PV, module business, and our plans to manufacture polysilicon, a primary material used in the manufacture of PV modules, to
complement our fuel cell business. We currently intend to reorganize our business into three business units: Hoku Fuel Cells, Hoku Solar and Hoku
Materials.

Hoku Fuel Cells. We intend to operate our fuel cell business under the name Hoku Fuel Cells, which will continue to develop and manufacture mem-
brane electrode assemblies, or Hoku MEA, and membranes for proton exchange membrane, or PEM fuel cells powered by hydrogen. Hoku MEAs
are designed for the residential primary power, commercial back-up, and automotive hydrogen fuel cell markets. To date, our customers have not
commercially deployed products incorporating Hoku MEAs or Hoku Membranes, and we have not sold any products commercially.

Hoku Solar. Our new PV business, Hoku Solar, initially plans to have annual production capacity of 30 megawatts, or MW, of PV modules. Our
plan is to include PV cell manufacturing with a PV module assembly line to form an integrated PV module business. We anticipate the availability
of PV modules beginning in the second half of calendar year 2007.

Hoku Materials. To ensure an adequate supply of polysilicon for Hoku Solar’s cells and modules, we intend to form Hoku Materials to manufacture
this key material for consumption by Hoku Solar and for sale to the larger solar and integrated circuit markets. We are initially planning for produc-
tion capacity of 1,500 metric tons of polysilicon per year. We anticipate the availability of polysilicon beginning in the second half of calendar year
2008.

We were incorporated in Hawaii in March 2001, were reincorporated in Delaware in December 2004 and have a limited operating history. Our head-
quarters are in Kapolei, Hawaii. We had net income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006; however, we previously incurred net losses in each
other fiscal year since our inception.

Financial Operations Review
Revenue

To date, we have derived substantially all of our revenue from Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd., or Sanyo, and Nissan Motor Co., Ltd., or Nissan, through
contracts related to testing and engineering services. We have pursued engineering service contracts in order to strategically fund integration of our
technology into our customers’ products. We anticipate our revenue in fiscal 2007 to be principally comprised of service and license revenue from
Nissan and the U.S. Navy. Revenue under our service contracts are recognized based on the last deliverable as the contracts contain multiple ele-
ments. Revenue under our license contracts is recognized upon shipment of the associated licensed products.

Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd.. In March 2003, we entered into a contract with Sanyo to jointly develop a MEA assembly process using our Hoku Mem-
branes for integration into Sanyo’s stationary fuel cell systems. The contract also granted Sanyo a license to our MEA assembly process to produce
any non-Hoku MEA provided that Sanyo utilizes Hoku Membranes in its non-Hoku MEA. The term of the contract ends in September 2009, but will
automatically renew for an additional five years unless we and Sanyo agree not to renew it. We have satisfied all of the performance milestones un-
der the contract for which Sanyo has paid us a total of $2.5 million that was recognized as service and license revenue in fiscal 2005. In fiscal 2006,
we recognized $2,000 under the license agreement granted to Sanyo pursuant to the contract for product deliveries. In addition, in June 2003, Sanyo
purchased 333,333 shares of our Series B preferred stock at $3.00 per share which automatically converted to common stock upon the completion of
our initial public offering in August 2005.

In December 2005, we entered into a material transfer and collaborative testing agreement with Sanyo, or the Testing Agreement, to allow Sanyo

to conduct additional testing of newer versions of our Hoku Membrane and Hoku MEA products. We also agreed to collaborate with Sanyo on the
testing of these products. In February 2006, pursuant to the Testing Agreement, Sanyo paid us a service and license fee of $260,000 for our collabo-
ration work, which does not include the cost of our products to be ordered by Sanyo for testing which will be invoiced separately. Revenue will be
recognized ratably over the duration of the contract as engineering services are rendered, and for product deliveries also ratably from the delivery
date to the expected completion of the engineering services pursuant to the contract, which is July 31, 2006. As of March 31, 2006, we had recog-
nized $111,000 as revenue with the remaining $149,000 recorded as deferred revenue.
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The Testing Agreement allows Sanyo to evaluate newer versions of our membrane and MEA products that have been developed since completion of
the collaboration portion of the previous contract, and provides us with additional funding for our collaboration with Sanyo on this testing. No rights
or licenses to our products are being granted to Sanyo as a result of this Testing Agreement, and this Testing Agreement does not alter or amend any
of the rights and licenses agreed to in our previous agreement with Sanyo.

We expect that our Testing Agreement with Sanyo, which ends in July 2006, will be our final engineering service contract with Sanyo for the foresee-
able future. As aresult, it is likely that we will not receive any meaningful revenue from Sanyo unless or until we begin selling to Sanyo commercial
quantities of our Hoku Membrane or Hoku MEA products. We cannot predict when such sales will occur, if at all.

Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. In March 2004, we entered into a testing and evaluation contract with Nissan under which we were paid $100,000. This con-
tract was amended in May 2004 to provide for additional testing and ended in September 2004 upon completion of the testing.

In September 2004, we entered into two contracts with Nissan, an engineering contract to customize our Hoku MEAs for integration into Nissan’s
automotive fuel cells and a membrane and MEA purchase contract. In connection with executing the engineering contract, Nissan paid us $400,000.
The engineering contract ended in accordance with its terms in March 2005. Under the purchase contract, we also agreed to deliver our Hoku MEAs
and Hoku Membranes to Nissan in exchange for $1.3 million. This contract was scheduled to expire in March 2005. However, we verbally modified
the contract and delivered the remaining Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes on a purchase order basis with the last delivery made in December 2005.
We recognized revenue of $1.4 million and $327,000 during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, under these contracts.

In March 2005, we entered into a collaboration contract with Nissan to develop customized Hoku MEAs and a Hoku MEA assembly process for use
in Nissan’s automotive filel cells. Under the collaboration contract, Nissan was obligated to pay us $2.8 million upon execution of the contract which
was recorded as deferred revenue as of March 31, 2005. We received payment from Nissan in May 2005. Revenue was recognized ratably over

the duration of the contract as the engineering services were rendered and for product deliveries also ratably from the delivery date to the expected
completion of the engineering services pursuant to the collaboration contract, which was December 31, 2005. Nissan was obligated to pay us an
additional $240,000 upon verification from Nissan that all engineering services had been received. In January 2006, Nissan verified that all engineer-
ing services had been completed under the collaboration agreement and $240,000 was recognized as revenue. We received payment from Nissan in

. March 2006.

Under the collaboration contract, we granted Nissan a license to the final MEA product and the final MEA product assembly process, so that Nissan
can manufacture the final MEA product developed under this contract using our processes and incorporating Hoku Membranes purchased from us.
We retain all intellectual property related to the Hoku Membranes, Hoku MEAs and the final MEA product assembly process developed under this
collaboration contract.

In January 2006, we entered into a Step 3 Collaboration contract with Nissan, or Step 3 Contract, to further develop customized Hoku MEAs and a
Hoku MEA assembly process for use in Nissan’s automotive fuel cells. We will provide work pursuant to the Step 3 Contract between January 1,
2006 and September 30, 2006. Under the Step 3 Contract, Nissan was obligated to pay us $2.7 million upon execution of the contract and an addi-
tional $240,000 on July 31, 2006 for the work we perform. Nissan paid us $2.7 million in March 2006. The payments above do not include the cost
of our products to be ordered by Nissan for testing that will be invoiced separately. Revenue was recognized ratably over the duration of the contract
as engineering services were rendered, and for product deliveries also ratably from the delivery date to the expected completion of the engineering
services pursuant to the Step 3 Contract, which is September 30, 2006. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006, we recognized $983,000 as
revenue and recorded $1.7 million as deferred revenue as of March 31, 2006.

Under the Step 3 Contract, we granted Nissan a non-exclusive license to the final MEA product and the final MEA product assembly process devel-
oped by Hoku to enable Nissan to manufacture MEA products using our processes and incorporating Hoku Membranes. We retain title to our Hoku
Membranes, Hoku MEAs and the final MEA product assembly process developed under this agreement. We also agreed not to sell separately any of
our products incorporated into our Hoku MEAs to any automotive company for any commercial purpose, other than testing and evaluation of these
products, until September 30, 2006. There are no such restrictions on our ability to sell our Hoku MEAs to automotive companies other than the
Hoku MEA we are presently developing with Nissan. Nissan has no obligation under the Step 3 Contract to sell or promote our products.

Nissan may terminate our Step 3 Contract if we materially breach the contract without curing the breach within 30 days, or if we are insolvent or peti-
tion in bankruptcy. A failure to achieve technical milestones is not a material breach under the contract. Nissan could declare us in material breach

of the Step 3 Contract if we fail to manufacture and deliver our products to Nissan, if we violate the confidentiality provisions of the contract or if

we materially breach any other covenant deemed material to our obligations under the contract. If Nissan terminates the Step 3 Contract for any of
these reasons, we are required to grant Nissan a license to the final MEA product under the contract, which may only be used by Nissan to make this
product and to use our product assembly process to manufacture products incorporating Hoku Membranes.

We expect that our Step 3 Contract with Nissan, which ends in September 2006, will be our final engineering service contract with Nissan for the
foreseeable future. As a result, it is likely that we will not receive any meaningful revenue from Nissan unless or until we begin selling to Nissan
commercial quantities of our Hoku Membrane or Hoku MEA products. We cannot predict when such sales will occur, if at all.

U.S. Navy - Naval Air Warfare Center Weapons Division. In March 2005, we were awarded a contract with the U.S. Navy to develop and demon-
strate a PEM fuel cell power plant prototype that incorporates our Hoku MEAs within IdaTech, LLC, or IdaTech, fuel cell stacks and integrated fuel
cell systems. IdaTech is a subsidiary of IDACORP, Inc., a publicly-traded energy and technology holding company. Under the contract, the U.S.
Navy agreed to pay us up to an aggregate of $2.1 million if and when we complete specified testing and performance milestones, as described below.
As of March 31, 2006, we had completed all seven milestones including the construction and testing of a prototype.

The U.S. Navy agreed on September 30, 2005 that when we completed the seven milestones under the contract, the last three of which were com-
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pleted in December 2005, it would proceed with both of its options. The first option is to manufacture 11 fuel cell power plants for which the U.S.
Navy has agreed to pay us a total of $1.1 million in installments as each fuel cell power plant is completed. The second is to have us operate and
maintain 10 of the 11 fuel cell power plants manufactured under the first option for a period of 12 months at a U.S. Navy facility, for which the U.S.
Navy has agreed to pay us a total of $1.4 million in monthly installments beginning at the time each of the 10 fuel cell power plants are placed into
service. The initial contract and the two options that the U.S. Navy have exercised will be accounted for as a single unit of accounting, with revenue
recognition to occur in monthly installments at the time each of the 10 fuel cell power plants are placed into service over the period of the second op-
tion. Since the fuel cell power plants have not been placed in service, the $2.1 million is classified as deferred revenue as of March 31, 2006.

As of June 2006, the U.S. Navy has officially accepted the first 5 of the 10 fuel cell power plants incorporating our Hoku MEA that will be used as
part of the demonstration. Also, in June 2006, the demonstration site selection, preparation and logistics for the second option were finalized with the
U.S. Navy, and we began the demonstration of 2 power plants. We expect to complete the installation and commence the demonstration of all 8 of
the additional fuel cell power plants for the U.S. Navy by September 2006.

In connection with the U.S. Navy’s exercise of its options, on September 30, 2005, we notified IdaTech of our intent to extend our subcontract with
them to build an additional 11 fuel cell power plants incorporating Hoku MEA, for which we have agreed to pay IdaTech $473,000, and to provide
services in connection with the operation and maintenance of 10 of these fuel cell power plants over a 12-month period, for which we have agreed to
pay IdaTech $125,000.

On March 2, 2006, we entered into an Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contract with the U.S. Navy pursuant to which the U.S. Navy

has extended the delivery date of its two options from March 2006 to September 2006 and March 2007 to September 2007 for options one and two,
respectively. In addition, the total cost of the contract was decreased by $8,000. The change was primarily due to a delay in finalizing the demonstra-
tion site selection, preparation and logistics for the second option with the U.S. Navy.

We retain all intellectual property related to our Hoku Membranes and Hoku MEAs. We retain the rights to any invention that is conceived while
performing the work under this contract; however, the U.S. Government has a non-exclusive, non-transferable, irrevocable, paid-up license to use the
invention throughout the world. This contract is ongoing, but the U.S. Navy may terminate the contract, in whole or in part, if it is determined that
the termination is in the U.S. Government’s interest.

IdaTech, LLC. In April 2005, we entered into a subcontract with IdaTech to specify the work that IdaTech will perform in connection with our prime
contract with the U.S. Navy. We selected IdaTech based upon its focus on stationary applications, integrated fuel processor technology and experi-
ence in developing and demonstrating fuel cell technologies for the U.S. Department of Defense. Under the subcontract, IdaTech agreed to provide
the necessary personnel, facilities, equipment, materials, data, supplies and services to integrate our Hoku MEAs within IdaTech’s fuel cell stacks
and integrated fuel cell systems. We have agreed to pay IdaTech $380,000 in installments upon completion of certain phases outlined in this contract.
The contract was extended when the U.S. Navy exercised the options described above. In accordance with the contract extension, we agreed to pay
IdaTech $473,000 to purchase an additional 11 fuel cell power plants. We have also agreed to pay IdaTech $125,000, because the U.S. Navy exer-
cised its option to have us operate and maintain 10 fuel cell power plants. This contract will terminate if our contract with the U.S. Navy terminates,
in which case we are required to pay IdaTech for costs incurred up to the date of termination.

On March 7, 2006, we entered into Amendment No. | to our agreement with IdaTech pursuant to which the statement of work in our subcontract with
IdaTech was revised to allow us to complete the assembly of the IdaTech fuel cell stack, and the final integration of the stack into the IdaTech fuel
cell system at our facility in Kapolei, Hawaii. In addition, the schedule of deliverables was amended to provide for the delay in commencement of
the U.S. Navy demonstration described above, and the total cost of the subcontract was reduced by $10,000.

Additional Customers. We are performing test, evaluation and/or development work with a total of eleven customers including Sanyo, Nissan and the
U.S. Navy, which includes IdaTech. The eight additional customers have purchased our Hoku Membrane and/or Hoku MEAs for testing and evalua-
tion. We are actively continuing discussions with a twelfth original equipment manufacturer that previously tested earlier versions of Hoku Mem-
branes and Hoku MEAs regarding future testing of newer versions of these products. We have not disclosed the names of these customers; however,
these customers are focused on building stacks and systems for automotive and/or stationary fuel cell applications. We now have product testing
relationships with customers in the United States, Canada, Japan, Korea and Germany.

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue consists primarily of employee compensation, including stock-based compensation, and supplies and materials. In fiscal 2006,
we began allocating overhead to our cost of revenue. Such costs were immaterial in all prior fiscal years. We expect our cost of revenue to increase
on an absolute basis as our product manufacturing activities and revenue increase.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Our selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of employee compensation, including stock-based compensation for executive,
sales and marketing, finance and administrative personnel. Other significant costs include insurance costs and professional fees for accounting, legal
and consulting services. We expect our selling, general and administrative expenses to increase significantly due to increased staffing and the costs
associated with operating as a publicly traded company. In addition, we expect our selling, general and administrative expenses to increase by a sig-
nificant factor as a result of our planned entry into the PV module and polysilicon markets.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation, including stock-based compensation, for research and development
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personnel. Other significant costs include facility costs, the cost of supplies and materials and depreciation. We expense research and develop-
ment expenses as they are incurred. We expect our research and development expenses to increase significantly as we enhance our current products,
research new products and hire additional employees. In addition, we expect to invest in the research and development of new solar products, which
will result in a significant increase in our research and development expenses in the future.

Results of Operations
Fiscal Year 2006 vs. Fiscal Year 2005

Revenue. Revenue was $5.5 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $2.9 million for fiscal 2005. The increase of $2.6 million in fiscal 2006 was primar-
ily due to the recognition of service and license revenue from Nissan of $5.4 million compared to $427,000 in the same period in fiscal 2005. The
increase was offset by the decrease in the recognition of service and license revenue from Sanyo of $113,000 for fiscal 2006 compared to $2.5 million
in fiscal 2005.

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue was $954,000 for fiscal 2006 compared to $458,000 for fiscal 2005. The increase of $496,000 was due to increased
costs related to our contracts with Nissan. The costs associated with the contracts consisted of manufacturing expenses, including employee compen-
.sation which includes stock-based compensation and supplies and materials.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses were $2.7 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $2.1
million for fiscal 2005. The increase of $600,000 was primarily due to additional payroll expense and stock-based compensation to the executive
officers in accordance with the Calendar Year 2005 Executive Incentive Compensation Plan and the hiring of financial personnel of $1.1 million. In
addition, there were increases to insurance premiums of $258,000, professional fees consisting principally of accounting, legal, consulting and other
service fees of $258,000, and costs associated with the write-off of leasehold improvements and lease buyout associated with our former facility in
Honolulu, Hawaii of $134,000 in the aggregate. The increase was offset by a reduction in stock-based compensation of $602,000 related to the of-
ficers’ common stock that was subject to our repurchase right. The increase was further offset by $443,000 related to the redeployment of personnel
(e.g. payroll related costs) and the application of other direct and indirect charges previously captured in selling, general and administrative expenses
prior to establishment of contracts, to existing customer contracts which have been recorded in costs of uncompleted contracts or cost of service and
license revenue. The remaining difference is due to various decreases in selling, general and administrative expenses including a $37,000 decrease
for loan expenses.

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses were $1.3 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $1.4 million for fiscal
2005. The decrease of $100,000 was primarily due to $568,000 related to the redeployment of personnel (e.g. payroll related costs), supplies and
other costs, which were previously captured in research and development expenses prior to establishment of contracts to existing customer contracts
- that have been recorded in costs of uncompleted contracts or cost of service and license revenue, and by a reduction in stock-based compensation
of $214,000 related to the officers’ common stock that was subject to our repurchase right. The decrease was offset by the write-off of leasehold
improvements and the lease buyout associated with our former facility in Honolulu, Hawaii of $423,000 in the aggregate. The decrease was further
offset by additional payroll expense and stock-based compensation to an executive officer in accordance with the Calendar Year 2005 Executive
Incentive Compensation Plan and hiring of research and development personnel of $315,000. The remaining difference is due to various decreases in
* research and development expenses.

" Interest and Other Income. Interest and other income was $594,000 for fiscal 2006 compared to $98,000 for fiscal 2005. The increase of $496,000
was primarily due to higher cash equivalent and short-term investment balances and, to a lesser extent, higher interest rates earned on short-term
investments.

Fiscal Year 2005 vs. Fiscal Year 2004

Revenue. Revenue was $2.9 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $55,000 for fiscal 2004. The increase of $2.8 million was primarily due to the
completion of service contracts with Sanyo and Nissan for $2.5 million and $177,000, respectively. In fiscal 2005, we also recognized $256,000 in
service and license revenue, substantially all of which came from product licenses to Nissan.

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue was $458,000 for fiscal 2005 compared to $3,000 for fiscal 2004. The increase of $455,000 was primarily due to
the costs related to service and license contracts with Sanyo and Nissan.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses were $2.1 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $2.0
million for fiscal 2004. The $100,000 increase was primarily due to an increase in compensation expense of $69,000 as we raised salaries and added
finance and administrative personnel, higher professional fees of $58,000 related to patent protection, higher bank charges of $37,000 related to a
credit facility application fee and higher facility costs of $19,000. These costs were offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation expense of
$134,000.

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses were $1.4 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $1.1 million for the same
period in 2004. The increase of $300,000 was primarily due to an increase in compensation expense of $124,000 as we added research and devel-
opment personnel, an increase in facility and depreciation expenses of $94,000 as we expanded our operations, higher stock-based compensation
expense of $49,000, and increased material and supply costs of $47,000.

Interest and Other Income. Interest and other income was $98,000 for fiscal 2005 compared to $15,000 for fiscal 2004. The increase of $83,000 was
primarily due to higher cash equivalent and short-term investment balances and, to a lesser extent, higher interest rates earned on short-term invest-
ments.

29




Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, or SFAS No. 109, Ac-
counting for Income Taxes, which establishes financjal accounting and reporting standards for the effect of income taxes. In accordance with SFAS
No. 109, we recognize federal and state current tax liabilities or assets based on our estimate of taxes payable to or refundable by each tax jurisdiction
in the current fiscal year. After considering the estimated book to tax differences, utilization of net operating loss carryforwards and available credits
for the year ended March 31, 2006, we recorded an income tax benefit of $268,000 for fiscal year ended March 31, 2006.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are established for the temporary differences between the financial reporting bases and the tax bases of our assets
and liabilities at the tax rates we expect to be in effect when these deferred tax assets or liabilities are anticipated to be recovered or settled. Our
ultimate realization of deferred tax assets depends upon the generation of future taxable income during periods in which those temporary differences
become deductible. Based on the best available objective evidence, it is more likely than not that our remaining net deferred tax assets will not be
realized. Accordingly, we continue to provide a valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2006.

As of March 31, 2006, total deferred tax assets were principally comprised of deferred revenue which was primarily comprised of $710,000 for the
completion of the seven milestones specified under the U.S. Navy contract and deferred tax liabilities comprised of costs of uncompleted contracts
of $771,000 related to the U.S. Navy contract. Any net operating loss carryforwards that have not been utilized will begin to expire in the fiscal year
ending March 31, 2024. Further, the utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to annual limitations pursuant to Section 382
of the Internal Revenue Code, and similar state provisions, as a result of changes in our ownership structure. Annual limitations might result in the
expiration of net operating loss carryforwards prior to utilization.

During fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, we qualified as a “Hawaii Qualified High Technology Business,” which provides certain tax credits to us for
qualified research and experimentation, or R&E costs. We estimated Hawaii R&E tax credits in the amount of approximately $286,000, $257,000
and $155,000 during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. As our business transitions from research and experimenta-
tion to commercial production, we will no longer qualify for additional tax credits through this program.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
estimates and assumptions relating to the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. We evaluate our estimates and
judgments on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Our management has discussed the development and selection of these critical accounting policies and estimates with the audit
committee of our board of directors and the audit committee has reviewed our disclosures relating to our critical accounting policies and estimates in
this report. Actual results may differ from these estimates. ‘

While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in note 1 to notes to financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, we believe that the following accounting policies and estimates are critical to a full understanding and evaluation of our reported
financial results.

Revenue Recognition. We recognize revenue under Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition, when there is evidence of an arrange-
ment, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the arrangement fee is fixed or determinable and collectibility of the arrangement fee is
reasonably assured.

We have entered into multiple-element arrangements that include testing and engineering services and license rights for our customers to perform
their own testing and evaluation of our Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes, Historically, these arrangements have called for an upfront payment of a
portion of the arrangement fee with remaining payments due over the service periods and/or as the Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes are delivered
over the license period. We account for these arrangements as a single unit of accounting in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No.
00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables, because we have not established fair values for the undelivered elements. Therefore, the
engineering and testing revenue has been combined with the Hoku MEA and Hoku Membrane revenue to form a single unit of accounting for pur-
poses of revenue recognition. Revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement or the expected period of performance in compliance
with the specific arrangement terms.

We also provide testing and engineering services to customers pursuant to milestone-based contracts that are not multi-element arrangements. These
contracts sometimes provide for periodic invoicing as we complete a milestone. Customer acceptance is usually required prior to invoicing. We
recognize revenue for these arrangements under the completed contract method in accordance with Statement of Position 81-1, Accounting for
Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts. Under the completed-contract method, we defer the contract fulfillment
costs and any advance payments received from the customer and recognize the costs and revenue in our statement of operations once the contract is
complete and the final customer acceptance, if required, has been obtained.

Stock-Based Compensation. We account for stock-based employee compensation arrangements using the fair value method in accordance with the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), or SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payments, and Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 107, Share-Based Payments, We account for stock options issued to non-employees in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123, or SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and Emerging Issues Task Force No. 96-18, Account-
ing for Equity Instruments with Variable Terms That Are Issued for Consideration Other Than Employee Services Under FASB Statement No. 123.
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The fair value of stock options granted to employees and non-employees is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Black-
Scholes option pricing model requires the input of several assumptions including the expected life of the option and the expected volatility of the
option at the time the option is granted as well as the input of the fair value of our stock at the date of grant of the stock option. The fair value is
amortized over the requisite service period, which is generally five years. Prior to our initial public offering, there was an absence of an active market
for our common stock, our board of directors estimated the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant of the stock option based on several
factors, including progress and milestones achieved in our business and sales of our preferred stock. We did not obtain contemporaneous valuations
from a valuation specialist during this period. Subsequent to our initial public offering, the fair market value is based on the active market for our
common stock.

In addition, we have assumed a volatility of 100% based on competitive benchmarks and management judgment and an expected life of 7.5 years,
the average of the typical vesting period and the option’s contractual life. Changes in these inputs and assumptions can materially affect the measure
of the estimated fair value of our stock options. In addition, this accounting estimate is reasonably likely to change from period to period as further
stock options are granted and adjustments are made for stock option forfeitures and cancellations. In accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), we do not
record any deferred stock-based compensation on our balance sheet for our stock options.

In accordance with the Calendar Year 2005 Executive Incentive Compensation Plan, or the 2005 Plan, the independent members of our board of
directors, or independent members, determined that each executive officer would receive additional compensation equal to 120% of that executive
officer’s annual base salary as of July 8, 2005. In December 2005, the independent members determined that 80% was to be allocated to cash and
20% was to be allocated to a fully-vested stock award. In December 2005, we recorded a stock-based compensation expense of $118,000, which
represents the cash value of the stock awards issued to the executive officers. We recorded total stock-based compensation expense, which includes
expenses related to common stock subject to repurchase and the 2005 Plan stock award of $1.1 million and $1.3 million for fiscal 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

We expect to incur an aggregate of $2.1 million of future stock-based compensation expense associated with unvested stock options outstanding as
of March 31, 2006 through fiscal 2011 as set forth in the table below. We expect that some of the amounts noted below will be included as costs of
delivering our products and services and as such, will be deferred and recognized as cost of revenue in conjunction with the recognition of revenue.

Twelve Months Ending March 31,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Total
(in thousands)
5692 5643 5419 8B si6 82055

We expect our stock-based compensation expense from stock options to increase as we expand our operations and hire new employees. These ex-
penses will increase our overall expenses and may increase our losses for the foreseeable future. As stock-based compensation is a non-cash expense,
it will not have any effect upon our liquidity or capital resources.

Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities. As of September 30, 2005, in accordance with Statement of Financial Account-
ing Standards No. 146, or SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities, we recorded a $56,000 liability for lease
termination costs associated with our Honolulu lease, the location of our former headquarters. The liability was determined based upon the amount
of the remaining lease payments less the amount that could reasonably be obtained through subleasing the property. We expected this liability to be
satisfied during the quarter ended December 31, 2005, however, we were not able to find a suitable sublessee. As a result, we recorded an additional
liability of $241,000 as of December 31, 2005. The additional liability was based on the expected cost to buyout the lease. In February 2006, we
exercised our lease buyout option and incurred an additional $18,000 as part of the buyout. In fiscal 2006, we recorded an aggregate of $315,000 as
lease termination costs associated with the lease. As of March 31, 2006, we have no further obligations as it relates to this operating lease.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS No. 154,
Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3. SFAS No. 154 requires retrospective
application for voluntary changes in accounting principle unless it is impracticable to do so. In addition, indirect effects of a change in accounting
principle should be recognized in the period of the accounting change. SFAS No. 154 is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors
made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. We do not expect SFAS No. 154 to have a material effect on our financial position or results
of operations.

Variability of Results

Our revenue, operating results and cash flows depend upon the size and timing of customer orders and payments and the dates of product deliveries
and achievement of contractual milestones. We recognize contract revenue and related costs upon contract completion and customer acceptance and
service and license revenue and related costs systematically over the term of the arrangement or the expected period of performance in compliance
with the specific arrangement terms. These methods of revenue recognition often result in our receiving payment from a customer and deferring

the recognition of the revenue and related costs of uncompleted contracts for some period of time until the milestones are achieved and accepted by
the customer and/or the products are delivered. As a result, a new contract may not result in revenue in the quarter or year in which the contract is
signed, and we may not be able to predict accurately when revenue and related costs from a contract will be recognized. Any failure or delay in our
ability to meet contractual milestones and/or deliver our products to our customers may harm our operating results. Since our operating expenses are
based on anticipated revenue and cash flows from contracts and because a high percentage of these expenses are relatively fixed, a delay in revenue
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and cash flows from one or more contracts could cause significant variations in operating results from quarter to quarter and cause unexpected results.
Revenue from contracts that do not meet our revenue recognition policy requirements for which we have been paid or have a valid account receivable
are recorded as deferred revenue. Our future operating results and cash flows will depend on many factors, including the following:

» the size and timing of customer orders, milestone achievement, product delivery and customer acceptance, if required;

* our success in maintaining and enhancing existing strategic relationships and developing new strategic relationships with potential
customers;

* our ability to protect our intellectual property;

* actions taken by our competitors, including new product introductions and pricing changes;
+ the costs of maintaining and expanding our operations;

+ customer budget cycles and changes in these budget cycles; and

+ external economic and industry conditions.

As a result of these factors, we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations are not necessarily meaningful and should not
be relied upon as indications of future performance.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We had net income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006; however, we previously incurred net losses in each other fiscal year since our inception.
As of March 31, 2006, we had an accumulated deficit of $5.2 million. Fluctuations in quarterly revenue are expected to continue in future periods
due to uncertainty regarding the level and the timing of revenue from customer contracts and achievement of contract milestones. In addition, we
expect that we will need to increase our efforts in supporting our new contracts, in developing our next generation products and in growing our
customer base. In addition, we will need to raise approximately $250 million to successfully complete our planned construction of PV modules and
polysilicon manufacturing facilities. The result is that we expect our costs to increase significantly, which may result in further losses on a quar-
terly or annual basis. Through July 2005, we funded our operations principally from private placements of equity securities, raising aggregate gross
proceeds of $7.8 million, and cash payments from our customers for testing and engineering services and delivery of products for test and evaluation.
In August 2005, we issued 3,500,000 shares of common stock at $6.00 per share upon the closing of our initial public offering raising approximately
$17.6 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and initial public offering costs. In September 2005, the underwriters exercised their
over-allotment option to purchase an additional 183,200 shares of common stock at the public offering price of $6.00 per share raising $1.0 million,
net of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering costs.

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities.  Net cash provided by operating activities was $4.5 million and $301,000 in fiscal 2006 and
2005, respectively, and the net cash used by operating activities in fiscal 2004 was $766,000. The net cash provided by operating activities in fiscal
2006 primarily refiected the net income and non-cash stock-based compensation. The net cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2005 primar-
ily reflected the net loss offset by non-cash stock-based compensation. In addition, accounts receivables recorded in fiscal 2005 were received in
fiscal 2006 and there was a significant increase in costs of uncompleted contracts primarily related to the U.S. Navy in fiscal 2006. The net cash used
in operating activities in fiscal 2004 primarily reflected the net loss offset by non-cash stock-based compensation.

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities.  Net cash used in investing activities was $25.5 million, $1.2 million and $2.1 million in fiscal 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively. Net cash used in investing activities in fiscal 2006 was primarily related to purchases of short-term investments and the
addition of property and equipment, including $4.6 million for the construction and build-out of a combined office, research and development and
manufacturing facility. Net cash used in investing activities in fiscal 2005 was primarily related to the purchase of property and equipment, including
$1.4 million to purchase property upon which we built our combined office, research and development and manufacturing facility. Net cash used in
investing activities in fiscal 2004 was primarily related to purchases of short-term investments.

Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities was $18.6 million, $2.5 million and $3.7 million in fiscal
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The net cash provided by financing activities was primarily related to proceeds received from the initial public
offering in fiscal 2006 and attributable to our issuances of preferred stock in fiscal 2005 and 2004,

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our outstanding contractual obligations as of March 31, 2006 (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period
Less Than One to Three to More Than
Contractual Obligations Total One Year Three Years Five Years Five Years

(in thousands) )
Operating lease obligations - $ 19 8 117 8 2 8 - S -

The table above reflects only payment obligations that are fixed and determinable. Our operating lease obligations primarily relate to the lease of
testing equipment.

We own approximately 2.2 acres of land in Kapolei, Hawaii and in August 2005, we completed the move of our operations to a new approximately
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14,000 square foot facility of combined office, research and development, and manufacturing space on a portion of that land. As of March 31, 2006,
we have incurred $4.6 million of costs to build the facility and purchase production equipment, and we estimate that we will incur an additional $1.4
million in related costs.

In February 2006, we exercised a lease buyout that was offered to us in December 2005 for our lease of an approximately 7,000 square feet of of-
fice and research and development space in Honolulu, Hawaii where we were previously headquartered. We recorded a liability of $56,000 and
$241,000 in September 2005 and December 2005, respectively, based on our expected cost to buy out the lease. We incurred an additional $18,000
in expenses upon exercising the lease buyout option in February 2006. As of March 31, 2006, we have no further obligations as it relates to this
operating lease.

Credit Facility

In June 2005, we entered into a secured $3.5 million credit facility with a bank to finance, in part, the construction of our combined office, research
and development and manufacturing facility in Kapolei. The loans under this credit facility bear interest at a rate of 5.3% and are secured by our
assets. The loans are repayable on a monthly basis through June 2008 with a balloon payment at the end of the term. The credit facility provides for
certain restrictive covenants and indemnification provisions, including the requirement to maintain specified cash balances with the bank. In March
2006, we terminated the credit facility with the bank as we did not need additional funding for the construction of our facility. We did not draw
against the credit facility and as a result were not subject to any restrictive covenants.

Solar and Polysilicon Facilities

In May 2006, we announced our intention to form an integrated PV module business to complement our fuel cell business. This planned expansion
includes developing manufacturing capabilities and the eventual planned manufacture of polysilicon, PV cells and PV modules. To date, our business
has solely been focused on the stationary and automotive fuel cell markets and we have no experience in the PV module and polysilicon businesses.
In order to be successful we will need to devote substantial management time, resources and funds to this planned expansion. We are at an early
planning stage of this expansion and at any point in time we may conclude that such expansion is not financially or technologically feasible and aban-
don our efforts to establish an integrated PV module business. Such abandonment after substantial investment of time and resources could harm our
business. Even if successful, the diversion of management’s efforts, our resources and funds could harm our efforts to develop and commercialize
our Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes.

Before we can even commence construction of our planned manufacturing facilities, we must successfully and timely accomplish the following:

* raise approximately $250 million in cash through the issuance of debt, convertible debt, and/or equity securities, or from customer pre-
payments for future purchases of PV module or polysilicon products;

+ license any intellectual property that may be required to manufacture polysilicon, PV cells and PV modules;
+ secure key supplier contracts for the materials required to manufacture polysilicon, PV cells and PV modules; and

* identify a suitable location for our manufacturing operations that includes a low-cost source of electricity.

If we fail to successfully achieve any or ali of the above objectives, we will be unable to commence construction of our planned manufacturing
facilities and we may be forced to delay, alter or abandon our planned expansion. In addition, any delay in achieving these objectives may result in
additional expense and increased diversion of management’s efforts from our fuel cell business, each of which would harm our business. Even if
we achieve all of these objectives on a timely basis and complete the construction of a manufacturing facilities as currently planned, we may still be
unsuccessful in developing, manufacturing and/or selling PV cells, PV modules and polysilicon for numerous reasons.

Operating Capital and Capital Expenditure Requirements

As we develop our products, expand our research and development team and corporate infrastructure, prepare for the increased production of our
products and evaluate new markets to grow our business, we expect that our research and development and selling, general and administrative ex-
penses will continue to increase and, as a result, we will need to generate significant revenue to maintain profitability.

We do not expect to generate significant revenue until we successfully manufacture and sell our products in high volume. We believe that our cash,
cash equivalent and short-term investment balances, will be sufficient to meet the anticipated capital expenditures and cash requirements for our fuel
cell business through at least the next 12 months; however, we expect that we will need to raise approximately $250 million to support the construc-
tion of our planned PV cell and module, and polysilicon manufacturing facilities. If these sources are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity require-
ments, we may seek to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain another credit facility. The sale of additional equity and convertible debt
securities may result in additional dilution to our stockholders. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of convertible debt securities, these
securities could have rights senior to those of our common stock and could contain covenants that would restrict our operations. We may require
additional capital beyond our currently forecasted amounts. Any required additional capital may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all. If we
are unablie to obtain additional financing, we may be required to reduce the scope of, delay or eliminate some or all of our planned research, develop-
ment and commercialization and manufacturing activities, which could harm our business.

Our forecasts of the period of time through which our financial resources will be adequate to support our operations are forward-looking statements
and involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results could vary as a result of a number of factors, including the factors discussed in the sections entitled
“Risk Factors” and “Business - Forward-Looking Statements.”

Related Party Transactions
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For a description of our related party transactions, see Part IIT, Item 13, “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.”

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have never engaged in off-balance sheet activities, including the use of structured finance, special purpose entities or variable interest entities.
Item 7A.  Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve our capital for the purpose of funding our operations. To achieve this objective, our
investment policy allows us to maintain a portfolio of cash equivalents and short-term investments in a variety of securities, including auction instru-
ments, corporate and government bonds and certificates of deposit. Our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments as of March 31, 2006
were $22.7 million and were invested in government and corporate bonds and commercial paper. As all of our contracts are denominated in U.S.
dollars, there is no associated currency risk.

Item 8. Financial statements and Supplementary Data
Our financial statements included in this Report beginning at page F-1 are incorporated in this Item 8 by reference.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
"None.
Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. As an early stage private company, we have historically had limited accounting personnel and
other resources with which to address internal controls and procedures. As a result, when our former independent registered public accounting firm
audited our financial statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2003, 2004 and 2003, they identified in their report to our audit committee a
“reportable condition,” which primarily related to the fact that we did not have the appropriate financial management and reporting infrastructure

in place to accurately and properly record and provide comprehensive financial information in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. As a result, a number of material audit adjustments to our financial statements were identified during the course of the audit. Had we at
the time been a publicly-traded company, this “reportable condition” would have been characterized as a “material weakness” in internal controls.
A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material mis-
staterment of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected.

In order to address the reportable condition, we retained a controller on a part-time consulting basis in July 2005, who became a full-time employee
in August 2005, and we documented our accounting policies and financial reporting procedures. However, we believe we continue to remediate the
reportable condition. When our independent registered public accounting firm audited our financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31,
2006, they identified in their management letter to our Audit Committee “significant deficiencies” which primarily relate to issues that are similar
to those that were in the “reportable condition” in the prior year. Our reporting obligations as a public company will continue to place a significant
strain on our management, operational and financial resources and systems. If we fail to remedy our significant deficiencies or should we, or our
independent registered public accounting firm, determine in future fiscal periods that we have additional significant deficiencies or a material weak-
ness, we may fail to meet our reporting obligations as a public company, the reliability of our financial reports may be impacted, and our results of
operations or financial condition may be harmed and the price of our common stock may decline.

Based on our management’s evaluation (with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer), as of the end of the period
covered by this report, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in the Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) were effective, in that they provide reasonable assurance that the information required
to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during our last fiscal
quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A
control system no matter how well designed and implemented, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objec-
tives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance
that all control issues within a company are detected. The inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty,
and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistakes. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, or by
collusion of two or more people. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur
and not be detected.

Item 9B.  Other Information
None.
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PART II1

Item 10.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Identification of Directors

Reference is made to the information regarding directors under the heading “Election of Directors™ in our 2006 Proxy Statement, which information
is hereby incorporated by reference.

Identification of Executive Officers

Reference is made to the information regarding executive officers under the heading “Executive Officers of the Registrant” in Part I of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, which information is hereby incorporated by reference.

Identification of Audit Committee and Financial Expert

Reference is made to the information regarding directors under the heading “Report of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors” in our 2006
Proxy Statement, which information is hereby incorporated by reference.

Material Changes to Procedures for Recommending Directors

Reference is made to the information regarding directors under the heading “Proposal No. 1 - Election of Directors™ in our 2006 Proxy Statement,
which information is hereby incorporated by reference.

Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act

Reference is made to the information under the heading “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our 2006 Proxy Statement,
which information is hereby incorporated by reference.

Code of Ethics

Reference is made to the information under the heading “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” in our 2006 Proxy Statement, which information is
hereby incorporated by reference. The full text of our “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” is published on our Internet website under the “Com-
pany Information” page at www.hokuscientific.com.

Item 11.  Executive Compensation

Reference is made to the information under the heading “Executive Compensation” in our 2006 Proxy Statement, which information is hereby incor-
porated by reference .

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Beneficial Ownership

Reference is made to the information under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our 2006 Proxy
Statement, which information is hereby incorporated by reference.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Reference is made to the information under the heading “Compensation-Equity Compensation Plan Information” in our 2006 Proxy Statement, which
information is hereby incorporated by reference.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Reference is made to the information under the heading “Certain Transactions™ in our 2006 Proxy Statement, which information is hereby incorpo-
rated by reference.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Reference is made to the information under the heading “ Proposal No. 2 — Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our
2006 Proxy Statement, which information is hereby incorporated by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statements Schedules

(a)(1) Financial Statements

The financial statements and notes are listed in the Index to Financial Statements on page F-1 of this Report.
{a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules not filed herein have been omitted as they are not applicable or the required information or equivalent information has
been included in the financial statements or the notes thereto.

(a) (3) Exhibits

See Exhibit Index attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

HOKU SCIENTIFIC, INC.

By: /s/  DUSTIN M. SHINDO
Dustin M. Shindo
Chairman of the Board of Directors,
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Date: June 29, 2006

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Dustin M. Shindo and
Karl M. Taft IIl, and each or any one of them, his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for
him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this report, and to file the same, with all exhib-
its thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-facts and
agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection
therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and
agents, or any of them, or their or his substitutes or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature . Title Date

/s/  DUSTIN M. SHINDO

Dustin M. Shindo Chairman of the Board of Directors, President and June 29, 2006
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/  DARRYL S. NAKAMOTO

Darryl S. Nakamoto Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary June 29, 2006
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ KARL M. TAFT III
Karl M. Taft III Chief Technology Officer and Director June 29, 2006

/s/ KARL E. STAHLKOPF
Karl E. Stahlkopf Director June 29, 2006

/s/ KENTON T. ELDRIDGE .
Kenton T. Eldridge Director June 29, 2006

/s/  PAUL K. YONAMINE
Paul K. Yonamine Director June 29, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Hoku Scientific, Inc.:

- We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Hoku Scientific, Inc. as of March 31, 2006, and the related statements of operations, stock-

holders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the

Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. The financial statements of

Hoku Scientific, Inc. at March 31, 2005 and for the years ended March 31, 2004 and 2005, were audited by other auditors whose report dated April

18,2005, except as to the first paragraph of note 5, which is as of July 2, 2005 and the second paragraph of note 7(b) and the sixth paragraph of note
7(d), which are as of July 12, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards re-
quire that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We
were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2006 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Hoku Scientific, Inc. as
of March 31, 2006, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

/s/  ERNST & YOUNG, LLP

- Honolulu, Hawaii
June 27, 2006




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Hoku Scientific, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Hoku Scientific, Inc. as of March 31, 2005, and the related statements of operations, stockhold-
ers’ equity and comprehensive loss and cash flows for each of the years in the two year period ended March 31, 2005. These financials statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards re-
quired that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assess-
ing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Hoku Scientific, Inc. as of
March 31, 2005, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two year period ended March 31, 2003, in conformity
with U.S, generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Honolulu, Hawaii

April 18, 2005 except as to the first paragraph of note 5,
which is as of July 2, 2005 and the

second paragraph of note 7(b) and the sixth

paragraph of note 7(d), which are as of

July 12, 2005



HOKU SCIENTIFIC, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

March 31,
2006 2003
_ 7 o Assets o - -
Cash and cash equwalents ““““ $ ) 166 § v 2, 552
" VShortr-te;m mvestments ) i2.,§22 - 1,6Q7
‘ Accounts receivable o - VWMWHZA‘SNO‘ - 3,5‘72
ey | T T wa
h Costs of unccmpleted contracts - o S 72,025 - 261
—6ther current acsc;s 518 Mwﬁa
" Total current assets  asmT 8,233
Propc;tngla_n;and equipment, net ~ o 6,335 - E,El?
Other assets o o i 331
~ Total assets > | . $ 3208 s 10782
; - Liabilities and Stockholders® Equity B -
Accounts payable and accrued expenses ~ $ 495 $ — 280
Deforred rovorue ‘ , T .
Current pomon of capital lease obhgatlon o 7 — 9
Other current liabilities L ‘ S o 7207 : o M?
Total current liabilities S 4,691 4,545
Long -term portion ¢ cf capxal lease obligation - Q‘ ”— = 7 B 7 w?\
Total liabilities 4,601 4,550
Comm1tments -z;ﬁ:i_cw(;iltmgenmes e T :
Stockholders equlty ]
Convertible Series A preferred stock, no par value and $0.001 par value as of March 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Authorized no shares and 2,036,768 shares; issued and outstanding no shares and 2,036,658
shares as of March 31, 2006 and 2005; and aggregate liquidation preference of $0 as of March 31, 2006 »
“and 2005, respectwely - . S — 1,495
Convertible Series B preferred stock, no par value and $0.001 par value as of March 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Authorized no shares and 333,350 shares; issued and outstanding no shares and 333,333
shares as of March 31, 2006 and 2005; and aggregate liquidation preference of $0 as of March 31, 2006
-and 2005, respectively. — 1,000

Convertible Series C preferred stock, no par value and $0.001 par value as of March 31, 2006 and 2005,

respectively. Authorized no shares and 3,550,177 shares as of March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively;

issued and outstanding no shares and 3,549,997 shares as of March 31, 2006 and 20035, respectively; and ‘
aggregate liquidation preference of 30 and $5,325,000 as of March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively — 3,325

Common stock, $0.001 par value as of March 31, 2006 and 2005. Authorized 100,000,000 and
18,667,600 shares as of March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively; issued and outstanding 16,432,655 and

6 155 834 shares as of March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectlvely 16 6
Addltlonal pa1d-m capital | R 32,5’;5mﬁ o _-4555
Accumulated deficit | A o (5-;-1&)» o v(6‘ gdé)_
' Accumulated other comprehensive loss - - an @

Total stockholders’ equity - 27,392 6 232
Totélvi:anl;lﬂl;tules and stockholders’ equity o o o §3_2 083 $ 17(‘)78?

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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HOKU SCIENTIFIC, INC.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

i

2006 2005 2004
(in thousands, except share per share data)
| Service and license revenue $ 5,505 $ 2933 § 55
Cost of service and license revenue (1) 954 458 3
f Gross margin v 4,557 v 2,475 ) 52
Operating expenses: . -
: Selling, general and administrative (1) 2,743 2’132_. o M2,00§
Research and development (1) mi‘,326 1,419 1074
‘ Total operating expenses o . 4,069 3,551 o 3,083
Income (loss) from operations k ;182' B (1,076) - (3,031) ’
Interest and other income 594 % - 15
Income (loss) before income tax benefit 1,076 (978)— T (30 416)>
: Income tax benefit (268) (250) ! 151 )
Net income (loss) $ 1,344 § (728) $ (2,865)
Basic net income (loss) per sha;re o $ 010 § 0.13) B s _ i (()72)
Diluted net income (loss) per share 3 = 009 § ©.13) § (0 .742)“
i Shares used in computing basic net income (loss) per share 13,033,263 a 5,474,499 - 3,965,626 ’
Shares used in computing diluted net income (loss) per share 15,264,763 5,474,499 V 3,965,626
) Includes stock-based compensation as follows: - S
zr Cost of service and license revenue 3 ggnj‘ﬁ_’ﬁumil’j_$um'v—
Selling, general and administrative 872 979 1,1 1 3
Research and development 146 i 26 1~ 4 212
Total $ 1,056 $ 1,264 T 81325

See accompanying notes to financial statements



HOKU SCIENTIFIC, INC.

STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(in thousands, except share data)

Shares of

Preferred Stock

Shares of
Class A
Common
Stock

Prefered
Stock

Class A
C

Shares of

Ci C

Stock

Stock Stock

Addition-
al paid-in
Capital

Accumulated

Deficit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Total
Stockholders’ Comprehensive
Equity Loss

Balances as of
' March 31, 2003

2,036,658

$ 1,495 33,33

3 8 3

2,916,666 §

$ 2,200

$

(2,913)

785 3 f

$ (2,831)

Net loss

Stock-based
compensation

Issuance of Series
B preferred stock

333,333

1,000

1,720,834

1,325

(2,865)

(2.865) 3 (2,865)

1,325

1,000

Issuance of Series
C preferred stock

2,800

Issuance of
common stock
purchase warrants

Balances as of

4,236,656

33,333 3

4,637,500

(5,778)

3,056 $

! March 31, 2004

Net loss

(728)

(728) 8

| Stock-based
I .
compensation

1,450,000

Unrealized gain or
loss on available-for-
sale securities

(47)

Issuance of Series
C preferred stock

1,683,332

2,525

2,525

Exercise of Class
A common stock
options

35,001 3

Conversion of
Class A common
| stock into

; common stock

Issuance of
common stock
purchase warrants

(68,334)

©

159

159

. Balances as of
' March 31, 2005

5,919,988

6,155,834 6

4,959

Net income

1,344

(6,506)

6232 § 719 |

1,344 % 1,344

Stock-based
compensation

Initial public
offering and over allot-
ment option proceeds,
net of underwriter
discounts and com-
missions

377,841

3,683,200 4

1,127

20,548

1,127

20,552

Initial public
offering costs

(1,950)

L (950)

Unrealized gain or
loss on available-for-
sale securities

30 30

Conversion of

(5,919,988)

{7,820)

5,919,988

7,814

preferred stock

Exercise of
common stock war-
rants and
options

295,792

57

57

v‘ Balances as of
 March 31, 2006

16,432,655 §

16 $ 32,555 8§

(5,162)

$ an s 27392 s 1,374 |

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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HOKU SCIENTIFIC, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2006 2005 2004

A Cash ﬁ‘ows rfrotn 1 operating activities:

Net income (loss) - $ 1344 S (728) $ (2 865)

Adjustments to reconcﬂe net income (loss) to net cash (used in) prov1ded by operating : acnvmes

Deprec1at10n and amortization - 21 TSSV - 775
Impa1rment of leasehold 1mprovements ’ - o ~243_~ — —
WStock based compensatlon e o 1,127 1,2@4 o 1,325
Unreahzed loss on 1nvestments - o — (4V75‘ -
Warrant for common stock issued for services ) - — 159 . n
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: o - I
o Acowsrecsivable N N
Costs of uncompleted contracts o - k ' ' o wEl ,768) (34) (224)
Inventory - - “ _ - 2y ey  —
other curren{ ass,;[.s,-. e e e e e o e e (39é) o 7(1’5 S (79)
Other assets | ] | 30 () —
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses e (100) o 275 - )
o Deferred revenue ) : (255) 3:244 1,000
Other current liabilities s @y @)
- Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ’ 4,455 301 (766)
wCash ﬂows from investing activities: S
Proceeds from matuntles of short-term investments 7,093 693 —
Purchases of short-term investments ﬂwhyﬁmﬁmmwwWV(M2;,M978) S (1 550)
‘Acqumtlon of property and equipment - i - (4,601) (1,862) (506)
Net cash used in mvestmg aCthYthS ~ (25,486) (1,169) (2,056)
Cash ﬂows from ﬁnanwcmg activities:
Principal repayment of long-term obhgatlonsw - - (14) (9) o (93)
i;l:oceeds from mltlal pubhc offenng , 20,552 — —
Initial pubhc oﬂ‘ermg costs (1,950) - =
H Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock T — 2,525 3,800
v Exercise of common stock warrants and options o 57 - =
“Exerc1se of C_l:;ss A common stock OptIOIlSM:” o Mi; " —_ 3 —~_
Net cash prov1ded by ﬁnanmné activities‘ i v 18,645 2,519 3,707
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,386) B 1,651 885 ﬂ
- ‘Cash and cash equlvalents at begmmng of year - 2,552 901 M Wi'ls"
"~ Cashandcash equivalents at end of year - 3 166 $ 2,552 § 901
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow mformatxon ‘ B -
Cash paid for interest - $ 13 2__55______54

. . R ‘
See accompanying notes to financial statements



HOKU SCIENTIFIC, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Practices
(a) . Description of Business

Hoku Scientific, Inc., or the Company, is a materials science company focused on clean energy technologies. The Company has historically focused
its efforts on the design and development of fuel cell technologies, including its Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes. In May 2006, the Company
announced plans to form an integrated photovoltaic, or PV, module business, and its plans to manufacture polysilicon, a primary material used in
the manufacture of PV modules, to complement the fuel cell business. The Company currently intends to reorganize its business into three business
units: Hoku Fuel Cells, Hoku Solar and Hoku Materials.

Hoku Fuel Cells. Hoku Scientific plans to operate its fuel cell business under the name Hoku Fuel Cells, which will continue to develop and
manufacture membrane electrode assemblies, or Hoku MEA, and membranes for proton exchange membrane, or PEM fuel cells powered by hydro-
gen. Hoku MEAS are designed for the residential primary power, commercial back-up, and automotive hydrogen fuel cell markets. To date, the
Company’s customers have not commercially deployed products incorporating Hoku MEAs or Hoku Membranes, and the Company has not sold any
products commercially.

Hoku Solar. The Company’s new PV business, Hoku Solar, initially plans to have annual production capacity of 30 megawatts, or MW, of PV
modules. The Company’s plan is to include PV cell manufacturing with a PV module assembly line to form an integrated PV module business. The
Company anticipates the availability of PV modules beginning in the second half of calendar year 2007.

Hoku Materials. To ensure an adequate supply of polysilicon for Hoku Solar’s cells and modules, the Company intends to form Hoku Materials to
manufacture this key material for consumption by Hoku Solar and for sale to the larger solar and integrated circuit markets. The Company is initially
planning for production capacity of 1,500 metric tons of polysilicon per year, and anticipates the availability of polysilicon beginning in the second
half of calendar year 2008.

The Company was incorporated in Hawaii in March 2001 as Pacific Energy Group, Inc. In July 2001, the Company changed its name to Hoku
Scientific, Inc. In December 2004, the Company was reincorporated in Delaware. In August 2005, the Company completed its move of its principal
offices and all operations to a new approximately 14,000 square foot facility located in Kapolei, Hawaii.

To date, the Company has received research grants from various government agencies and has also generated revenue by performing certain testing
and engineering services on the application of the Company’s MEA and membrane products in certain fuel cell applications and by licensing these
products for testing and evaluation.

() Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires the Company’s
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates. On an on-going basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to revenue recognition, accounts
receivable, the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and inventory, income taxes and the valuation of deferred tax assets and stock op-
tions. These estimates are based on historical facts and various other assumptions that the Company believes are reasonable.

(¢c) Revenue Recognition

For arrangements that do not fall within the scope of higher-level authoritative literature, the Company recognizes revenue under Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition, when there is evidence of an arrangement, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the arrange-
ment fee is fixed or determinable, and collectibility of the arrangement fee is reasonably assured.

The Company has entered into multiple-element arrangements that include engineering and testing services and license rights for its customers to
perform their own evaluation and testing with the Company’s MEAs and membranes. Historically, these arrangements have called for an upfront
payment of a portion of the arrangement fee with remaining payments due over the service periods and/or as the MEAs and membranes are deliv-
ered over the license period. The Company accounts for these arrangements as a single unit of accounting in accordance with Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 00-21, or EITF 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables, because the Company has not established fair values for
the undelivered elements. Therefore, the engineering and testing deliverable revenue has been combined with the MEA and membrane deliverable
revenue to form a single unit of accounting for purposes of revenue recognition. Revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement or
the expected period of performance in compliance with the specific arrangement terms.

The Company also provides testing and engineering services to customers pursuant to milestone-based contracts that are not multiple-element ar-
rangements. These contracts sometimes provide for periodic invoicing as the Company completes a milestone. Customer acceptance is usually
required prior to invoicing. The Company recognizes revenue for these arrangements under the completed contract method in accordance with
Statement of Position 81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts. Under the completed con-
tract method, the Company defers the contract fulfillment costs and any advance payments received from the customer and recognizes the costs and
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revenue in the statement of operations once the contract is complete and the final customer acceptance, if required, has been obtained.
In accordance with the Company’s revenue recognition policy, the following amounts were recorded pursuant to the agreed upon contracts:
Nissan Motor Co., Ltd.

In March 2004, the Company entered into a testing and evaluation contract with Nissan under which it was paid $100,000. This contract was amend-
ed in May 2004 to provide for additional testing and ended in September 2004 upon completion of the testing.

In September 2004, the Company entered into two contracts with Nissan, an engineering contract that called for the customization of Hoku MEAs for
integration into Nissan’s automotive fuel cells and a membrane and MEA purchase contract. In connection with executing the contract, Nissan paid
the Company $400,000. The engineering contract ended in accordance with its terms in March 2005. Under the purchase contract, the Company also
agreed to deliver its Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes to Nissan in exchange for $1.3 million. This contract was scheduled to expire in March 2005.
However, the Company verbally modified the contract and delivered the remaining Hoku MEAs and Hoku Membranes on a purchase order basis
with the last delivery made in December 2005. The Company recognized revenue of $1.4 million and $327,000 during the fiscal years ended March
31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, under these contracts.

In March 2005, the Company entered into a collaboration contract with Nissan to develop customized Hoku MEAs and a Hoku MEA assembly pro-
cess for use in Nissan’s automotive fuel cells. Under the collaboration contract, Nissan was obligated to pay the Company $2.8 million upon execu-
‘tion of the contract which was recorded as deferred revenue as of March 31, 2005. The Company received the payment from Nissan in May 2005.
Revenue was recognized ratably over the duration of the contract as the engineering services were rendered and for product deliveries also ratably
from the delivery date to the expected completion of the engineering services pursuant to the collaboration contract, which was December 31, 2005.
Nissan was obligated to pay the Company an additional $240,000 upon verification from Nissan that all engineering services had been received. In
January 2006, Nissan verified that all engineering services had been completed under the collaboration agreement and $240,000 was recognized as
revenue. The Company received payment from Nissan in March 2006.

In January 2006, the Company entered into a Step 3 Collaboration contract with Nissan to further develop customized Hoku MEAs and a Hoku MEA
assembly process for use in Nissan’s automotive fuel cells. The Company will provide work pursuant to the Step 3 Collaboration contract between
January 1, 2006 and September 30, 2006. Under the Step 3 Collaboration contract, Nissan was obligated to pay the Company $2.7 million upon

- execution of the contract and an additional $240,000 on July 31, 2006 for the work the Company performs. Nissan paid the Company $2.7 million
in March 2006. The payments above do not include the cost of products to be ordered by Nissan for testing that will be invoiced separately. Rev-
enue was recognized ratably over the duration of the contract as engineering services were rendered and for product deliveries also ratably from the
delivery date to the expected completion of the engineering services pursuant to the Step 3 Collaboration contract, which is September 30, 2006. The
Company has recognized $983,000 as revenue and has recorded $1.7 million as deferred revenue as of March 31, 2006 under the Step 3 Collabora-
tion contract.

The Company expects that its Step 3 Contract with Nissan, which ends in September 2006, will be its final engineering service contact with Nissan
for the forseeable future. As a result, it is likely that the Company will not receive any meaningful revenue from Nissan unless or until it begins sell-
ing Nissan commercial quantities of its Hoku Membrane or Hoku MEA products. The Company cannot predict when such sales will occur, if at all.

U.S. Navy - Naval Air Warfare Center Weapons Division

In March 2005, the Company was awarded a contract with the U.S. Navy to develop and demonstrate a PEM fuel cell power plant prototype that
incorporates the Company’s MEAs within IdaTech, LLC, or IdaTech, fuel cell stacks and integrated fuel cell systems. Idatech is a subsidiary of
Idacorp, Inc., a publicly-traded energy and technology holding company. Under the contract, the U.S. Navy agreed to pay the Company up to an ag-
gregate of $2.1 million if and when the Company completed specified testing and performance milestones as described below. As of March 31, 2006,
the Company had completed all seven milestones including the construction and testing of a prototype.

The U.S. Navy agreed on September 30, 2005 that, when the Company completed the seven milestones under the contract, the last three of which
were completed in December 2003, it would proceed with both of its options. The first option is to manufacture 11 fuel cell power plants for which
the U.S. Navy has agreed to pay the Company a total of $1.1 million in installments as each fuel cell power plant is completed. The second option is
~ to have the Company operate and maintain 10 of the 11 fuel cell power plants manufactured under the first option for a period of 12 months ata U.S.
Navy facility, for which the U.S. Navy has agreed to pay the Company a total of $1.4 million in monthly installments beginning at the time each of
the 10 fuel cell power plants are placed into service. The initial contract and the two options that the U.S. Navy have exercised will be accounted for
as a single unit of accounting, with revenue recognition to occur in monthly installments at the time each of the 10 fuel cell power plants are placed
into service over the period of the second option. Since the fuel cell power plants have not been placed in service, the $2.1 million is classified as
deferred revenue as of March 31, 2006.

As of June 2006, the U.S. Navy has officially accepted the first 5 of the 10 fuel cell power plants incorporating the Company’s Hoku MEA that
will be used as part of the demonstration. Also, in June 2006, the demonstration site selection, preparation and logistics for the second option were
finalized with the U.S. Navy, and the Company began the demonstration of 2 power plants. The Company expects to complete the installation and
commence the demonstration of all § of the additional fuel cell power plants for the U.S. Navy by September 2006.

Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd.
In March 2003, the Company entered into a contract with Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd. to jointly develop a MEA assembly process using the Company’s

Hoku Membranes for integration into Sanyo’s stationary fuel cell systems. The contract also granted Sanyo a license to its MEA assembly process
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to produce any non-Hoku MEA provided that Sanyo utilizes Hoku Membranes in its non-Hoku MEA. The term of the contract ends in September
2009, but will automatically renew for an additional five years unless the Company and Sanyo agree not to renew it. The Company satisfied all of the
performance milestones under the contract for which Sanyo has paid the Company a total of $2.5 million that was recognized as service and license
revenue in fiscal 2005. In fiscal 2006, the Company recognized $2,000 under the license agreement granted to Sanyo pursuant to the contract for
product deliveries.

In December 2005, the Company entered into a material transfer and collaborative testing agreement with Sanyo, or the Testing Agreement, to allow
Sanyo to conduct additional testing of newer versions of the Company’s Hoku Membrane and Hoku MEA products. The Company also agreed to
collaborate with Sanyo on the testing of the Company’s products. In February 2006, pursuant to the Testing Agreement, Sanyo paid the Company

a service and license fee of $260,000 for collaboration work, which does not include the cost of Hoku products to be ordered by Sanyo for testing
which will be invoiced separately. Revenue will be recognized ratably over the duration of the contract as engineering services are rendered and for
product deliveries also ratably from the delivery date to the expected completion of the engineering services pursuant to the contract, which is July
31,2006. As of March 31, 2006, the Company had recognized $111,000 as revenue with the remaining $149,000 recorded as deferred revenue.

The Company expects that its Testing Agreement with Sanyo, which ends in July 2006, will be its final engineering service contract with Sanyo for
the foreseeable future. As a result, it is likely that the Company will not receive any meaningful revenue from Sanyo unless or until it begins selling
to Sanyo commercial quantities of Hoku Membrane or Hoku MEA products. The Company cannot predict when such sales will occur, if at all.

(d) Concentration of Credit Risk
Significant customers represent those customers that account for more than 10% of the Company’s total revenue or accounts receivable. Revenue and

revenue as a percentage of total revenue and accounts receivable and accounts receivable as a percentage of total accounts receivable for significant
customers were as follows:

Revenue
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2006 2005 2004
Customer $ % 3 % $ %
(dollars in thousands)

| Nissan § 5363 9% § 427 5% $. — %,

Sanyo 113 2 2,500 85 — —
| Electric Power Development Co., Ltd. — — — — ! 55 100

Accounts Receivable

March 31,
2006 2005
Customer $ % $ %
(dollars in thousands)

[ Nissan ) 5 5 2% $ 2,960 8%

Sanye S e e .
"U.S. Navy - Naval Air - S |
| Warfare Center Weapons Division 241 96 112 30

The primary location of business for Sanyo, Nissan and Electric Power Development Co., Ltd. is Japan and for the U.S. Navy — Naval Air Warfare
Center Weapons Division is the United States. All contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars.

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers money market, savings and checking accounts as cash and cash equivalents. All other investments, including those with
maturities of three months or less are considered short-term investments. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents policy was revised to reflect the
addition of new investments. The change to the policy has no effect on the financial statements.

(#» Short-Term Investments

The Company’s short-term investments include commercial paper and government bonds. These securities are highly liquid and may include invest-
ments with maturities of three months or less.

The Company accounts for its investment instruments in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, or SFAS No. 115,
Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. All of the Company’s short-term investments are treated as “available-for-sale”
under SFAS No. 115. The Company classifies short-term investments as available-for-sale if the Company’s intent is to hold them for an indefinite
period, which is determined by the Company’s need for liquid funds or a change in market interest rates. Short-term investments are recorded by the
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Company at fair market value. Dividend and interest income is recognized by the Company when earned. The Company reflects unrealized gains
and losses related to its short-term investments as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Realized gains or losses from the sale of available-
for-sale securities are determined using the specific-identification method.

A decline in the market value of any available-for-sale security below its cost that is deemed to be other-than-temporary results in a reduction in its
carrying amount to its fair value. The impairment is charged to earnings and a new cost basis for the security is established. To determine whether the
impairment is other-than-temporary, the Company considers whether it has the ability and intent to hold the investment until a market price recovery
and considers whether evidence indicating the cost of the investment is recoverable outweighs evidence to the contrary. Evidence considered in this
assessment by the Company includes the reasons for the impairment, the severity and duration of the impairment, changes in value subsequent to
year-end and forecasted performance of the investee.

During fiscal years ended March 31, 2006 and 2003, the Company recorded no impairments.

(g) Accounts Receivable
Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The Company had no allowance for doubtful accounts as of
March 31, 2006 and 2005 and did not record bad debt expense in the periods presented.

In the future, any allowances for doubtful accounts will represent the Company’s best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in the Compa-
ny’s accounts receivable. Past due balances over 90 days and over a specified amount will be reviewed individually for collectibility. Account bal-
ances will be charged off against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote.

(h) Inventory

‘Inventory is stated at the lower of average cost or market and consists of raw materials, work-in-progress and finished goods in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151, or SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs. The Company adopted SFAS No. 151 in the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2006. The impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 151 is immaterial to previously reported periods and is not expected to have a mate-
rial effect for any future periods. As of March 31, 2006, work-in-progress and finished goods inventories were $12,000 and $29,000, respectively.
As of March 31, 2005, inventory consisted of raw materials.

(i) Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset. For lease-
hold improvements, amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset.

Estimated useful lives of the Company’s assets are as follows:

Building 39 years
Research equipment 4-7 years
Facility improvements 5 years
Office equipment and furniture 5-7 years
Production equipment 7 years
Automobile S years

() Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, or SFAS No. 109, Ac-
counting for Income Taxes, which establishes financial accounting and reporting standards for the effect of income taxes. In accordance with SFAS
No. 109, the Company recognizes federal and state current tax liabilities or assets based on the Company’s estimate of taxes payable to or refundable
by each tax jurisdiction in the current fiscal year.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are established for the temporary differences between the financial reporting bases and the tax bases of the
Company’s assets and liabilities at the tax rates the Company expects to be in effect when these deferred tax assets or liabilities are anticipated to

be recovered or settled. The Company’s ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during
periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. The Company also records a valuation allowance to reduce any deferred tax assets
by the amount of any tax benefits that, based on available evidence and judgment, are not expected to be realized.

(k) Net Income (Loss) per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding and not
subject to repurchase during the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the sum of the weighted
average number of shares of common stock outstanding, and the dilutive potential common equivalent shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive
potential common equivalent shares consist of dilutive shares of common stock subject to repurchase and dilutive shares of common stock issuable
upon the exercise of outstanding options and warrants to purchase common stock, computed using the treasury stock method, and dilutive shares of
common stock issuable upon the conversion of convertible preferred stock common stock.

The following table sets forth, for the periods presented, the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share, including the reconciliation
F-11

R |



of the denominator used in the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2006 2005 2004

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Net income (loss) $ 1344 8 (728) § (2,865)
Weighted average shares of common stock (basic) 13,033,263 “5,4“74;499 o A3’,96_5,‘§_2”6~
; Effect of Dilutive Securities - -“M'jw_—k i ) - ‘
Add: o
[ Weighted average convertible preferred shares - _H‘%mﬂmm‘i;’}_ 3‘,325 ’ = # —:7
Weighted average stock options and warrants _ 2M58,{71' o — —
( Weighted average shares of common stock (diluted) T 15264763 5,474,499 3,965,626
Basic net income (loss) per share 3 0.10 3 0.13) $ 0.72)
4( Diluted net income (loss) per share o o $ 0.09 § 013) § (0.72)

As of March 31, 2006, potential dilutive securities included options to purchase 542,864 shares of common stock at prices ranging from $0.075 to
$9.81 per share. Due to the Company’s net losses in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, all potential common equivalent shares were
anti-dilutive and were excluded in computing diluted net loss per share. As of March 31, 2005, potential dilutive securities included: (a) options to
purchase 659,984 shares of common stock at prices ranging from $0.075 to $4.50 per share, (b) warrants to purchase 199,998 shares of common
stock at prices ranging from $0.075 to $0.53 per share, (c) Series A, B and C preferred stock convertible into 5,919,988 shares of common stock

and (d) 362,500 shares of common stock subject to repurchase. As of March 31, 2004, potential dilutive securities included: (a) options to purchase
409,994 shares of common stock at a price of $0.075, (b) warrants to purchase 183,332 shares of common stock at a price of $0.075 per share, (¢) Se-
ries A, B and C preferred stock convertible into 4,236,656 shares of common stock and (d) 1,812,500 shares of common stock subject to repurchase.

()  Stock-based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based employee compensation arrangements using the fair value method in accordance with the provisions of State-
ment of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), or SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payments, and Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, or SAB
107, Share-Based Payments. The Company accounts for the stock options issued to non-employees in accordance with the provisions of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, or SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and Emerging Issues Task Force No. 96-
18, Accounting for Equity Instruments with Variable Terms That Are Issued for Consideration Other Than Employee Services Under FASB Statement
No. 123. The fair value of stock options and warrants granted to employees and non-employees is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. The Company has early adopted SFAS 123(R) and has applied it in all periods presented.

(m) Guarantees and Indemnifications

In November 2002, the FASB issued FIN No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guaran-
tees of Indebtedness of Others. FIN No. 45 requires that, upon issuance of a guarantee, the guarantor must recognize a liability for the fair value of
the obligations it assumes under that guarantee.

The Company, as permitted under Delaware law and in accordance with its Bylaws, indemnifies its officers and directors for certain events or occur-
rences, subject to certain limits, while the officer or director is or was serving at the Company’s request in that capacity. The term of the indemnifica-
tion period is equal to the officer’s or director’s lifetime. The Company has also entered into additional indemnification agreements with its officers
and directors in connection with the initial public offering. The maximum amount of potential future indemnification is unlimited; however, the
Company has obtained director and officer insurance that limits its exposure and may enable it to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. The
Company believes the fair value for these indemnification obligations is minimal. Accordingly, the Company has not recognized any liabilities relat-
ing to these obligations as of March 31, 2006 and 2005.

The Company has entered into customer contracts that contain indemnification provisions. In these provisions, the Company typically agrees to
indemnify the customer against certain types of third-party claims. The Company would accrue for known indemnification issues when a loss is
probable and could be reasonably estimated. The Company also would accrue for estimated incurred but unidentified indemnification issues based on
historical activity. There were no accruals for or expenses related to indemnification issues for any period presented.

(n) Recently Issued Standards

In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS No. 154, Ac-
counting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3. SFAS No. 154 requires retrospective
application for voluntary changes in accounting principle unless it is impracticable to do so. In addition, indirect effects of a change in accounting
principle should be recognized in the period of the accounting change. SFAS No. 154 is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors
made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company does not expect SFAS No. 154 to have a material effect on its financial
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position or results of operations.

(o) Basis of Presentation

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to current period classifications.
(2) Short-Term Investments

The available-for-sale securities as of March 31, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

Gross Gross r realized Losses L.
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Than 12 Months
_ Cost Gains Losses Fair Value Count Fair Vaiue Amount

AsofMarch3t,2006 o
" Commercialpaper ~$ 8968 §  — § 1) s 8967 6 $ 8967 $ 0
 Government bonds s — (8 13555 3 13555 (16)]
" Total short-term investments § 22,539 § — s a7n s 22522 5 s 22522 § an
| As of March 31, 2005 - , |

Corporate bonds S 1,409 $ — 8 @5) § 1,364 12 8 1364 8 45)
I Centificates of deposit 195 — @ 193 2 193 @
" Govemnment bonds 50 _ — 50 1 50 —
__Totalshort-term investments § 1,654 $ — 3 @n s 1607 155 1607 3 @n’

The contractual maturities of the Company’s commercial paper and government bonds are less than one year and occur on various dates. Fair values
for commercial paper and government bonds are determined based on market prices received from a third-party financial service provider. Current
market rates and the likelihood of holding the investments until maturity were factors considered when determining whether the investments were
other-than-temporarily impaired. As the Company will likely hold the investments until maturity, the Company determined that no securities in its
portfolio with unrealized losses were other-than-temporarily impaired as of March 31, 2006 and 2005.

(3) Property, Plant and Equipment

As of March 31, 2006 and 2005, property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:

March 31,
2006 2005
(in thousands)

Bawn — T
rad ) | 1,366 1,366
;ﬂi’;oducii\c;ﬁ‘gquipmeﬁfl I : 780 ?_9_‘[
Research equipment 559 545
Office cquipment and furniture o 87 80
gl T ” >
I;acml;ty impré@é};leﬁts ) — 454 ‘
. HEPTOVEIIEIES - N 6,633‘ 4%
 Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (283) 272) ]
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 6,355 § 2218

The Company owns approximately 2.2 acres of land in Kapolei, Hawaii and in August 2005, completed the move of its operations to a new approxi-
mately 14,000 square foot facility of combined office, research and development, and manufacturing space on a portion of that land. The Company
leased an approximately 7,000 square feet of office and research and development space in Honolulu, Hawaii where it was previously headquartered.
The Company evaluated the leasehold improvements at the Honolulu lease site in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
144, or SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets. The Company evaluated its leasehold improvements by
reviewing the anticipated cash flows and determined that expenses related to the lease would exceed anticipated cash flows that would reasonably be
obtained through subleasing the property. The Company determined that the leasehold improvements related to the former facility were no longer
of value. Additionally, the Company determined that the leasehold improvements were not saleable to a third party and did not affect the estimated
market value to lease the facility. As a result, the Company recorded a $243,000 loss in August 2005 to reflect the impairment.

As of September 30, 2005, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, or SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associ-
ated with Exit or Disposal Activities, the Company recorded a $56,000 liability for lease termination costs associated with the Honolulu lease. The
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liability was determined based upon the amount of the remaining lease payments less the amount that could reasonably be obtained through subleas-
ing the property. The Company expected this liability to be satisfied during the quarter ended December 31, 2005; however, the Company was not
able to find a suitable sublessee. As a result, the Company recorded an additional liability of $241,000 as of December 31, 2005 as an additional li-
ability based on the estimated cost to buyout the lease. In February 2006, the Company exercised a lease buyout and incurred an additional $18,000
in expenses. As of March 31, 2006, the Company has no further obligations as it relates to this operating lease. For the fiscal year ended March

31, 2006, the Company recorded an aggregate of $315,000 as lease termination costs, of which $239,000 and $76,000 is included in selling, general
and administrative expense and research and development expense, respectively. Prior to vacating the lease property in August 2005, the Company
incurred rent expense of $88,000, $173,000 and $140,000 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

In October 2002, the Company entered into a capitalized lease agreement in the amount of $31,000. The Company recorded amortization expense
of $10,000 and $8,000 during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, which are included as part of depreciation expense. In
March 2006, the Company exercised its option to purchase the equipment and paid the remainder of the lease obligation and an additional $14,000.
As of March 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had no physical assets located outside of the United States.

(4) Leases

The Company’s operating leases primarily consist of an operating lease agreement for three research and development test stations. Total minimum
rent paid under this operating lease was approximately $115,000 in fiscal year 2006 and $0 in fiscal years 2005 and 2004, which are included in costs
of uncompleted contracts.

As of March 31, 2006, future minimum lease payments under these leases were as follows:

Operating
Leases

(in thousands)

Flscal Year Ending March 31, - e ‘ j

20(?77 o $ i 117
2008 ,, ’ . o 2
Total minimum lease payments $ 119

(5) Credit Facility

In June 2005, the Company entered into a secured $3.5 million credit facility with a bank to finance, in part, the construction of its combined office,
research and development and manufacturing facility in Kapolei. The loans under this credit facility bear interest at a rate of 5.3% and are secured
by the Company’s assets. The loans are repayable on a monthly basis through June 2008 with a balloon payment at the end of the term. The credit
facility provides for certain restrictive covenants and indemnification provisions, including the requirement to maintain specified cash balances with
the bank.

On March 29, 2006, the Company and the bank agreed to terminate the credit facility. The Company did not incur any penalty fees in connection
with the termination of the credit facility.

(6) Income Taxes

Income tax benefits from operations consisted of:

Current  Deferred Total
(in thousands)

Flscal Year Ended March 31 2006

Federal k M $ — 3 — 3 —
State ; ‘_ U ,A H__l_i OO S ‘258‘-..__#_,::_«,“.,5684;
Totalincome tax beneft o s 268 — s 268
Flséhl Year Ended March Si 3(“]—05 o o I ~ E
Federaf o D o o $ — ':S — 8 —
State - U OO S A Z_SO“W_,M“:__ 250
o ;I:o;ai income tax beneﬁt N $ 250 WS - $ 250
] FlscalYear Ended March 3“1 004 I 7
Fedral e e . B 5 — e —
Swe st — s
Total mcc;'ne tax bcneﬁt B $ 151 § — 3 151




During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company qualified as a “Hawaii Qualified High Technology Business,” which
provides potential tax credits to its investors as well as certain tax credits to the Company for qualified research and experimentation, or R&E costs.
The Company recorded Hawaii R&E tax credits of approximately $286,000, $257,000 and $155,000 during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively. As the Company’s business transitions from research and experimentation to commercial production, the Company
anticipates that it will no longer qualify for additional tax credits through this program.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are established for the temporary differences between the financial reporting bases and the tax bases of the
Company’s assets and liabilities at the tax rates the Company expects to be in effect when these deferred tax assets or liabilities are anticipated to be
recovered or settled. A summary of the tax effects of the temporary differences is as follows:

March 31,
2006 2005
(in thousands)

Deffered tax assets:

Deferred revenue $ 710 % 445

Federal R&E tax credits 340 —
Stock-based compensation 88 1

Depreciation and amortization 35 9
Net operating loss carryforwards 24 455

) Other 6 4
Total deferred tax assets 1,203 914

Less valuation allowance for deferred tax assets o (432) (815)
Net deferred tax assets 771 99

; Deferred tax liabilities L
Costs of uncompleted contracts 7) (99)

 Total deferred tax liabilities (a71) - 99)
* Net deferred taxes 3 — 3 —

The Company’s ultimate realization of deferred tax assets depends upon the generation of future taxable income during periods in which those tem-

porary differences become deductible. Based on the best available objective evidence, it is more likely than not that the Company’s net deferred tax

assets will not be realized. Accordingly, the Company has continued to provide a valuation allowance against its net deferredtax assets as of March
31, 2006.

Aportion of the Company’s net operating loss, or NOL carry forwards include tax deductions from the exercise of certain stock options that exceed
the amount of stock compensation expense recorded in the accompanying financial statements for the corresponding options (“Excess Tax Deduc-
tions”). When realized, the tax benefit of these losses is accounted for as a credit to additional paid-in-capital rather than as a reduction of income tax
expense. The deferred tax asset for NOLs excludes Excess Tax Deductions of approximately $654,000 and $44,000 as of March 31, 2006 and March

+ 31, 2003, respectively.

A reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate is as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
March 31,
2006 2005 2004
(in thousands)

E_Eggected tax (expense) benefit (34%) 5 (366) $ 332 % 1,025 ;

State tax (expense) benefit, net of federal benefit @) 3 121
| Non-deductible stock-based comp_ensation - (243) (486) (490)

Non-deductible R&E expenses B 8D (10) 6)
rChange in valuation allowance 383 129 (647) ‘

State R&E tax credit o 286 257 155
?ngederal R&E tax credit 340 — —

Other . Q) (1) 7
Effective income tax benefit $ 268 3 250 $ 151 %j




As of March 31, 2006, the Company had NOL carryforwards of approximately $770,000 and $698,000 for federal and state tax purposes, respec-
tively. If not utilized, the federal and state carryforwards will begin to expire in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2024. The Company’s utilization of
these net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to annual limitations pursuant to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, and similar state
provisions, as a result of changes in the Company’s ownership structure. These annual limitations may result in the expiration of net operating loss
carryforwards prior to utilization.

In the current year, the Company calculated its current year and historical R&E federal tax credits which amounted to approximately $340,000. If not
utilized, the federal R&E tax credits will begin to expire in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2023.

(7) Stockholders’ Equity
(a) Reincorporation

The Company was reincorporated in Delaware in December 2004. Immediately prior to the reincorporation and under its certificate of incorpora-
tion, the Company was authorized to issue 27,254,695 shares of capital stock, consisting of 8,587,095 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001,
and 18,667,600 shares of common stock, par value $0.001. Of the authorized preferred stock, 2,036,768 shares were designated as Series A preferred
stock, 333,350 as Series B preferred stock, 3,550,177 as Series C preferred stock and 2,666,800 as Series D preferred stock. In connection with the
reincorporation, each share of Class A common stock outstanding immediately prior to the reincorporation was converted into one share of common
stock, each outstanding option and warrant that was exercisable for shares of Class A common stock became exercisable for a like number of shares
of common stock, and each outstanding share of Series A, B and C preferred stock, which was previously convertible into shares of Class A com-
mon stock, became convertible into shares of common stock. Prior to conversion in connection with the reincorporation, there were no differences in
rights between the Company’s common stock and Class A common stock.

() Common and Preferred Stock
As of March 31, 2006, the Company is authorized to issue 100,000,000 shares of $0.001 par value common.

On July 2, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to effect a 2-for-3 reverse split of
the Company’s common and preferred stock and directed that the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation be submitted to the Company’s
stockholders for approval. On July 12, 2005, the Company filed its Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State

of the State of Delaware, which rendered the reverse stock split effective. All information related to common stock, preferred stock, options and
warrants to purchase preferred stock and earnings per share included in the accompanying financial statements has been retroactively adjusted to give
effect to the stock split. The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation also amended the number of shares of preferred and common stock
authorized. The information related to number of authorized preferred and common stock has been retroactively adjusted to reflect this amendment.

On August 10, 2005, the Company completed its initial public offering of 3,500,000 shares of its common stock at a public offering price of $6.00
per share. The Company received proceeds of $17.58 million, net of offering costs. In connection with the closing of the initial public offering, all
of the Company’s shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time of the closing of the offering were automatically converted into 5,919,988 shares
of common stock.

In September 2005, the underwriters exercised their over-allotment option to purchase an additional 183,200 shares of common stock at the public
offering price of $6.00 per share.

The Company has reserved the shares of common stock for future issuance at March 31, 2006 as follows:

Stockoptionsoutstanding L o sess
Stock options available for future grants 1,240,789
| - - 1,783,653

(c) Stock Options and Awards

As of March 31, 2006, the Company had authorized 1,866,666 shares of common stock for issuance under the Company’s 2002 Stock Plan, 2005
Equity Incentive Plan, 2005 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan and Calendar Year 2005 Executive Incentive Compensation Plan. Stock op-
tions issued generally vest at the rate of 1/5th on the first anniversary of the vesting commencement date and an additional 1/60th of the shares each
month thereafter. The options also typically have a ten-year contractual term. Stock awards issued are generally fully-vested stock awards.




Options Qutstanding

Options and Awards Weighted Average
Available for Grant Number of shares Excercise Price
Balances as of March 31,2003 o ‘ ' ‘ 1,000,000 —
 Authorized 200,000 v — -
" Granted o 549,991y 549991 S 008
e ; R
 Cancelled o 139997 (139997  $ 008
ﬁéi}inces as of March 31, 2004 790,006 409994  § 0.08
T T ; s L
© Granted ) o (576,650) 576650 S 085
e T e s o
Cancelled o " 201659 2916599 s 015
[ Balances as of March 31, 2005 | 505,015 T 659984 s — on
Authorized 733,332 — S
| Gramed (36483 . 36483 § 185
e AR e
e T e s sw
StOCk aWardS granted - (15,341) S — o o
Balancesas of March 31,2006 1240780 sa2864 S L2

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the fiscal years ended March 31 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $10.46, $6.13, and
$0.72, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, was $186,000,
$34,000, and $0, respectively. As of March 31, 2006, there was $2.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock-
based compensation under the 2002 Stock Plan and 2005 Equity Incentive Plan combined; that cost is expected to be recognized over the respective
vesting period. '

The following table summarizes options outstanding and exercisable as of March 31, 2006:

Options Outstanding and Exercisable

(dollars in thousands except for per share data)

Weighted Average Weighted Average
Remaining Ceontractual Excercise Aggregate Intrinsic
Price Shares Life Price Value
s 008 L oseet S 0.08 )
s 0.15 i 75,497 s 0.15 o
—$ . 03 h ) 666 : O — - »9—23 R “ -
§ T o038 99,730 s o3
s 0s S8 s e
s as0 69,258 ) s ) 4.50 -
S 60 20000 | s 600 .
$ a3 2,000 3 8.13 S
s 081 1,050 s o1
" . 542,864 817 S 102 $ 2,334




The following table summarizes options vested and exercisable as of March 31, 2006:

Options Vested and Exercisable

(dollars in thousands except for per share data)

Weighted Average
Remaining Weighted Average ‘
Contractual Excercise Aggregate Intrinsic
Price Shares Life Price Value

s 008 84,047 V s -
s 0.15 37,051 $
—$ ' ., 53 . 1,666 I Q_:_ N - $ -
s 0.38 22,224 s
s s 11,999 5 -
$ 4.50 16,127 $
s 6.00 ] -
s 8.13
s s o
- a 173,114 - 793 8 057 $ 538

The following table summarizes the number of nonvested shares as of March 31, 2006 and changes during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006:

Weighted Average
Number of Shares Grant Date Fair Value

Nonvested at March 31, 2003 |
 Ourstanding ° T 53826 8 5.43
. Granted | ea83 s 1046
 Vested R o 147293 $ 513
Cancelled ) S (542660 S 507
Nonvested at March 31, 2006 o B 369,750 $ 6.10

Stock-based awards were measured at the fair value of the equity instruments issued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of
stock options granted is expensed to the statement of operations over the requisite period. The fair value of options vested was $755,000, $113,000
and $34,000 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

Cash received from option exercises for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $57,000, $3,000, and $0, respectively. There were no
- tax benefits realized for the tax deductions from the exercise of stock options and issuance of stock awards for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004.

(d) Stock-based Compensation

Common Stock. The Company entered into a restricted stock agreement with each of its three officers in June 2002, which placed a repurchase right
on each officer’s common stock holdings, an aggregate of 6,666,666 shares of common stock that lapsed over time. The Company was entitled to
repurchase the common stock held by these three officers at the original issue price upon the termination of each officer’s employment with the Com-
pany. The Company’s repurchase right lapsed as to 1/4th of the shares on June 21, 2002 and 1/48th of the shares per month thereafter through June
20, 2005. As of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006, two of these three officers remained with the Company and none of these shares held by them
remained subject to repurchase.

The Company entered into a separation agreement with one officer dated August 1, 2003 and effective July 15, 2003. At the time of separation, the
officer held 866,666 shares of the Company’s common stock, 433,334 of which were fully vested. In connection with the officer’s separation, the
Company repurchased 216,666 shares held by the officer at the original issuance price. The Company also agreed to accelerate the vesting of an
additional 216,666 shares of the officer’s common stock. The Company recorded a compensation charge of $163,000 associated with the accelerated
vesting of the 216,666 shares of common stock held by the officer. The fair value of the award used in the calculation in the above-noted compensa-
tion charge was based upon the estimated fair value of the modified award as of the separation date as determined principally by the fair value of
contemporaneously issued preferred stock of the Company. The Company posse$sed a right of repurchase in the event that the officer breaches the
officer’s release agreement with the Company, which terminated upon the closing of the Company’s initial public offering.

For financial accounting purposes, the imposition of repurchase restrictions on the officers’ common stock pursuant to the restricted stock agree-
ments was treated as a contribution of capital and the reissuance of shares of restricted common stock. The Company determined the fair value of
the restricted shares on the date of reissuance to be $0.75 per share based upon the contemporaneous sale of the Company’s Series A preferred stock.
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This fair value is recorded as stock-based compensation expense as the Company’s repurchase rights lapse. The Company recorded stock-based
compensation expense related to common stock subject to repurchase of $272,000, $1.1 million and $1.3 million during the fiscal years ended March
31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Stock Options. The Company granted options to purchase 36,483, 576,650 and 549,990 shares of common stock during the fiscal years ended
March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, under the Company’s 2002 Stock Plan and 2005 Equity Incentive Plan. The Company recorded stock-
based compensation expense of $1.1 million, $1.3 million and $1.3 million during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respec-
tively. The stock-based compensation expense excludes $69,000 which was capitalized to cost of uncompleted contracts during the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2006. No stock-based compensation expenses were capitalized to cost of uncompleted contracts during the fiscal years ended March 31,
2005 and 2004. The Company expects to incur an aggregate of $2.1 million of future stock-based compensation expense associated with unvested
stock options outstanding as of March 31, 2006 through fiscal 2011 as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending March 31,
2007 2008 - 2009 2010 2011 Total
(in thousands)
B 692 $ 643 8 419 8 , 285 § 16 $ 2,055 |

The fair value of the stock options granted is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model as allowed by Statement of Financial Ac-
counting Standards No. 123(R) and SAB 107. The assumptions used for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 to estimate fair value
included: a risk-free interest rate ranging from 2.93% to 4.55%; expected volatility of 100%; no dividend yield and an expected life of 7.5 years.
Stock-based compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis as the stock options vest. An expected forfeiture rate of 30% is applied
against the stock-based compensation expense, based on the Company’s historical experience.

Stock Awards. On July 8, 2003, the independent members of the Company’s Board of Directors approved the Calendar Year 2005 Executive Incen-
tive Compensation Plan, which would provide bonus compensation to certain executive officers of the Company in an amount up to one hundred and
twenty percent of such executive officer’s annual base salary as of July 8, 2005. Each incentive payment under the Calendar Year 2005 Executive
Incentive Compensation Plan shall be split such that fifty percent is allocated to cash and fifty percent is allocated to a stock award pursuant to the
2005 Equity Incentive Plan. Under the Calendar Year 2005 Executive Incentive Compensation Plan, incentive payments may be paid to the Com-
pany’s executive officers upon achievement of certain corporate performance targets set forth by the independent members of the Company’s Board
of Directors. The independent members of the Company’s Board of Directors may amend or terminate the Calendar Year 2005 Executive Incentive
Compensation Plan and may modify the corporate performance targets and/or incentive payment amounts at any time at their sole discretion.

In December 2005, in accordance with the Calendar Year 2005 Executive Incentive Compensation Plan, the independent members of the Company’s
board of directors determined that each executive officer would receive additional compensation equal to 120% of that executive officer’s annual
base salary as of July 8, 2005. In addition, the independent members determined that 80% was to be allocated to cash and 20% was to be allocated
to a fully-vested stock award. The Company granted 13,841 shares of fully-vested stock awards to the executive officers and recorded stock-based
compensation expense of $112,000, which excludes $6,000 which was capitalized to cost of uncompleted contracts, in relation to the stock awards
granted under the compensation plan.

The Company granted a total of 15,341 shares of fully-vested stock awards during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006, which included the awards
granted to the executive officers as described above. No awards were granted prior to the 2006 fiscal year. The Company recorded stock-based com-
pensation expense of $121,000, which excludes $6,000 which was capitalized to cost of uncompleted contracts, in relation to all stock awards granted
during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006.

()] Commitments and Contingencies

In March 2006, the Company received a notification from the United States Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, of its intent to initiate an
administrative action against the Company for alleged violations of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act resulting from an inspection of its
former facility in Honolulu, Hawaii that was conducted by the EPA in November 2004. In April 2006, the Company began settlement discussions
with the EPA, and, based on these discussions, the Company recorded a liability of approximately $17,000. In June 2006, the Company agreed in
principle to settle this dispute for an aggregate cash payment of approximately $14,000. Final settlement is pending the official agreement from EPA,
and entry of an order by EPA administrative judge. However, there can be no assurance that the Company will settle this matter for this amount or at
all.




)] Unaudited Quarterly Financial Data

Quarters Ended
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)
March 31, 2006 December 31, 2005 September 30, 2005 June 30, 2005
Serviceand licenserevenve 8 1339 § 1,727 § 12918 1148
Gross profit 1008 1,378 O m ) 1,004
Netincome 508 202 293 - v ‘ ‘
. Bééicvne} ih?ome per share 0.03 0.01 0.02
 Diluted net income per share 003 001 0.02
March 31, 2005 December 31, 2004 September 30, 2004 June 30, 2004
Service and license revenue i 5 2758 S 75 S ~ 5 100 |
Gross profit 2,303 72 = 100 -
' Net income (loss) : o 1,400 {650) (799) (679) |
wBasic net income (loss) per share 0.23 (0.11) (0.15) (0.14)
 Diluted net income (loss) per share 0.11 (0.11) (0.15) (0.14) |

Quarterly and year-to-date computations of per share amounts are made independently, therefore they may differ when comparing annual per share
amounts to aggregated quarterly per share amounts.



e @

Corporate Address

Hoku Scientific, Inc.
1075 Opakapaka Street
Kapolei, Hawaii 96707-1887 USA

Telephone: 808.682.7800
Fax: 808.682.7807
Email: info@hokuscientific.com

www.hokuscientific.com

Executive
Management Team

Dustin M. Shindo
Chalrman of the Board of Directors
President & Chief Executive Officer

Karl M. Taft I}
Chief Technology Officer

Darryl S. Nakamoto
Chief Financial Officer
Treasurer & Secretary

Scott B. Paul

Vice President
Business Development
& General Counsel

Transfer Agent
Continental Stock Transfer
and Trust Co.

17 Battery Place, 8th Floor
New York, NY 10004

orate Information

Board of Directors

Dustin M. Shindo

Chairman, President

& Chief Executive Officer
Hoku Scientific, Inc.

Karl M. Taft Il
Chief Technology Officer
Hoku Scientific, Inc.

Kar! E. Stahlkopf, Phd
Senior Vice President
Energy Solutions
Chief Technology Officer
Hawaiian Electric Company Inc.

Kenton T. Eldridge
Co-Founder & Partner
Sennet Capital

Paul K. Yonamine
Representative Director, President
& Chief Executive Officer

Hitachi Consulting Co., Ltd

Independent

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
Honolulu, Hawaii

Legal Counsel
Cooley Godward LLP
Palo Alto, California

Dechert LLP
Palo Alto, California

Corporate Information

Annual Meeting
Thursday, September 07, 2006
10:00 a.m.

Sheraton Princess Kaiulani
120 Kaiulani Avenue

Honolulu, Hawaii 96815 USA

Copyright 2006 Hoku Scientific, Inc. Hoku Scientific, Hoku, the Hoku Scientific logo, Hoku Membrane, Hoku MEA, Hoku GDL, Hoku Fuel Cells, the Hoku Fuel
Cells logo, Hoku Solar, the Hoku Solar logo, Hoku Materials, and the Hoku Materials logo are registered trademarks or trademarks of Hoku Scientific, Inc. in
the United States. Other company and product names may be trademarks or registered trademarks of the respective owners with which they are associated.
Hoku Scientific's trademarks may be used publicly with permission only from Hoku Scientific, and nothing on this Annual Report shall be construed as
granting such permission. Fair use of Hoku Scientific’s trademarks in advertising and promotion of Hoku Scientific products requires proper acknowledgment.



HO)*KUScien tific®

} KU HO&KU H 1 HKU
S”)LAR Matemals

Fuel Ce!ls

mmm.m.mmmnmwm



